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Dear Shareholder, 
Introduction
We live in unprecedented and challenging times; COVID-19 
has had a huge impact across the oil and gas industry and, 
coupled with the recent dispute over oil production volumes 
between Saudi Arabia and Russia, has led to a very significant 
drop in oil and gas prices. Our operations in Tanzania are 
essentially protected from such movements due to current 
zero production and a future gas price that is not pegged to 
the oil price. My statement that follows is therefore offered 
against this backdrop of uncertainty. 

Despite another year of frustration, due to the continued 
ongoing delays to obtaining the approvals required to 
progress our business interests in Tanzania, 2019 was a 
year of change at Aminex, beginning with my appointment 
as Chairman in February and the appointment of Tom 
Mackay as Interim Chief Executive Officer in May, following 
the departure of Jay Bhattacherjee. These appointments 
followed that of Linda Beal as a Director in January. In 
September, Robert Ambrose replaced Sultan Al-Ghaithi as 
one of the two nominated Non-Executive Directors appointed 
by our major investor and shareholder, Eclipse Investments 
LLC, an associated company of The Zubair Corporation. 
While the Board settled into these changes, we continued to 
eagerly push for approvals from the Tanzanian government 
to facilitate the conclusion of our Farm-Out of a 50% interest 
in the Ruvuma PSA to another associated company of The 
Zubair Corporation (“Farm-Out”), ARA Petroleum Tanzania 
Limited (“APT”). 

This Farm-Out, long in the making, continues to excite the 
Board for what it can deliver to the Company. As previously 
described, once completed, the Farm-Out should see the 
Company fully carried to material levels of production and 
revenue without the need to return to shareholders for any 
additional funding for Ruvuma. 

While we continued to experience delays to this game 
changing project, the Board was conscious in the intervening 
period to use time wisely.  By reducing corporate overheads, 
including reducing General and Administrative costs 
(“G&A”), we succeeded in achieving better efficiencies whilst 
maintaining capability and competency, thereby building a 
more robust derisked business that would assist in creating 

or attracting strategic opportunities. In this period, we have 
conserved capital, and reduced the impact on shareholders 
and I am happy to report that we have successfully achieved 
significant gains in these areas. However, the very recent 
effects of the COVID-19 virus and its impact on the oil price 
may lead to a further round of cost cutting and consolidation 
during this new period of high uncertainty whilst we wait to 
receive the Tanzanian government consents. 

2019 Activity
In February, we took a strategic decision to complete a 
fundraising for US$2.36 million to accelerate development 
over our Kiliwani North Development Licence and Nyuni Area 
PSA and take advantage of depressed market conditions in 
the service industry whilst awaiting completion of the Farm-
Out. With this capital, we were able to reprocess existing 2D 
seismic and plan for the acquisition of new 3D seismic over 
both the Kiliwani North Development Licence and the area 
adjacent within the Nyuni Area PSA. 

We continue to see value in Kiliwani operations and have 
looked into remedial work to restart production from our 
Kiliwani North well. In August, we updated shareholders on 
this process and noted that we continue to seek to source 
equipment to perform the re-entry and remedial work 
which has been designed to be carried out at minimal cost. 
Unfortunately, we continue to await upon approvals from the 
Tanzanian authorities to commence the operations and look 
forward to updating shareholders on progress in due course. 

In March, following discussions with APT, we agreed to 
extend the longstop date of the Farm-Out until 31 July 2019. In 
subsequent announcements we have since further extended 
the longstop date to 30 June 2020 and have agreed that 
another associate company of The Zubair Corporation, ARA 
Petroleum LLC (“ARA”) will provide a US$3 million advance 
in instalments to the Company, ahead of completion of the 
Farm-Out; providing the Company with financial support 
pending completion. Whilst it is frustrating to experience 
these continual delays, we are pleased that we have the 
continued support from ARA to persevere and close the 
Farm-Out. With this support, it is clear that ARA and APT 
are aligned with the joint venture parties in recognising the 
value of our interest in Ruvuma and are focused in seeing this 
project through to production.  

In June, we decided to cancel our listing on the Euronext 
Dublin exchange as a necessary step to secure the 
appropriate flexibility afforded by the transfer to the Standard 
listing segment in London. This was a step which helpfully 
dovetailed with our focus on reducing expenditure. 

Towards the end of the year, in November, the Company 
announced that Max Williams was to step down from the 
Board and from his position as Chief Financial Officer and be 
replaced by John Arthur via an internal promotion.  

Tanzanian Developments
During 2019 and 2020 we have been focused on satisfying 
the various conditions precedent for completion of the 
Farm-Out and, as reported earlier this month, the Company 
received the Mtwara Exploration Licence. As part of the 
ongoing process to obtain Tanzanian Government approval, 
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the Company, with the support of its Tanzanian tax adviser, 
has been in discussions with the Tanzania Revenue Authority 
(“TRA”) regarding any taxes payable on the Farm-Out. All 
taxes must be paid before the TRA can grant the necessary 
Tax Clearance Certificate which is a legal requirement to 
enable the Minister of Energy to approve the Farm-Out. 
The TRA’s assessment of the Capital Gains Tax (“CGT”) on 
the Farm-Out was US$2.2 million. The Board decided that 
although it disagreed with the basis for the CGT calculation, 
following a period of intensive discussions with the TRA to 
reduce the CGT, to avoid further potential significant delays, 
it was in the best interests of the Company to accept this 
CGT charge in order to expedite the completion of the Farm-
Out, which delivers considerable value to Aminex and its 
shareholders. ARA has agreed in principle to provide a further 
advance of US$2 million to Aminex to enable the Group to 
pay the monies due to the TRA, which will be repaid to ARA 
from the consideration due on completion of the Farm-Out. 
The TRA have confirmed that on receipt of the CGT, plus 
stamp duty payable by APT, they will issue the Tax Clearance 

Certificate, which allows the Minister of Energy to grant his 
approval to the Farm-Out. The Tax Clearance Certificate and 
the Minister’s approval are the only remaining conditions for 
completion of the Farm-Out. We remain in close contact with 
the Tanzanian government and the relevant authorities to 
ensure the Farm-Out is completed as soon as possible.

Our 2020 Work Programmes and Budgets, for all licences 
in Tanzania, have been submitted to the government 
for approval and includes a gross contingent budget of 
approximately $40 million for Ruvuma PSA. The programme 
includes the drilling of the Chikumbi-1 well and the 
acquisition of an extensive 3D and 2D seismic survey over 
the Mtwara Licence, pending completion of the Farm-Out.  
I would remind shareholders that we will be fully-funded, as 
per the terms of the Farm-Out Agreement, for these activities. 
We further noted that ARA has appointed a management 
team to oversee its Tanzanian operations and agreed to fast-
track select Chikumbi-1 well pre-drilling activities. 

There remains a significant and rising energy supply weakness 
in Tanzania, particularly when considered against demand, 
which highlights the importance of assets like Ntorya. We 
would also note to shareholders that we are likely to be 
supplying gas domestically and are therefore less impacted 
by global commodity price weakness once in production. 

Outlook
This month, Robert Ambrose was appointed Interim Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company and Tom Mackay stepped 
down from his position of Interim Chief Executive Officer 
and as a Director of Aminex. I am delighted that Robert has 
agreed to become Interim Chief Executive Officer at this 
exciting time for the Company. I consider that the Company 
has a balanced and diverse Board with the requisite skills to 
source and assess future strategic growth and consolidation  
opportunities as it transitions from operator to non-operator 
of its key asset.

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic and these unprecedented 
challenges, in looking forward, I remain positive about the 
future of your Company whilst recognising that 2019 has been 
another frustrating year for shareholders. We have excellent 
assets in Tanzania, we have the financing to advance the 
Ntorya project on completion of the Farm-Out and we have 
an outstanding partner in APT, all of which will help to drive 
real growth and change in-country.

We sincerely believe that the gas sector in Tanzania is 
gradually unlocking after two years of stagnation, with the 
government working hard to deliver prosperity for its citizens.  

I would like to close by thanking shareholders for their 
continued support and my gratitude to all the staff of Aminex 
and its subsidiaries, who continue to endure and work hard on 
delivering value from our portfolio. I look forward to providing 
further positive news on our activities throughout 2020. 

Yours sincerely,

John Bell
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement continued
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Introduction
I am pleased to present my first review after taking up 
appointment as Interim Chief Executive Officer this month. 
2019 began with shareholder approval for the farm-out of a 
50% interest in the Ruvuma PSA to The Zubair Corporation, 
a significant shareholder in Aminex through its investment 
company, Eclipse Investments LLC. Over the course of the 
year, the completion of the Farm-Out remained a primary 
focus for the Company but as we all know, it has been 
subject to ongoing delay. Fortunately, we have begun to see 
positive signs that the Tanzanian Government is working with 
producers in country to support Tanzania’s power demands 
which is well in excess of current supply.  We therefore remain 
extremely optimistic about the future of this project and what 
it will mean to the people and Government of Tanzania. 
2019 also saw the appointment of John Bell as Chairman 
and Tom Mackay as Interim Chief Executive Officer upon the 
departure of Jay Bhattacherjee due to ill health. Together, 
John and Tom have overseen a policy of increased cash 
preservation and the significant reduction of G&A costs as 
we await the vital but essential government approvals.
Review of Operations 
At the start of the year, we successfully raised US$2.36 million 
which enabled the reprocessing of 2D seismic primarily over 
the Kiliwani North Development Licence and adjacent Nyuni 
Area PSA and the design of a relatively low-cost remediation 
intervention on the Kiliwani North-1 development well, approval 
for which remains outstanding with the Tanzanian authorities.
With respect to the ongoing Ruvuma Farm-Out and the drilling 
of the eagerly awaited Chikumbi-1 well, the Company and 
APT progressed on closing out and satisfying all conditions 
precedent within both parties’ control for the Farm-Out to 
complete, including all joint venture partner approvals. We 
announced this month that we had received the long-awaited 
extension of the Mtwara Exploration Licence. The only 
condition still outstanding is the approval by the Tanzanian 
Government of the transfer of the 50% interest in the PSA 
and operatorship. Closing out the Farm-Out remains the 
Company’s top priority and the Company and APT continue 
to work closely with the Tanzanian authorities to conclude 
these conditions precedent as soon as possible.
We are pleased that towards the latter part of 2019 and 
continuing into 2020, the Government has been seen to be 
actively resolving several long-standing issues with other 
operators in country to support Tanzania’s growing power 
demands. These movements have provided confidence to 
the Company and APT and as such, we agreed to fast-track 
select Chikumbi-1 “pre-drill” activities with APT.
Meanwhile, the Company has applied for a 3-year extension 
of the Nyuni Area PSA with a revised work programme.
Financial Position 
Aminex and ARA signed an advance funding agreement, 
whereby ARA will provide a US$3 million advance in 
instalments to the Company, ahead of Completion of the 
Farm-Out, payments of which started in November 2019. 
Such payments were due to be paid as the first tranche cash 
consideration upon completion of the Farm-Out. Moreover, it 
was agreed to advance payment of the second tranche of the 
US$2 million from 180 days after Completion of the Farm-Out 
to payment upon Completion. 

The Company has continued with its commitment to reduce 
its G&A related expenses and to preserve cash in view of the 
delays to the completion of the Farm-Out and the lack of a 
resolution of the outstanding payments for gas sales to the 
Tanzania Petroleum Development Corporation (“TPDC”) for 
Kiliwani North’s past production.
An  important administrative decision was made earlier in the 
year which saw the transfer of the Company’s Premium listing 
to a Standard listing on the London Stock Exchange and a 
delisting from the Irish Stock Exchange. This has reduced 
the administrative burden on the Company and provides 
greater financial flexibility for a company of our size, market 
capitalisation and cash resources.
New Opportunities / Outlook 
We continue to see an opportunity to meet the strong 
structural demand for domestic power in Tanzania and believe 
in the significant potential of our assets to deliver value for 
shareholders, from a low-cost base, which we have worked 
tirelessly to achieve this year. 
The impact of COVID-19, since the UK and Irish Governments 
introduced measures to initially contain the spread of the virus 
in early March 2020, has had a profound effect on the industry 
and also on the daily operations of your Company. For 
example, we immediately introduced measures to promote 
hygiene and self-distancing within our office environments 
in both London and Dar es Salaam and have since followed 
with a “work from home” policy that has been successfully 
implemented in the UK. We continue to closely monitor the 
development of the virus within Tanzania and its potential 
impact on local operations. 
During this period, the underlying value of our portfolio has 
been relatively unaffected due to its focus on gas rather than 
oil and the gas price in Tanzania is not pegged to the oil price. 
Furthermore, as first gas for Ruvuma is still some time away 
it is expected that the crisis should have abated by that time. 
However, we recognise that during this period of uncertainty, 
global equity markets will be severely impacted. 
Although we remain focussed on the development of our 
Tanzanian assets, we recognise both the importance and 
expectation amongst our shareholders to diversify our portfolio 
and we continue to seek new development-led opportunities 
which could provide near-term revenues to the Group. 

Robert Ambrose
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive’s Review
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Revenue from Continuing Operations 
Revenues from continuing operations amounted to US$0.36 
million (2018: US$0.62 million). Group revenues during 2019 
are derived from oilfield services comprising the provision 
of technical and administrative services to joint venture 
operations: the revenues were US$0.36 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: US$0.57 million). The Group 
generated no gas revenue during 2019, due to no production 
from the Group’s producing asset, the Kiliwani North-1 well. 
During 2018, production from the Kiliwani North-1 well was 
0.03 BCF of which Aminex’s share was 0.01 BCF generating 
revenue of US$0.05 million. 
Cost of sales was US$0.81 million (2018: US$2.02 million). 
The cost of sales for Kiliwani North operations amounted 
to US$0.45 million (2018: US$1.41 million) and included the 
design of a remedial work programme intended to establish 
fluid levels in the wellbore, reservoir pressure and to unload 
fluid using foam treatment technology. The Group awaits 
approval from the relevant Tanzanian authorities to commence 
the well remediation work. There was no depletion charge for 
Kiliwani North during the year due to the well not producing in 
2019 (2018: US$0.04 million). The balance of the cost of sales 
amounting to US$0.36 million (2018: US$0.57 million) related 
to the oilfield services operations. Accordingly, there was a 
gross loss of US$0.45 million for the period compared with 
US$1.40 million for the comparative period. 
Group administrative expenses, net of costs capitalised 
against projects, were down by US$0.92 million to US$2.41 
million (2018: US$3.33 million). The expenses for the current 
period include a share-based payment charge of US$0.37 
million relating to options granted during 2019 (2018: 
US$0.58 million). During the year, management initiated a 
range of measures to reduce costs in light of the ongoing 
delays in completion of certain conditions precedent with the 
Tanzanian Government and authorities related to the Farm-
Out transaction on the Ruvuma PSA. The second half of 
2019 saw a reduction in the numbers of Executive Directors 
and staff resulting in a decrease in gross employment costs 

for the year of US$0.34 million from US$2.98 million in 2018 
to US$2.64 million in 2019, equivalent to a 11% drop before 
one-offs. Adjusting for redundancy and settlement payments 
during 2019 gross employment costs were down US$0.48 
million, a reduction of 16%. Further cost savings were 
recognised during the year for advisors’ fees, Directors’ fees, 
office and travel costs. Adjusting for one-off items during 
the year, the Company has achieved a reduction in gross 
administrative costs of approximately 30%. These cost saving 
initiatives will become more evident in 2020 when a full year’s 
impact is felt. Management maintains strict expenditure 
controls and continues to seek cost saving solutions and 
efficiencies across the Group and has implemented further 
cost-saving initiatives during 2020. 
The Group recognised an impairment during the year in both 
its producing and exploration and evaluation assets. In respect 
of the Group’s producing asset, the Kiliwani North-1 well, in 
light of the approval delays with the Tanzanian authorities 
during the year to progress the remediation programme to 
bring the well back into production following the successful 
work carried out on the sub surface safety valve, the Group 
revised the assumptions to reflect potential further delays, 
coupled with an increased discount rate to reflect risk factors 
and this resulted in an impairment against producing assets 
of US$0.81 million. 
During the year, an impairment was also recognised against 
exploration and evaluation assets of US$10.93 million. In 
December 2019, the Tanzanian Government published 
new Petroleum Regulations, including the Petroleum 
(Cost Recovery Accounting) Regulations which state that 
exploration costs will be ring fenced. The Group is carrying 
exploration costs that were incurred under the Lindi Licence 
that was part of the Ruvuma PSA and although the licence 
expired in December 2017, under the terms of the Ruvuma 
PSA, Lindi Licence exploration costs can be recovered from 
future revenues generated by the Mtwara Licence. Following 
the publication of these new regulations which state that 
exploration costs would be ring-fenced by licence, the 
Directors have taken the view that, despite the economic 
stabilisation clause contained in the Ruvuma PSA, this change 
has created uncertainty of recoverability and consequently 
the Group provided in full for the US$10.40 million of Lindi 
exploration costs. Details of the impairment are included 
in Note 10 to the financial statements. The remainder of 
the exploration and evaluation asset impairment relates to 
exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred on the Nyuni 
Area PSA of US$0.53 million predominantly related to own 
costs for geological, geophysical and administrative work and 
licence maintenance costs, along with training and licence 
fees. All expenditure of the Nyuni Licence Area continues 
to be impaired immediately to the income statement upon 
recognition following the full impairment of the Nyuni Area 
Licence in 2018. During 2018, in reviewing the carrying 
value of the Nyuni asset, the Directors took into account 
the notification from the Tanzania Ministry of Energy that the 
current licence period is to end in October 2019. This was 
against previous advice received from the relevant Tanzanian 
authorities. As the Group cannot plan for works on the Nyuni 
Area Licence acreage, the Directors concluded that the asset 
was impaired and provided against the carrying value in full, 
resulting in an impairment of US$43.47 million in 2018. 

Finance Review
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The Group’s resulting net loss from operating activities was 
US$15.18 million (2018: US$48.51 million). 
Finance income amounted to US$0.03 million which 
predominantly arose on gains from foreign exchange. 
Finance costs for the period totalled US$0.08 million, of 
which US$0.06 million related to the unwinding of discount 
on the decommissioning provision and US$0.02 million for 
the finance cost related to the lease liability. 
The Group’s net loss for the period amounted to US$15.23 
million (2018: US$48.51 million).
Balance sheet
The Group’s investment in exploration and evaluation assets 
decreased from US$58.53 million as at 31 December 2018 
to US$48.97 million as at 31 December 2019. The decrease 
reflects the total impairment recognised during the year of 
US$10.93 million as described above, partially offset by 
expenditure related to the updated well design programme 
for the Chikumbi-1 exploration well and the redesigned, 
significantly larger, 3D seismic programme, the reprocessing 
of select 2D seismic data over the Kiliwani South prospect, 
along with general licence maintenance costs. As discussed 
above, following the publication of the Petroleum Regulations 
by the Tanzanian Government in December 2019 the Group 
impaired US$10.40 million related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditure incurred on the Lindi Licence. All exploration and 
evaluation expenditure on the Nyuni Area PSA continues to 
be impaired as incurred following the full impairment of the 
asset in 2018. The Directors reviewed the remaining balance 
on the Ruvuma PSA, incurred on the Mtwara Licence, and 
the Kiliwani South assets and have concluded that there is no 
further impairment to the carrying value. This opinion takes 
into account the expected completion of the Farm-Out of the 
Ruvuma PSA and the planned work on Kiliwani South. 
The carrying value of property, plant and equipment has 
decreased from US$2.39 million at 31 December 2018 to 
US$1.96 million at 31 December 2019. The decrease was 
as a result of the partial impairment of US$0.81 million on 
the Kiliwani North producing asset following delays to the 
remediation programme offset predominantly as a result of first 
year recognition of a right of use asset under the requirements 
of IFRS 16: Leases (“IFRS 16”), resulting in a net asset 
recognised as at 1 January 2019 of US$0.60 million. There 
were other minor additions during the year of US$0.01 million, 
offset by a depreciation charge for the year of US$0.24 million. 
Current assets amounted to US$8.56 million (2018: US$9.37 
million) with trade and other receivables of US$7.87 million 
(2018: US$7.51 million), which as operator includes joint 
venture parties’ interests in gas revenues and interest charged 
on overdue invoices. Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 
December 2019 were US$0.69 million (2018: US$1.86 million). 
Total current liabilities amounted to US$11.72 million at 
31 December 2019 compared with US$9.99 million at 31 
December 2018. The majority of the increase related to 
US$1.00 million received during 2019 under the advance 
funding agreement entered into in November 2019 between 
the Group and ARA, a related party of the Group (see 
Note 27 to the financial statements for details), and the 
recognition of short-term lease liabilities of US$0.21 million 
resulting from the first-time adoption of IFRS 16: Leases. The 

balance also includes amounts payable to the TPDC and 
joint venture partners for their profit shares under the terms 
of the PSA governing Kiliwani North. Payables also include 
VAT and excise tax payable on gas receivables. Non-current 
liabilities amounted to US$1.00 million at 31 December 2019 
(2018: US$0.70 million). The increase was predominantly 
as a result of the recognition of a long-term lease liability of 
US$0.17 million, as a result of recognition and measurement 
requirements under the first-time adoption of IFRS 16: Leases 
in 2019, and a related restoration provision of US$0.07 million 
classified under other long-term liabilities. During the year, the 
decommissioning provision increased by US$0.06 million at 
31 December 2019 to US$0.76 million (2018: US$0.70 million), 
the increase relating to the unwinding of the discount charge 
during the period.
Total equity has decreased by US$12.84 million between 31 
December 2018 and 31 December 2019 to US$46.77 million 
(31 December 2018: US$59.61 million). The net movement 
comprises US$2.36 million increase in share capital and 
share premium from the successful disapplication placing in 
February 2019, a net decrease of US$0.45 million to the share 
option reserve, an increase of US$0.16 million in the foreign 
currency translation reserve and the movement of US$14.59 
million in retained earnings arising on the loss of US$15.23 
million for the period, the release from the share option 
reserve of US$0.82 million for expired options and expenses 
related to the share issue of US$0.17 million.
Cash Flows
Net cash outflows due to operating activities was US$2.70 
million (2018: US$2.46 million). There was an increase in 
debtors of US$1.13 million primarily arising on the increase 
in the gross receivables from the TPDC and a decrease in 
creditors of US$0.68 million. Net cash outflows from investing 
activities amounted to US$0.45 million (2018: US$1.96 million). 
The Group received US$1.00 million under the advance 
funding agreement with ARA related to the Ruvuma PSA 
Farm-Out which was predominantly offset by expenditure 
on exploration and evaluation assets in the current period of 
US$1.45 million, relating to payments for well planning services 
for Chikumbi-1 to be drilled on the Ruvuma PSA acreage, 
2D seismic reprocessing over Kiliwani South, together with 
continuing costs on all Tanzanian licence interests. Cash inflow 
from financing activities during the year of US$1.95 million 
(2018: US$nil) were as a result of net proceeds of $2.19 million 
from the issue of share capital in the period offset by lease 
payments of US$0.23 million. Net cash and cash equivalents 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 therefore decreased by 
US$1.19 million compared with a decrease of US$4.42 million 
for the comparative period. The balance of net cash and cash 
equivalents at 31 December 2019 was US$0.69 million (31 
December 2018: US$1.86 million). 

John Arthur
Chief Financial Officer 

Finance Review continued
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 Aminex’s Tanzanian Asset Portfolio                                                                           

Ruvuma PSA – Onshore Appraisal and Exploration
Aminex (operator)	 75% 
Solo Oil plc	 25%

Resource Summary – Ntorya Field
Gross Licence Basis (BCF)1

Licence Gas 
Resource 1C 2C 3C

Gross Mean
unrisked GIIP

(BCF)

Mtwara Development 
Pending 26 81 213

1,870
Mtwara Development 

Unclarified 342 682 950

Total 
763

Source: RPS Energy CPR of December 2018
	 1 Assuming Development is ratified

Resource Summary excluding Ntorya Field
Prospective Resources (Bscf)1

Pg
(%)

Gross on Licence

Prospect/
Lead

1U
(P90)

2U 
(P50)

3U 
(P10)

Mean 
unrisked

(GIIP)
Chikumbi
Jurassic 399 936 1,798 1,3512 83

Namisange 56 325 1,925 1,183 83

Likonde 
Updip 39 166 702 444 103

Ziwani NW 8 35 153 68 <53

Ziwani SW 12 54 236 105 <53

Source: Source RPS Energy of December 2018; also includes resources 
from several leads identified in previous reports by LR Synergy and RISC 
consultants

1 Assuming Development Licence is ratified
2 P50
3 RPS assessment of Pg (RISC did not include risking)

Ruvuma PSA
Aminex has completed an updated well design for the 
Chikumbi-1 exploration well and has redesigned a significantly 
larger 3D seismic programme than was originally planned. The 
changes to the seismic programme reflect the requirements 
and intent of our farm-in partner, and future operator, to 
gather all of the information required during the early stages 
of their involvement in the project in order to rapidly progress 
to full-field development and thereby, early cashflow from 
the Ntorya gas field. The proposed 2020 contingent work 
programme and budget for Ruvuma includes approximately 
US$40 million (gross) of drilling and seismic work of which 
Aminex would be fully carried for our approximate US$10 
million share of this expenditure, leaving an additional US$25 
million of carry available for future development works.    
A primary focus for the Company has remained the 
completion of the Ruvuma Farm-Out with APT. The conditions 
precedent within the two parties’ control have been satisfied 
and completion is expected upon receipt of governmental 
approvals. The Farm-Out, with a net carry to Aminex of up 
to US$35 million, is expected to fully fund Aminex through 
to full-field development of the Ntorya gas field and to relieve 
Aminex of all its development capital requirements associated 
with the field.  The work programme for the Ntorya field will 
include the acquisition of new 3D seismic data, the drilling 
of Chikumbi-1 and is expected, with success, to include the 
drilling of multiple wells required for full-field development and 
related infield production infrastructure.  Chikumbi-1 has been 
designed to delineate the Cretaceous Ntorya gas field and to 
test the deeper Jurassic ‘Chikumbi’ prospect to fulfil one of 
the outstanding exploration well obligations on the licence.  

Operations Review
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In April 2020, the Group formally received the extension of 
the Mtwara Licence in respect to the Ntorya Location from 
the Ministry of Energy of Tanzania; one of the last remaining 
conditions required to close the Farm-Out. The extension, 
which was applied for in late 2017, is valid for one year. 
Under the terms of the extension the Company, through the 
Ruvuma PSA Joint Venture, is committed to acquire 200 
square kilometres (surface coverage) of 3D seismic, drill the 
Chikumbi-1 exploration well, complete the negotiation of the 
Gas Terms for the Ruvuma PSA with the TPDC and using the 
data gathered from Chikumbi-1 and the seismic acquisition, 
prepare and submit an application for a Development Licence 
for the Ntorya Location area. It is acknowledged by all parties 
that the full work programme is unlikely to be completed 
during this extension period and the Company will therefore 
apply for an additional extension(s) as necessary and as 
permissible under the current legislation. 
Kiliwani North and Kiliwani South – Kiliwani North 
Development Licence (“KNDL”)
Aminex (operator)	 63.8304%

RAK Gas LLC	 27.7778%

Solo Oil plc	 8.3918%

Reserve and Resource Summary
Kiliwani North Reserves

Gas Reserves Gross (100%) Licence Basis (BCF)

Field Licence
Status 1P 2P 3P

Kiliwani 
North 1 Production 1.06 1.94 3.75

Source: 1 RPS Energy CPR of February 2018

Kiliwani North GIIP
Gross Licence Basis  (BCF)1

Field Licence
Status P90 P50 P10 Mean

Kiliwani 
North 1 Production 17.4 29.5 45.9 30.8

Source: 1 RPS Energy CPR of February 2018

Prospective GIIP Kiliwani South Prospect
Gross Licence Basis  (BCF)1

Prospect Licence
Status P90 P50 P10 Mean

Kiliwani 
South 2 Exploration 34 54 84 57

Source: 	1 RPS Energy CPR of February 2018
	 2 Management Estimates 

As a result of fluid build-up and natural depletion, the Kiliwani 
North-1 well has not produced during the period. Aminex 
undertook preliminary remedial work and successfully repaired 
the downhole safety valve in late 2018 which resulted in 
temporary gas flow to the gas facility.  The well has produced 
approximately 6.5 BCF of gas to date.  Aminex has prepared 
and is awaiting final approval to carry out a remedial work 
programme intended to establish fluid levels in the wellbore, 
reservoir pressure and to unload fluid using foam treatment 
technology. If successful, this operation is expected to re-
establish gas production from the well. The Company has 
identified appropriate equipment and will begin sourcing as 

soon as approvals have been received. The Company has 
been awaiting final approvals for a significant period of time 
and while reassured that the unloading operation can be 
carried out, there is no firm timeline on when final approval 
will be granted. Should approval be granted immediately, and 
personnel permitted to travel with the ongoing Coronavirus 
pandemic, it is estimated that work can commence within 
three to six months.

As previously advised, following a re-interpretation of existing 
seismic, the Company identified the Kiliwani South prospect, 
estimated by management to contain a mean 57 BCF un-
risked GIIP. It is envisaged that as part of a larger 3D seismic 
programme, most of the Kiliwani North development licence 
will be covered by 3D seismic, allowing for the Kiliwani South 
prospect to be progressed to drill ready status and to target 
remaining potential within the Kiliwani North structure. The 
Kiliwani South prospect is accounted for as an exploration and 
evaluation asset.

In preparation for acquiring 3D seismic over the licenced 
acreage, comprising the shallow-water areas adjacent to 
Songo Songo Island, Aminex conducted the reprocessing 
of select 2D seismic data. Remapping of the reprocessed 
data in combination with a fresh look at the regional data has 
identified multiple structural and stratigraphic leads across 
the licence which are ideally located in shallow waters and in 
close proximity to existing offtake infrastructure, meaning that 
a discovery could be rapidly monetised with relatively low-cost 
drilling and tie-backs. 

The Company continues to meet with the relevant Tanzanian 
authorities to discuss and resolve the issue of outstanding 
receivables from previous gas sales from KNDL.

Operations Review continued
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Nyuni Area PSA 
Aminex (operator)	 100%

Resource Summary

PSA Licence Status Gross Mean  
unrisked GIIP (BCF)

Nyuni Area Exploration 4,858

Source: RPS Energy CPR of February 2018, RISC Consultants CPR of June 2012

The First Extension Period to the Nyuni Area PSA was granted 
in December 2016 for a four-year term, however, during 
the reporting period the Tanzanian authorities advised the 
Company that the effective start date for the licence period 
was to be back-dated to October 2015. Accordingly, the First 
Extension Period expired on 27 October 2019, but the licence 
remains valid until otherwise advised by the Ministry.  

In July 2019, Aminex submitted an application to the TPDC to 
enter the Second Extension Period of three years requesting 
an amendment to the existing work programme and proposing 
a new work programme for the Second Extension Period. If 
approved, the number of blocks retained under the licence 
will reduce to five, from the current ten blocks. The proposed 
amended work programme and associated commitment 
is being supported by the TPDC and awaits the approval of 
both the Petroleum Upstream Regulatory Authority (“PURA”) 
and the Minister of Energy. Aminex was advised to, and has 
submitted, a 2020 work programme and budget for the Nyuni 
Area PSA, assuming that the extension and amended work 
programme have been accepted. Aminex remains optimistic 
that the proposed extension and work programme will be 
accepted and approved in the near future. 

Operations Review continued

Aminex block diagram based on internal interpretation of 2D seismic
*Orca Exploration Presentation
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 Environmental Policy 

Successful environmental management 
is dependent on recognising, and 
avoiding or minimising, environmental 
impacts. Aminex is aware that protection 
of the environment requires careful 
planning and commitment from all levels 
within the Company. Best practice 
environmental management demands a 
continuing, integrated process through 
all phases of a project. 

Environmental management is a core 
business requirement for Aminex, 
essential to long-term success. Aminex 
complies with all relevant legislative 
requirements and commitments 
applicable to its operations and where 
practical, exceeds these requirements. 
In addition, Aminex is committed to 
good environmental management 
and continuous improvement in its 
performance.  

 Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment Policy 

The health, safety and security of all 
our employees, contractors and the 
wider community in which it operates 
is of paramount importance to Aminex.

As standard practice, the Company:
•	 does not compromise on safety;
•	 complies with legislative 

requirements;
•	 identifies, assesses and manages 

environmental health, safety and 
security hazards, risks and impacts;

•	 promotes continuous 
improvement practices within 
all aspects of the business;

•	 minimises work place 
exposure to hazards; and

•	 understands and works to meet 
the expectations of the community 
and provides appropriate training 

to employees and contractors to 
ensure health, safety and security 
responsibilities are understood.

 Community 

Aminex believes that continuous 
improvement in the areas of environment, 
community and safety is fundamental to 
ongoing sustainability and success.

The Company’s good reputation as 
a worthy corporate citizen has been 
achieved by:
•	 working closely with neighbours 

and co-occupiers of the land;
•	 supporting local community through 

sponsorship and resources;
•	 providing public information 

about environmental, community, 
health, safety and security 
aspects of the business; and

•	 encouraging the services of local 
suppliers where possible.

Aminex has strived to foster a lasting 
and tangible relationship with the 
local communities and stakeholder 
groups where it works and is aware 

that in addition to regulatory operating 
approvals, the Company also requires 
a community acceptance to operate, 
and that acceptance has to be earned. 
Aminex is committed to working in an 
effective and collaborative manner 
with local communities that co-exist 
with its operations. To achieve this 
Aminex has and will continue to:
•	 establish and maintain positive 

and meaningful communication 
with all affected groups;

•	 consult with the people whose land 
may be affected by its activities; and

•	 engage with relevant groups on 
various community projects.

Aminex supports local community 
initiatives where possible. The 
Company is a supporter of the 
Tanzanian registered NGO Australia 
Tanzania Society (ATS) which includes 
the provision of surgical missions for 
free to Tanzanians (www.asanterafiki.
com) and the capacity building of local 
surgeons. It also supports the Australia 
Tanzania Young Ambassadors (www.
youngambassadors.com.au) in helping 
community schools and education. 
Our principal contribution is directed 
to community projects that add 
sustainable benefit in the education and 
medical sectors of the community. 

Aminex has strict anti-bribery and 
corruption procedures and policies in 
place and ensures that its employees 
and contractors observe these at all 
times in carrying out the Company’s 
business.

Corporate and Social Responsibility
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Board of Directors
John Bell, (54) (UK) 
Chairman (A,N,R)
John Bell is a Chartered Engineer with over 30 years’ experience 
in the energy sector having worked at Vice President level or 
Managing Director level with BP, Statoil AS and Suncor Energy 
(Syria). He graduated with a First Class Honours degree in 
Engineering from Strathclyde University and studied Executive 
Leadership at Haas Business School, University of Berkeley 
California. Previous public company directorships include 
Gulf Keystone Petroleum and Tethys Petroleum where he was 
Executive Chairman. John is currently the Managing Director 
at Gulfsands Petroleum PLC. He was appointed a Director of 
Aminex in November 2017 and Chairman in February 2019.   

Robert Ambrose, (60) (UK)
Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
Robert Ambrose was formerly the Chief Operating Officer 
of The Zubair Corporation’s Energy & Logistics Division. He 
has a Petroleum Engineering Masters from Imperial College, 
London, and a Mechanical Engineering Honours Degree from 
Brunel University in the UK. He has over 30 years’ experience 
in the oil and gas industry, from downstream to upstream, 
covering many aspects of the supply chain and has experience 
in and held senior management roles involving the reservoir, 
well construction and production both onshore & offshore. Mr 
Ambrose joined The Zubair Group in 2001. He was appointed 
a Director of Aminex in September 2019 and Interim Chief 
Executive Officer in April 2020.

Ola Fjeld, (62) (Norway) 
Non-Executive Director
Ola Fjeld has over 30 years of diverse industry experience 
in Norway and internationally. He has worked for large 
international service companies as well as starting an oil 
and gas software company VoxelVision. The company 
was acquired by Schlumberger and the technologies from 
VoxelVision and GigaViz form the seismic interpretation parts of 
the world leading G&G software package Petrel. He is currently 
the Chief Operating Officer of ARA Petroleum LLC. He holds 
a Master’s degree from NTNU, Norway. He was appointed a 
Director of Aminex in August 2016. 

Linda Beal, (58) (UK)  
Non-Executive Director (A,N,R) (Senior Independent Director)
Linda Beal is a Chartered Accountant and has over 30 years’ 
experience with PwC including over 16 years as partner, during 
which time she led services to various international resources 
groups and advised on many transactions. She was also a 
partner at Grant Thornton for two years, where she led the 
global energy and natural resources group, with a significant 
focus on Africa. She is currently non-executive director at 
Kropz PLC, San Leon Energy PLC, Orca Exploration Group Inc 
and i3 Energy PLC and was appointed a Director of Aminex in 
January 2019. 

A Member of Audit and Risk Committee
N Member of Nominations Committee
R Member of Remuneration Committee
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The Directors present their annual report and audited financial 
statements for Aminex PLC (“the Company”) and its subsidiary 
undertakings (“the Group”) prepared in US dollars for the year 
ended 31 December 2019.
Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are the exploration, 
appraisal, development and production of oil and gas 
assets, reserves and resources. The Group operates through 
subsidiary undertakings, details of which are set out in Note 
13 to the financial statements. The Group’s principal area of 
activity is in Tanzania.
Results and dividends
As set out in the Group Income Statement on page 35, the 
Group loss after tax amounted to US$15.23 million which 
compares with a loss after tax of US$48.51 million for 2018. 
No dividends were paid during the year (2018: US$nil).
Share capital
At 31 December 2019, the Company had two classes of 
shares which were divided into Ordinary Shares of €0.001 
each and Deferred Shares of €0.059 each. The number of 
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 and Deferred Shares of €0.059 
in issue were 3,770,684,843 and 818,658,421 respectively 
(2018: 3,643,458,062 Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each 
and 818,658,421 Deferred Shares of €0.059 each). The 
Company’s authorised share capital was €64,000,000 (2018: 
€64,000,000) comprising 5,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 
€0.001 each and 1,000,000,000 Deferred Shares of €0.059 
each (2018: 5,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each 
and 1,000,000,000 Deferred Shares of €0.059 each). The 
Ordinary Shares are in registered form. 
Resolutions will be proposed to renew the Directors’ authority 
to allot share capital of the Company, as will be set out more 
fully in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. The Directors 
were granted authority at the 2017 Annual General Meeting 
to consolidate the existing ordinary shares at a ratio of 1 new 
ordinary share for every 20 existing Ordinary Shares and to 
cancel the Deferred Shares of €0.059 each and this authority 
remains at the Directors’ discretion.
Additional information in respect of shares and directors 
as required by the European Communities (Takeover Bids 
(Directive 2004 25/EC)) Regulations 2006 are set out on 
pages 14 and 15.
Directors and their interests
Biographies of all Directors are set out on page 11. In 
accordance with the Articles of Association, John Bell retires 
from the Board and being eligible offers himself for re-election. 
Robert Ambrose was appointed to the Board on 5 September 
2019, since the last Annual General Meeting, and is therefore 
required to seek election at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting. Linda Beal was appointed to the Board on 9 January 
2019. Having served over nine years on the Board, Keith Phair 
retired from the Board on 4 February 2019.  Jay Bhattacherjee 
retired from the Board and resigned from the Company due 
to ill health on 23 May 2019 and Max Williams retired from 
the Board on 31 October 2019 after over 25 years with the 
Company in various capacities. In April 2020, Tom Mackay 
retired from the Board after five years.
With the exception of the transactions stated in Note 27 to the 
financial statements, there were no other significant contracts, 
other than Executive Directors’ contracts of service, in which 
any Director had a material interest.

The Directors who held office at or have been appointed since 
31 December 2019 had no beneficial interests in any of the 
shares of the Company and Group companies other than 
Ordinary Shares in Aminex PLC as follows:
Director	 Number of Ordinary Shares
	 30 April	 31 December	 31 December
	 2020	 2019	 2018
Robert Ambrose	 1,720,281	 1,720,281	 1,720,281
Linda Beal	 1,034,482	 1,034,482	 -
John Bell	 1,034,482	 1,034,482	 -		 		
Details of the Directors’ share options are set out in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.
Substantial shareholdings in the Company
As of the date of this report, the following was a holder of 3% 
or more of the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital: 
	 Number of shares	 Per cent
Eclipse Investments LLC	 1,069,161,293	 28.35
Majedie Asset Management  
Limited and Majedie  
Asset Management Investment  
Fund Company	 261,245,000	 6.93		 		
The Directors have not been made aware of any other 
beneficial shareholdings of 3% or more of the issued Share 
Capital as at the date of this report. 
Finance Review
A review of current year financial activities is set out in the 
Finance Review on pages 5 and 6. 
Operations Report
A review of exploration and production activities during 2019 
and outlook for 2020 are set out in the Chairman’s Statement 
on pages 2 and 3, the Chief Executive’s Review on page 4 and 
in the Operations Report on pages 7 to 9.
Payment of Suppliers
The Company’s policy is to agree payment terms with individual 
suppliers and to abide by such terms.
Electoral Act 1997
The Group did not make any political donations during the 
current or previous year.
Corporate Governance Statement 
Statements by the Directors in relation to the Company’s 
application of corporate governance principles, compliance 
with the principles of the UK Quoted Companies Alliance 
Corporate Governance Code published in April 2018 (the 
“QCA Code”), the Group’s system of internal controls and 
the adoption of the going concern basis of preparation of 
the financial statements are set out on pages 16 to 26. The 
report on Directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 27 to 28. 
Principal risks and uncertainties are set out on pages 23 to 25 
to comply with Companies Act 2014 requirements.
Audit and Risk Committee
The Group has established an Audit and Risk Committee that 
is chaired by an independent Director and whose terms of 
reference include: 
a)	monitoring of the financial reporting process;
b) reviewing the accounting policies and significant financial 

reporting issues and judgements;
c)	monitoring of the effectiveness of the Group and Company’s 

systems of internal control and risk management;
d) monitoring the need for or the effectiveness of the internal 

audit function;
e)	overseeing the relationship with the statutory auditors and 

reviewing and monitoring of the statutory audit of the Group 
and Company’s statutory financial statements;

Directors’ Report
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f)	 review and monitoring of the independence of the statutory 
auditors and in particular the provision of additional services 
to the Group and Company;

g)	ensuring the integrity of the financial statements; and
h)	review of the Group’s financial and operating risks and 

ensuring that appropriate procedures are in place for 
mitigating risk.

Further details are provided in the Corporate Governance 
Statement on pages 16 to 26.
Relevant audit information
The Directors believe that they have taken all steps necessary 
to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and have established that the Group statutory auditors are 
aware of this information. In so far as they are aware there is 
no relevant audit information of which the Group’s statutory 
auditors are unaware. 
Directors’ Compliance Statement
The Directors, in accordance with Section 225(2) of the 
Companies Act 2014, acknowledge that they are responsible 
for securing the Company’s compliance with certain obligations 
specified in that section arising from the Companies Act 2014, 
and tax laws (‘relevant obligations’). The directors confirm that:  
•	 A compliance policy statement has been drawn up 

setting out the Company’s policies that in their opinion 
are appropriate with regard to such compliance; 

•	 Appropriate arrangements and structures have been put 
in place that, in their opinion, are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance of compliance in all material 
respects with those relevant obligations; and

•	 A review has been conducted, during the financial year, of 
those arrangements and structures. 

Post balance sheet events
On 4 February 2020, the Company granted 8,000,000 options 
over Ordinary Shares to John Bell, in lieu of remuneration. The
exercise price is Stg1.02p with the exercise period not 
exceeding five years from date of grant. The share-based 
payment charge arising from the grant will be charged to the 
income statement in the year ending 31 December 2020.
On 3 March 2020, Ndovu Resources Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Group, received a tax assessment from the 
TRA in relation to a tax audit conducted by the TRA covering 
the period from 2013 to 2015 (see Note 24).
Since 31 December 2019, the Group has received a further 
US$1.0 million under the Advance from ARA Petroleum LLC, 
a related party of the Group (see Note 27).
On 24 April 2020, Ndovu Resources Limited received a one 
year extension to the Mtwara Exploration Licence in respect 
to the Ntorya location. The extension is effective from 17 April 
2020. This satisfies one of the conditions precedent of the 
Farm-Out. During the one year extension period the Group 
is commited to undertake acquiring 200 km2 of 3D seismic 
(minimum expenditure of US$7 million), drill the Chikumbi-1 
exploration well (minimum expenditure of US$15 million), 
complete the negotiation of the Gas Terms for the Ruvuma 
PSA with the TPDC and, using the data gathered from the 
Chikumbi-1 and seismic acquisition, prepare and submit 
an application for a Development Licence for the Ntorya 
Location area. It is acknowledged by the Group that the full 
work programme is unlikely to be completed during this one 
year extension period and therefore the Group will apply for 
an additional extension(s) as necessary and as permissible 
under the current legislation. Also in relation to the completion 
of the Farm-Out, the TRA have issued the CGT assessment 
on the Farm-Out of US$2.2 million to be paid prior to 
government approval.

On 27 April 2020, Robert Ambrose was appointed interim 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tom Mackay resigned 
as interim Chief Executive Officer and as a Director of Aminex.
The global impact of the COVID-19 virus is a non-adjusting 
event after the financial year end. To date, the Company has 
experienced no adverse material impact on its operations as 
a result of the COVID-19 virus. Further information has been 
provided in the Directors’ Report and Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties. 
Coronavirus
At the date of this report, Aminex’s Board and senior 
management continue to monitor government advice and to 
plan around the rapidly evolving situation regarding the spread 
of COVID-19 (Coronavirus),  Whilst taking actions to mitigate 
the potential impact on colleagues, clients and contacts, the 
Company’s operations are currently unaffected. Our priorities 
are safeguarding the health and wellbeing of our colleagues 
and clients. We have an established business continuity plan 
and an embedded agile working capability that will allow us 
to continue to operate the business whilst working remotely.  
Our staff are equipped for remote working, with access to 
our secure systems. The potential impact of COVID-19 is 
discussed in principal risks and uncertainties on page 25.
Brexit
It is the view of the Board that, given the Group’s focus 
on Tanzania, Aminex will not be materially affected by the 
exit from the European Union by the UK. The Board also 
recognises that a no-deal Brexit could give rise to regulatory, 
legal and financial concerns for Aminex PLC in respect 
of its listing on the London Stock Exchange and for its UK 
subsidiary company, Aminex Petroleum Services Ltd and to 
the members of staff employed by that company and monitors 
the risks accordingly. As a result of Brexit, it is expected that 
Euroclear UK and Ireland’s CREST platform will no longer 
be authorised to act as the Central Securities Depositary for 
Irish (and other EU countries’) securities. The Irish Market 
is planning to replace its existing settlement infrastructure 
provided by the CREST platform with the Euroclear Bank (EB) 
system. This change is expected to take place with effect from 
March 2021 and should not have any significant impact for the 
Company or its shareholders.
Accounting records
The Directors believe that they have complied with the 
requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 
2014 with regard to maintaining adequate accounting records 
by employing personnel with appropriate expertise and by 
providing adequate resources to the finance function. The 
accounting records of the Company are maintained at Kings 
Buildings, 16 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3JJ, UK.
Auditor
In accordance with Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 
2014, the auditor, BDO, Statutory Auditors, have indicated 
their willingness to continue in office. BDO were  appointed in 
October 2019 as the Group’s statutory auditor for the financial 
year commencing 1 January 2019. The appointment remains 
subject to approval by shareholders at the 2020 Annual 
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Robert Ambrose
Director
30 April 2020

Directors’ Report continued
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Additional information in respect of shares and Directors 
as required by the European Communities (Takeover Bids 
(Directive 2004 25/EC)) Regulations 2006 are set out below.

Amendment to the Articles of Association
Any amendment to the Articles of Association (‘Articles’) of 
the Company requires the passing of a special resolution in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.

Rights attaching to shares
The rights attaching to the Ordinary and Deferred Shares 
are defined in the Company’s Articles. A shareholder whose 
name appears on the register of members can choose 
whether the shares are evidenced by share certificates (i.e. in 
certificated form) or held in electronic form (i.e. uncertificated 
form) in CREST (the electronic settlement system in Ireland 
and the UK). From March 2021, as an impact of the exit of the 
UK from the European Union, it is anticipated that the CREST 
platform will be replaced by Euroclear Bank (an electronic 
settlement system based in Brussels) for the settlement of 
Irish securities.

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote shall 
be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before 
or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) 
demanded by the Chairman of the meeting, or by at least 
three shareholders present in person or by proxy, or by any 
shareholder or shareholders present in person or by proxy 
and representing not less than 10% of the total voting rights 
of all the shareholders having the right to vote at the meeting, 
or by a shareholder or shareholders holding shares in the 
Company conferring the right to vote at the meeting being 
shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid equal to 
not less than 10% of the total sum paid up on all the shares 
conferring that right to vote.

The shareholders may declare dividends by passing an 
ordinary resolution in general meeting but the amount of the 
dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended by the 
Directors. The Directors may authorise the payment of interim 
dividends. No dividend shall be paid unless the distributable 
profits of the Company justify the payment.

Notice of each dividend declared and/or other monies payable 
to members (including, without prejudice to the generality of 
the foregoing, on a return of capital) shall be given to each 
member in the manner provided for under Articles 137 and 
138. All dividends and/or other monies payable to members 
(including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, 
on a return of capital) unclaimed for a period of 12 years after 
the declared date of payment thereof may by resolution of the 
Board be forfeited for the benefit of the Company.

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may allocate, with 
the sanction of a special resolution passed in general meeting 
and any other sanction required by the Companies Act 2014, 
between the shareholders in specie or in kind the whole or 
any part of the assets of the Company. The liquidator may 
value the assets and determine how to divide the assets 
between shareholders or different classes of shareholders. 
The liquidator may transfer the whole or any part of the assets 
into trust for the benefit of the shareholders.

Voting at general meetings
Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached 
to any class of shares, shareholders may attend any general 
meeting and, on a show of hands, every shareholder present 
in person or by proxy shall have one vote and on a poll every 
shareholder present in person or by proxy shall have one vote 
for each share of which he/she is the holder. 

Votes may be given either personally or by proxy. The form 
of proxy shall be signed by the appointer or his/her duly 
authorised attorney or if the appointer is a body corporate 
either under the seal or signed by an officer of the body 
corporate duly authorised. 

The form of proxy must be delivered to the Company not 
less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the meeting or adjourned meeting as notified in the notice 
of general meeting at which the person named in the form of 
proxy proposes to vote.

No shareholder shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting 
unless all calls or other sums payable in respect of his/her 
shares have been paid.

Transfer of shares
The Directors may decline to register the transfer of a share 
which is not fully paid. The Directors may also refuse to register 
a transfer unless the instrument of transfer is accompanied by 
the certificate of the shares to which it relates and such other 
evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the 
right to transfer and the instrument of transfer is in respect of 
one class of share only.

The Directors have the power to implement any arrangements 
they think fit for evidencing the title to and transfer of shares 
in accordance with statutory obligations made from time to 
time. Until an alternative platform is put in place, transfers 
of uncertificated shares must be carried out using CREST 
and the Directors may refuse to register a transfer of an 
uncertificated share in accordance with the regulations 
governing the operation of CREST. The Company will notify 
shareholders as and when a new trading platform to replace 
CREST is implemented. Transfers of shares in certificated 
form must be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and 
the transferee.

Variation of rights
Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred 
on the holders of any existing shares or class of shares, any 
share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, 
deferred or other special right or such restrictions, whether 
in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, 
as the Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution 
determine.

If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes 
of shares, the rights attached to any class may be varied or 
abrogated with the written consent of the holders of at least 
75% of the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of 
a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of 
the holders of the shares of that class.

Additional Information for Shareholders
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Appointment and replacement of Directors
There will be no less than two Directors. Directors may be 
appointed by the Company by ordinary resolution (provided 
not less than 7 days or more than 42 days before the day 
appointed for the meeting, notice is given to the Company of 
the intention to propose a person for election) or by the Board. 
A Director appointed by the Board shall hold office only until 
the following annual general meeting and shall be eligible for 
re-election but shall not be taken into account in determining 
the Directors who are to retire by rotation at that meeting. At 
each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of 
the Directors shall retire by rotation or if their number is not 
a multiple of three then the number nearest one-third shall 
retire from office. The Directors to retire in every year shall be 
those who have been longest in office since their last election 
but as between persons who became Directors on the same 
day, those to retire shall (unless otherwise agreed among 
themselves) be determined by lot. A retiring Director shall be 
eligible for re-election. 

The Company may, by ordinary resolution of which extended 
notice has been given in accordance with the Companies Act 
2014, remove any Director before the expiration of his period 
of office.

Powers of the Directors
The business of the Company shall be managed by the 
Directors who may exercise all such powers of the Company 
as are not required by the Companies Act 2014 or by the 
Articles to be exercised by the Company in general meeting. 
The Directors are, subject to the provisions of the Companies 

Act 2014, authorised to allot shares in accordance with an 
offer or agreement for the number of authorised shares not 
yet issued and also to issue shares for cash. Resolutions to 
renew these authorities will be set out in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting. Under the Aminex PLC Share Option 
Scheme, the Directors are authorised, in the event of an offer 
for the whole or a specified portion of the share capital, to 
request option holders to exercise unexercised options.

Following the transfer of the Company’s listing category on 
the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority from the 
Premium listing segment to the Standard listing segment, 
and the de-listing from the official list of Euronext Dublin, the 
Company is no longer required to apply the principles of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code, as previously applied. The 
Directors however are committed to continue to maintain 
high standards of corporate governance and have resolved 
to apply the principles of the UK Quoted Companies Alliance 
Corporate Governance Code (the “QCA Code”), being a code 
more appropriate to the size and shape of the Company. 
Except where otherwise stated, the Directors believe that the 
Group has complied with the provisions of the QCA Code 
throughout the year under review.
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Compliance with the provisions of the UK Quoted 
Companies Alliance Corporate Governance Code
The QCA Code is based on ten principles that companies 
should follow to deliver growth in long-term shareholder value. 
The QCA has stated what it considers to be appropriate 
arrangements for growing companies and asks companies 
to provide an explanation about how they are meeting the 
principles through the prescribed disclosures. We have 
considered how we apply each principle to the extent that the 
Board judges these to be appropriate in view of the Company’s 
size, strategy, resources and stage of development, and 
below we provide an explanation of the approach taken in 
relation to each. This report explains in broad terms how the 
Company applies the main principles of the QCA Code. The 
Directors consider that Aminex PLC has complied throughout 
the year with the provisions of the QCA Code except for the 
following matters: 
•	 A performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and 

its Directors was not undertaken during the year. 
•	 As stated in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, during 

2019 two of the Company’s current Non-Executive Directors 
held options over the Ordinary Shares of the Company. The 
Board considers that this is in the Group’s best interests to 
attract and retain high calibre directors and that, with limited 
cash resources, this can be achieved by the granting of 
options and given the nature of such options held by, and the 
calibre and experience of, such Non-Executive Directors, the 
Board viewed these Non-Executive Directors as sufficiently 
independent of management and as being capable of 
exercising independent judgement.

The Board of Directors
The Company is controlled through its Board of Directors. The 
Board’s main roles are to create value for shareholders, to 
provide entrepreneurial leadership to the Group, to approve 
the Group’s strategic objectives and to ensure that the 
necessary financial and other resources are made available to 
enable the Group to meet its objectives.
There are matters which are specifically reserved for the 
Board which include setting and monitoring business strategy; 
evaluating exploration opportunities and risks; approving all 
capital expenditure on exploration and producing oil and gas 
assets; approving all investments and disposals; approving 
budgets and monitoring performance against budgets; 
reviewing the Group’s health and safety policy and considering 
and appointing new Directors and the Company Secretary.
The Board consists of four members and comprises a Non-
Executive Chairman, an Executive Director and two Non-
Executive Directors. Brief biographies of the Directors are set 
out on page 11. 
Under the terms of the Company’s Articles, at least one third 
of the Board must seek re-election to the Board at the Annual 
General Meeting each year. All new Directors appointed 
since the previous Annual General Meeting are required 
to seek election at the next Annual General Meeting and in 
accordance with this the Directors will propose a resolution 
to elect Robert Ambrose who was appointed to the Board on 
5 September 2019. John Bell is required to seek re-election 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Linda Beal was 
appointed to the Board on 9 January 2019. Having served 
over nine years on the Board, Keith Phair retired from the 
Board on 4 February 2019. Jay Bhattacherjee retired from the 
Board and resigned from the Company due to ill health on 

23 May 2019 and Max Williams retired from the Board on 31 
October 2019 after over 25 years with the Company in various 
capacities. In April 2020, Tom Mackay retired from the Board 
after five years.
The Company arranges appropriate insurance cover in 
respect of legal action against its Directors.
Establish a strategy and business model which 
promote long-term value for shareholders
The strategy is reviewed by the Board. Senior management 
led by the Chief Executive Officer are responsible for executing 
the strategy once agreed by the Board. All developments in the 
Company’s business are communicated to the shareholders 
via regulatory news service (RNS) announcements, Annual 
Report and Accounts, half yearly announcements and investor 
presentations at the Company’s Annual General Meetings. 
The Company’s overall strategic objective is to develop its 
Tanzanian operations to generate a near term cashflow and seek 
strategic growth and consolidation opportunities, yielding value 
to shareholders. The Company aims to achieve this through 
our technical expertise, operational capabilities and industry 
contacts, secured by the close links we forge with the Tanzanian 
authorities and the local communities in which we operate. 
Completion of the Farm-Out Agreement is expected to fully 
fund Aminex through to full-field development of the Ntorya gas 
field and to relieve the Company of all its development capital 
requirements associated with the field.
Risk assessment and evaluation is an essential part of the 
Company’s planning and an important aspect of the Company’s 
internal control system. The Company strives to develop strong 
working relationships with its partners and suppliers in Tanzania 
to manage and mitigate the operational risks. 
Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs and 
expectations
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Non-Executive 
Chairman are responsible for shareholder liaison. They hold 
regular meetings with major shareholders and analysts 
to discuss the Company’s strategy and performance and 
maintain a dialogue between the Company and its investors. 
The entire Board receives feedback following these meetings 
and any issues raised are discussed. The Non-Executive 
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director are 
available to meet with shareholders if required. 
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) is the main forum for 
dialogue between the Board and the shareholders. All Directors 
aim to attend the AGM. The Non-Executive Chairman leads the 
AGM and takes questions from the floor. The Chief Executive 
Officer receives regular industry and peer updates, to enable 
him to keep current on issues relevant to the Company and its 
shareholders.
Take into account wider stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and their implications for long-term 
success 
The Company’s ability to achieve its long-term success 
is dependent on good relations across a wide range of 
stakeholders both internally (employees) and externally 
(partners, suppliers, regulatory authorities, local governments 
and communities in which we operate). 
Our employees are one of the most important stakeholder groups 
and the Board recognises the need for two-way communication 
with the workforce. The small size of the Company means that 
the Directors and senior managers are relatively accessible to all 
employees to provide and receive feedback. 
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We recognise our responsibilities to the environment and 
community in the areas in which we operate. The Company 
places a high priority on operating to high standards of 
integrity and ethics. We recognise that our activities may have 
an impact on the environment and therefore aim to minimise 
that impact by operating in a socially responsible manner. The 
Company seeks to behave as a responsible employer and 
make positive contributions to the local economies. 
All the Company’s stakeholders have access to contact 
information for communication with the Company. Feedback 
is respectfully acknowledged by the Company and 
appropriately dealt with. 
Embed effective risk management, considering both 
opportunities and threats, throughout the organisation
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for ensuring 
that the Company has a robust framework of risk management 
and an appropriate system of internal control. However, any 
system can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss and is designed to 
manage but not to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives. The key risk management procedures 
are preparation of annual budgets for approval by the Board; 
cash flow management and treasury policies and procedures 
for the management of liquidity, currency and credit risk 
on financial assets and liabilities; regular management, 
committee and Board meetings to review operating and 
financial activities; consideration of industry and country-
specific risks as part of the Company’s review of strategy; 
recruitment of appropriately qualified and experienced staff 
to key financial and management positions; and preparation 
of annual financial statements, including external audit review.
Maintain the board as a well-functioning, balanced 
team led by the chair 
The Board consists of four members and comprises a 
Non-Executive Chairman, an Executive Director and two 
Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman is responsible for 
the leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and 
setting its agenda and, with support from the Audit and Risk 
Committee, is responsible for the Company’s approach to 
corporate governance and the application of the principles 
of the QCA Code.  There is a clear division of responsibilities 
between the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Non-
Executive Chairman. The Senior Independent Director is 
Linda Beal.
All Directors are expected to attend the scheduled meetings 
during the year. In addition, other meetings and calls are 
held in between each scheduled meeting to ensure that 
Non-Executive Directors are kept informed of corporate 
developments. To ensure that the Directors can properly 
carry out their roles all Directors receive reports and papers 
on a timely basis for Board and Committee meetings. 
The Directors have access to a regular supply of financial, 
operational and strategic information to assist them in the 
discharge of their duties. Such information is provided as part 
of the normal management reporting cycle undertaken by 
senior management.  All Directors have access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary and may obtain 
independent professional advice at the Group’s expense.
The Directors allocate appropriate time for the proper 
discharge of their duties and understand the need to commit 
additional time in exceptional circumstances and have been 
committing and will continue to commit significant additional 
time to the Company.

The Board is responsible for setting the overall strategy of the 
business, reviewing management performance and ensuring 
the Company has sufficient financial and human resources 
to meet its objectives. It directs the Company’s activities 
in an effective manner through regular Board meetings 
and monitors performance through timely and relevant 
reporting procedures. The Board is specifically responsible 
for approval of budgetary and business plans; approval of 
significant investments and capital expenditure; approval 
of annual and half-year results and interim management 
statements, accounting policies and the appointment and 
remuneration of the external auditors; changes to the Group’s 
capital structure and the issue of any securities; establishing 
and maintaining the Group’s risk appetite, system of internal 
control, governance and approval authorities; executive 
performance and succession planning; determining 
standards of ethics and policies in relation to health, safety, 
security, environment, social and community responsibilities; 
disclosure to the market and shareholders.
Board Committees
During 2019, the Board had an Audit and Risk Committee, 
a Remuneration Committee and a Nominations Committee, 
each of which has formal terms of reference approved by the 
Board. The activities of the Committees are set out on pages 
20 to 22. 
Attendance at Board and Committee meetings is set out on 
page 23. 
The Chairman, John Bell, and the Senior Independent 
Director, Linda Beal, are the Company’s independent 
Directors. John Bell and Linda Beal each have a beneficial 
interest in the Company and participate in the Aminex PLC 
Share Option Scheme.   After due and careful consideration 
of, and taking into account, overall remuneration packages 
and level of workload, share options were granted to John 
Bell and Linda Beal during 2019 and 2020 and the Company 
does not comply with the QCA Code in this respect. The 
Board believes that such participation enhances alignment 
between the Non-Executive Directors and shareholders.  The 
Board considers John Bell and Linda Beal are free from any 
business relationships or circumstances that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.
Ola Fjeld does not have a beneficial interest in the Company 
and Ola Fjeld and Robert Ambrose do not currently participate 
in the Aminex PLC Share Option Scheme. Ola Fjeld is the 
Chief Operating Officer of ARA Petroleum LLC and Robert 
Ambrose was formerly the Chief Operating Officer of The 
Zubair Corporation’s Energy & Logistics Division, which 
are both part of The Zubair Corporation and an associate 
company of Eclipse Investments LLC (“Eclipse”), a major 
shareholder in the Company, and were nominated by Eclipse 
Investments LLC to be Non-Executive Directors. The Board 
recognises this potential conflict of interest and procedures 
are in place to ensure that the obligations of Eclipse-appointed 
representatives as Directors of Aminex are observed. With his 
new role as Interim Chief Executive Officer, Robert Ambrose 
will no longer be a representative of Eclipse.
The Chairman considers that the Company has a balanced 
and diverse Board with the requisite skills to source and assess 
future strategic growth and consolidation opportunities as it 
transitions from operator to non-operator of its key asset. 
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Ensure that between them the directors have 
the necessary up-to-date experience, skills and 
capabilities 
The Company is committed to ensure that the Board has a 
suitable mix of skills and competencies covering all essential 
disciplines and is sufficiently diverse and appropriately 
balanced. In its work in the area of Board renewal, the 
Nominations Committee looks at a number of criteria when 
considering Non-Executive Director and Executive Director 
candidates, including: international business experience, 
particularly in the region in which the Group operates or into 
which it intends to expand; skills, knowledge and expertise 
(including educational or professional background) in areas 
relevant to the operation of the Board; diversity, including 
nationality and gender; and the need for an appropriately 
sized Board. 
During the ongoing process of Board renewal, each, or a 
combination, of these factors can take priority. The Board 
appointed its first female Director in January 2019. Whilst only 
two nationalities are represented on the Board, the Directors 
have a wide range of backgrounds and experiences including 
African oil and gas operations, listed company, commercial, 
transaction and financial experience. The average tenure of 
service by a Director is under three years.
The nature of the Company’s business requires the Directors 
to keep their skillset up to date. The Directors are kept 
informed on relevant regulatory compliance and statutory 
matters through briefings by external advisers and all 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors have access to the 
Company’s external advisers. 
All Company Non-Executive Directors also hold directorships 
and senior management roles in other companies, helping 
to ensure broad and current experience. Further training is 
available at the Company’s expense.
Evaluate Board performance based on clear and 
relevant objectives, seeking continuous improvement 
The Board considers that the combination of Non-Executive 
and Executive Directors is of sufficient competence and 
experience to support the strategy and development of the 
Company. The Chairman and Nominations Committee will 
continue to review and monitor the strength and objectivity of 
the Board and seek improvement. 
Succession planning is currently undertaken on an informal 
basis by the Chairman in consultation with the Board. The 
Board is satisfied that this is appropriate for this stage in the 
Company’s development. 
While the Chairman and Nominations Committee evaluate 
requirements for the Board, a formal evaluation process 
for the Board as a whole, as well as of its Committees and 
Directors, has not taken place in the year. The Company does 
not currently comply with the QCA Code in this respect.
Promote a corporate culture that is based on ethical 
values and behaviours 
Our ethics
The Company is committed to upholding high ethical 
standards and principles, both in letter and in spirit, 
throughout all of our operations. The Company aspires to, 
and encourages its staff to operate in a socially responsible 
manner, acting professionally at all times. 
The Company is committed to a strong ethical and values-
driven culture encompassing the highest standards of quality, 
honesty, openness and accountability, and understands 
that any issues counter to this culture could have an 

extremely negative impact on the business. The Company, 
its management, employees, contractors and partners have 
the responsibility of applying the highest standard of ethical 
business practices in all their relationships with shareholders, 
suppliers, and the general public.
Creating a fair and inclusive culture 
The Company promotes an inclusive, transparent and 
respectful culture. Led by the values of responsibility, 
excellence and continuous improvement, integrity and 
trustworthiness, cooperation and engagement, empathy 
and fairness they apply their skills and expertise every day to 
ensure we operate both responsibly and successfully.
The Company is an equal opportunity employer and seeks 
to hire, endorse and retain highly skilled people based on 
merit, competence, performance, and business needs. The 
Company is committed to employment policies which follow 
best practice, based on equal opportunities for all employees, 
irrespective of ethnic origin, religion, political opinion, gender, 
marital status, disability, age or sexual orientation. 
The Company communicates its corporate culture through 
staff presentations and inductions. To embody and 
promote sound ethical principles, the Board has endorsed 
the following key policies: Employee Handbook; Code of 
Business Conduct; Share Dealing Policy; Anti-Bribery and 
Corruption Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; and Health, Safety, 
Security and Environment Policy.
Share Dealing Policy
The Company has adopted a Market Abuse Regulation-
compliant share dealing policy for Directors and employees of 
the Company. The Directors consider that this share dealing 
policy is appropriate for the Company.  The Company takes 
all reasonable steps to ensure compliance with the share 
dealing policy by the Directors and employees.
Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE) Policy
The Company’s objectives include observing a high level of 
health, safety and security standards, developing our staff to 
their highest potential and being a good corporate citizen in 
Tanzania. The Company is committed to providing a safe and 
secure working environment for its employees and anyone 
doing work on the Company’s behalf. The Management Risk 
Committee reviews and makes recommendations concerning 
risk, health, safety and security issues.  HSSE is discussed at 
each scheduled Board meeting of the Company.
Whistleblowing Policy
The Company has a Whistleblowing Policy in place to assist 
employees, suppliers, contractors and others with the 
reporting of any malpractice or illegal act or omission by 
others. The policy is reviewed at least every two years or more 
often if necessary and is communicated to all employees. It 
was last reviewed in January 2020. 
Anti-Bribery and Corruption policy
The Company’s Anti-Bribery and Corruption policy formalises 
the Company’s zero-tolerance approach to bribery and 
corruption. The Company expects all employees, suppliers, 
contractors and consultants to conduct their day-to-day 
business activities in a fair, honest and ethical manner, and 
to be aware of and refer to the Anti-Bribery and Corruption 
Policy in all of their business activities worldwide and to 
conduct all business in compliance with it. The Company 
seeks to enforce effective systems to counter bribery, such 
as secondary authorisations for payments. We also expect 
and require high standards of behaviour from our partners.
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The Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy is reviewed at least 
every two years and is communicated to all employees. It was 
last reviewed in January 2020 and training for all employees 
will be provided during 2020.
Maintain governance structures and processes that 
are fit for purpose and support good decision-making 
by the Board 
The Board of Directors recognises the importance of applying 
the highest standards of corporate governance to enable 
effective and efficient decision making, and to assist the 
Directors in discharging their duty to promote the success 
of the company for the benefit of its shareholders. The Board 
is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls, the 
setting of appropriate policies on those controls, the regular 
assurance that the system is functioning effectively and that it 
is effective in managing business risk. The system of internal 
control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives. 
The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the Group’s internal 
control procedures, reviews the internal controls processes 
and risk management procedures and reports its conclusions 
and recommendations to the Board.
The Directors consider that the frequency of Board meetings 
and the information provided to the Board in relation to Group 
operations assists the identification, evaluation and management 
of significant risks relevant to its operations on a continuous 
basis.
Preparation and issue of financial reports to shareholders and 
the markets, including the consolidated financial statements, 
is overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Group’s 
financial reporting process is controlled using documented 
procedures. The process is supported by a Group finance 
team based in the UK and finance personnel in Tanzania who 
have responsibility and accountability to provide information in 
keeping with agreed policies. Aminex’s processes support the 
integrity and quality of data by arrangements for segregation 
of duties. Each reporting entity’s financial information is 
subject to scrutiny at reporting entity and Group level by the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The half-
year and annual consolidated reports are also reviewed by 
the Audit and Risk Committee in advance of being presented 
to the Board for review and approval. 
Other key policies and procedures include preparation of 
annual budgets for approval by the Board; ongoing review 
of expenditure and cashflow versus approved budget; 
establishment of appropriate cashflow management and 
treasury policies for the management of liquidity, currency 
and credit risk on financial assets and liabilities; delegation 
of authorities and bank mandates; regular management, 
committee and Board meetings to review operational and 
financial activities; recruitment of appropriately qualified 
and experienced staff to key financial and management 
positions; Management Risk Committee, risk management 
procedures and risk register to assist with the identification 
and management of risk.  
The Board reserves for itself a range of key decisions to 
ensure that it retains proper direction and control of the 
Company whilst delegating authority to the Chief Executive 
Officer who is responsible for the day to day management of 
the business. 

The following matters are reserved for the Board:
- 	 all matters which exceed the authority delegated to the 

Chief Executive Officer;
- 	 mergers and acquisitions transactions;
- 	 strategy, budgets and business plans;
- 	 audit, financial and other reporting;
- 	 changes in the capital structure of the company and the 

issue of shares or other securities by the Company;
- 	 policies and guidelines;
- 	 internal controls and governance;
- 	 appointment or removal of Directors and the Group 

Company Secretary;
- 	 establishment of sub-boards and committees;
- 	 appointment, re-appointment or removal of the auditors 

and any other corporate advisers.
The Company conducts a review of the Company’s 
governance framework each year and takes into account 
audit recommendations.
Communicate how the Company is governed and is 
performing by maintaining a dialogue with shareholders 
and other relevant stakeholders 
Aminex is committed to open communication with all its 
stakeholders. The Company communicates regularly with 
shareholders including the release of the interim and annual 
results and following significant developments. The Annual 
General Meeting is normally attended by all Directors. 
Shareholders, including private investors, are invited to ask 
questions on matters including the Group’s operations and 
performance and to meet with the Directors after the formal 
proceedings have ended.
The Group maintains a website (www.aminex-plc.com) 
on which all announcements, financial statements and 
other corporate information are published. The Directors 
are available to meet institutional shareholders for ad hoc 
discussions. The Senior Independent Director is available 
to meet with shareholders if they have concerns which 
contact through the normal channels of the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer has failed to resolve or for which such 
contact is inappropriate.
Copies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are 
issued to all shareholders who have requested them and 
copies are available on the Group’s website www.aminex-
plc.com. 
The Board discloses the result of general meetings by way 
of announcement and in order to improve transparency, the 
Board has committed to announcing proxy voting results in 
future and disclosing them on the Company’s website. In the 
event that a significant portion of voters have voted against a 
resolution, an explanation of what actions it intends to take 
to understand the reasons behind the vote will be included. 
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Audit and Risk Committee
Composition of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises two members, 
both of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors 
including the chair, Linda Beal, who is considered by the 
Board to have recent and relevant financial experience. 
During the year, the Audit and Risk Committee comprised 
Keith Phair (Chair) (until 4 February 2019), Linda Beal 
(Chair) (from 5 February 2019), Tom Mackay (until 23 May 
2019) and John Bell (from 24 May 2019). All members of 
the Committee are deemed to be financially competent 
and suitably qualified. The terms of reference for the Audit 
and Risk Committee are available for inspection on the 
Company’s website www.aminex-plc.com.
Activities of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee meets formally at least four 
times a year and otherwise as required and also meets with 
the Company’s external auditor at least twice a year. The 
Audit and Risk Committee met five times during the year. 
All Directors are invited to attend, and four of the Committee 
meetings were attended by the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Finance Director or Chief Financial Officer. The external 
auditor also attended part of some of the meetings, as 
required and met separately with the Committee Chair.
The main roles and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee are to monitor the integrity of the Company’s 
financial statements, review key financial reporting judgements 
and estimates and review and monitor the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems. 
The Committee also reviews and approves the audit and 
non-audit fees due to the Group’s external auditor, approves 
the external auditor’s letter of engagement and reviews the 
external auditor’s report to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
In undertaking this review, the Audit and Risk Committee 
discussed with management and the external auditor the 
critical accounting policies and judgements that had been 
applied. In addition, it considers the financial performance, 
position and prospects of the Group and the Company and 
ensures they are properly monitored and reported on. It 
oversees the relationship with the external auditor (including 
advising on their appointment, agreeing the scope of the 
audit and reviewing the audit findings). The Audit and Risk 
Committee is also responsible for the appointment of the 
external auditor and during 2019 conducted an audit tender 
for the appointment of a new external auditor. During the year, 
the Audit and Risk Committee discharged its responsibilities 
as follows:
Integrity of the financial statements
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the interim and 
annual financial statements prior to Board approval, the 
appropriateness of the Group’s key accounting policies, key 
judgements and estimates adopted in preparing the financial 
statements and the potential impact on the Group’s financial 
statements of certain matters such as impairment of non-
current asset values.
The Audit and Risk Committee determined that the key risks 
of misstatement of the Group’s financial statements related 
to the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, the 
carrying value of production assets held under property, plant 
and equipment, the recoverability of trade receivables, the 
recognition of contingent liabilities, including commitments 
and certain amounts sought by the TPDC, and going concern.
These issues were discussed with management during the 

year when the Committee considered the half-year financial 
statements in September 2019 and the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 in April 2020. These 
matters and how they were addressed are set out in further 
detail below:
Carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets
The total carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets 
at 31 December 2019 is US$49.0 million. The Audit and 
Risk Committee assessed the carrying value of exploration 
and evaluation assets by applying the industry-specific 
indicators of impairment set out in IFRS 6 “Exploration for 
and Evaluation of Mineral Resources” along with a review 
of any other potential indicators of impairment. The Audit 
and Risk Committee considered the expiry of and prospect 
of extensions to each licence, anticipated continuance of 
activity and planned expenditure and whether there was any 
indication that the carrying cost was unlikely to be recovered 
from a successful development or sale.  
The Audit and Risk Committee considered the recoverability 
of the carrying value of the Ruvuma PSA, which contains the 
Mtwara Licence and Lindi Licence. The Committee noted the 
Lindi licence expired in January 2017, and although the expiry 
of an exploration licence would ordinarily be an indicator of 
impairment the Ruvuma PSA states that there is no ringfencing 
of exploration costs between licences and therefore the cost 
pool for the Lindi Licence was considered recoverable from 
the Mtwara Licence under the Ruvuma PSA. In December 
2019, the Tanzanian Government issued the new Petroleum 
Regulations, including The Petroleum (Cost Recovery 
Accounting) Regulations 2019, which state that costs shall 
be ringfenced to each licence where there is more than one 
licence in a contract area. There is an economic stabilisation 
clause in the Ruvuma PSA, however as there is now 
uncertainty as to the impact of The Petroleum (Cost Recovery 
Accounting) Regulations 2019, the Committee concurred 
with management that the Lindi Licence exploration costs 
of US$10.4 million should be provided for until either a new 
PSA is granted for the Lindi Licence or the Company is able to 
demonstrate with sufficient certainty that The Petroleum (Cost 
Recovery Accounting) Regulations 2019 should not impact the 
recovery of Lindi costs under the Mtwara Licence.
The Audit and Risk Committee were satisfied no further 
provision for impairment was required against the remaining 
carrying value of the Ruvuma PSA. The Committee 
considered the Farm-Out Agreement under which all 
conditions precedent except for Government approval have 
been satisfied in assessing the conclusion by management 
that no additional adjustments to the impairment provision for 
exploration and evaluation assets is required for the period 
under review. 
In 2018, the Group’s Nyuni Area PSA asset was fully impaired 
following notification from the Tanzanian authorities that the 
Nyuni licence would end in October 2019 and to withhold all 
work on the licence pending a review of the PSA. An application 
for a second extension period of three years was submitted 
during the year, but has not yet been approved.  Accordingly, 
the Committee confirmed management’s conclusion that the 
Nyuni Area PSA assets should continue to be fully impaired at 
31 December 2019 and any expenditure related to the Nyuni 
Area PSA in 2019 will be fully provided against. 
Carrying value of property plant and equipment
The Audit and Risk Committee assessed the carrying value 
of the development asset at Kiliwani North in Tanzania. 
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The Committee considered the value-in-use based on a 
management estimate which itself is based on independent 
resource estimates for the Kiliwani North Development 
Licence and compared these valuations with the expected 
recoverable value of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”). The 
Committee took into consideration the delays incurred during 
the year in seeking approvals for remediation work to renew 
production at the Kiliwani North-1 well and the potential for 
continued delays. The Committee reviewed and challenged 
the assumptions used in management’s assessment, 
discussed these in detail with senior management and, 
based on the above, concurred with management that 
there was a partial impairment on the Kiliwani North CGU of 
US$0.8 million. The Committee continues to closely monitor 
the progress of the well remediation programme and any 
new information available to provide increased certainty on 
the assumptions used in the value-in-use valuation. The 
total carrying value of producing and development assets 
classified as property, plant and equipment assets at 31 
December 2019 is US$1.6 million. 
Carrying value of intra-group loans 
Following the impairment of the Group’s exploration and 
evaluation assets and Kiliwani North CGU in 2019, the partial 
impairment provision for the Company’s intercompany 
loan due from its subsidiary Ndovu Resources Limited was 
increased. The Audit and Risk Committee assessed the 
carrying value of the Company’s intra-group loans with its 
subsidiaries and management’s recommendation for a further 
increase in the impairment provision. The assessment took 
into consideration the ability of the subsidiary undertakings to 
service the loans that are repayable on demand and are not 
subject to interest.  
Recoverability of the TPDC trade receivable
The Audit and Risk Committee considered the status of the 
TPDC trade receivables balance of US$7.8 million, of which 
Aminex’s net share amounted to US$3.2 million, due from 
the TPDC for invoiced gas sales and interest for late payment 
thereon. The Committee noted that the delay in settlement of 
the balance was connected with requests from the TPDC for 
certain payments that the TPDC is seeking to offset against 
the trade receivables balance. The Committee noted that as 
disclosed in Note 15, the TPDC has requested payment of 
certain amounts totalling US$6.0 million for liabilities arising 
on revenues from gas sales, of which Aminex’s share is 
estimated to be US$2.7 million. Of the amount claimed, 
Aminex has already accrued for the liabilities it considers 
appropriate based on its own calculations of amounts due 
as at 31 December 2019. Aminex has advised the TPDC that 
it does not accept the balance of the claims, which include 
computational inaccuracies. The Committee took into account 
third party legal advice that supports the Company’s position. 
The TPDC has delayed settling its trade receivable balance 
while discussions continue. However, as the trade receivable 
balance for gas sales is not disputed Aminex expects to 
recover the full amount. In accordance with IFRS 9, Aminex 
calculated its expected credit loss based on its exposure to 
credit risk on its trade receivables at the end of the period and 
recognised an impairment on trade receivables of US$582,000 
charged to administrative expenses in the income statement. 
This expected credit loss (“ECL”) reflected the continued 
delays by the TPDC to settle amounts due as discussions 
continue in respect of amounts claimed by the TPDC. The 
ECL is calculated on the full amount of US$7.8 million due to 

the Group for gas sales. Any credit loss would be reduced by 
the liability due to the Group’s joint venture partners in respect 
of amounts due. The Audit and Risk Committee concurred 
with management that as the trade receivable balance is not 
disputed the trade receivable balance should be recognised 
in full subject to the ECL set out in Note 15. 
Recognition of commitments, guarantees and 
contingent liabilities
The Audit and Risk Committee considered the ongoing tax 
audit covering the period from 2013 to 2015 with the Tanzania 
Revenue Authority (“TRA”). The assessment took into account 
relevant tax legislation and local tax consultant advice. The 
Committee further considered and assessed the status 
of management’s discussions with the TPDC concerning 
requests for payments of certain amounts sought by the 
TPDC under profit share arrangements (see Note 24). The 
assessment took into account third party legal advice. The 
Committee concluded that adequate accruals had been 
made and the disclosure of the matter as a contingent liability 
was appropriate. The Committee also reviewed the other 
guarantees, commitments and contingent liabilities set out in 
Note 24 and considered them to be appropriate.
Going concern
The Audit and Risk Committee considered the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The Committee reviewed and 
challenged the cash flow projections and sensitivity analysis 
performed, together with the key assumptions on which they 
were based, prepared by management for the 14-month 
period from the date of approval of the financial statements 
to 30 June 2021. 
The Committee considered the recoverability of and expected 
timing of receivables amounting to US$7.8 million, of which 
Aminex’s share is US$3.2 million, due from the TPDC. The 
Committee took into account the notification for payment of 
US$6.0 million by the TPDC received on 11 April 2018 (see 
Note 15), which is still under discussion with the TPDC as 
Aminex has notified the TPDC that it does not accept some 
of the claims, together with more recent correspondence and 
external legal advice on certain matters arising therefrom. 
Due to these uncertainties, the TPDC receivables were not 
taken account of in the cash forecast for prudency.
The Committee reviewed the timing of the expected 
completion of the remaining conditions precedent relating to 
the Farm-Out and the consideration of US$5.0 million plus 
recovery of back costs since the effective date of the Farm-
Out Agreement of 15 March 2018 from APT payable by APT 
on completion and the repayment of the loan facility from 
APT due on completion. Further, the Committee considered 
the requirement to fund the US$2.2 million capital gains tax 
(“CGT”) due on the Farm-Out transaction and the non-binding 
heads of terms for a $2 million short-term loan from ARA to 
pay this CGT, repayable out of the Farm-Out consideration. 
The Committee assessed the risks of and implications arising 
from non-completion of the transaction, and the terms of the 
Advance from ARA, which are set out in Note 17.
The Committee noted the Tanzanian tax assessment received 
in relation to 2013 to 2015 as set out in Note 24 and that 
development of the Group’s other assets in Tanzania, including 
the Nyuni Area PSA commitment as set out in Note 24, will 
require the sourcing of additional funding and concluded that 
there is significant uncertainty as regards the ability of Aminex 
to raise funds in the current market conditions.  
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The Committee was satisfied that it was appropriate for the 
financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis 
assuming that the Group secures a short-term loan from ARA 
for the CGT liability of US$2.2 million and that the Farm-Out 
completes. However the Committee also concluded that there 
is no certainty that the Farm-Out will complete or that the 
Group will secure a short-term loan to settle the CGT charge 
or that the Group could raise additional funds. Therefore the 
Committee concluded there existed a material uncertainty 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
accordingly the Group may not be able to realise its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 
The Committee reviewed management’s cost mitigation 
plans in the event that the Group was unable to complete 
the Farm-Out and concluded that the plans were appropriate. 
Misstatements
Management confirmed to the Audit and Risk Committee 
that they were not aware of any material misstatements or 
immaterial misstatements made intentionally to achieve a 
particular presentation.
Discussions with the auditor
The Audit and Risk Committee has received and discussed a 
report from the external auditor on the findings from the audit, 
including those relating to the risks noted above. 
Conclusion
After reviewing the presentations and reports from 
management and taking into account views expressed by 
the external auditor, the Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied 
that the financial statements appropriately address the 
critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty (both in respect of amounts reported and the 
disclosures). The Audit and Risk Committee is also satisfied 
that the significant assumptions used for determining 
the value of assets and liabilities have been appropriately 
scrutinised and challenged and are sufficiently robust.
Audit tendering and rotation
The Committee acknowledges the provisions relating to audit 
reforms and audit tendering contained in the UK Corporate 
Governance Code and the EU Directive passed by the 
European parliament effective from June 2016. KPMG had 
been the Group’s auditor for over 30 years and the audit was 
subject to mandatory rotation by no later than 2023. The 
Committee considered that it would be good governance to 
seek tenders for the audit for the year ended 31 December 
2019. The Company held introductory meetings with four 
audit firms and three of these were formally invited to tender. 
All three firms accepted the Company’s invitation to tender 
and submitted written proposals. Oral presentations took 
place in September 2019 and were assessed alongside 
written submissions against the set of predetermined criteria 
resulting in the Audit and Risk Committee recommending 
the preference of BDO to the Board for its consideration. 
In October 2019, the Board endorsed the Audit and Risk 
Committee’s preference and appointed BDO to become the 
Group’s statutory auditor for the financial year commencing 1 
January 2019. The appointment remains subject to approval 
by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting.
Work by and independence of external auditor
The Audit and Risk Committee has a policy to monitor 
the level of audit and non-audit services provided by the 
Group’s external auditor. This policy sets out that non-audit 
services, which need to be agreed in advance, are normally 
limited to assignments that are closely related to the annual 

audit or where the work is of such a nature that a detailed 
understanding of the Group is necessary. An analysis of the 
fees paid to the external auditor in respect of audit and non-
audit work is included in Note 5 of the financial statements. In 
addition to processes and safeguards put in place to ensure 
segregation of audit and non-audit roles, as part of the 
assurance process in relation to the audit, the external auditor 
is required to confirm to the Audit and Risk Committee that 
they have both the appropriate independence and objectivity 
to allow them to continue to serve the members of the Group. 
This is the first year with BDO as auditor and BDO did not 
provide any non-audit services during the year. No matters 
of concern were identified by the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee invites the Chief Executive 
Officer, Finance Director and Chief Financial Officer and 
representatives of the external auditor to the meetings as 
appropriate. Members of the Audit and Risk Committee have 
an opportunity to meet in private without the presence of 
the Chief Executive Officer, Finance Director, Chief Financial 
Officer or the external auditor. 
The Audit and Risk Committee also has an opportunity to 
discuss in private any matters with the external auditor 
without the presence of the Chief Executive Officer, Finance 
Director or Chief Financial Officer.
Internal audit function
The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the necessity for the 
establishment of an internal audit function. At present, the 
Committee does not consider that an internal audit function 
is required because of the small size of the Group and the 
direct involvement of senior management in setting and 
monitoring controls.
Internal controls and risk management
During the year, the Audit and Risk Committee undertook 
a review of controls and procedures and oversaw the 
establishment of additional risk management procedures, 
changes in the finance team to meet the Group’s current 
needs more cost effectively, the Chief Financial Officer’s 
review of finance department procedures in Tanzania and 
the implementation of cost mitigations and detailed cashflow 
planning. More information on internal controls and risk 
management procedures and key areas of risk for the Group 
are set out below. 
Remuneration Committee
During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprised 
Tom Mackay (Chair) (until 23 May 2019), Linda Beal (Chair) 
(from 9 January 2019 and Chair from 24 May 2019), Keith 
Phair (until 4 February 2019) and John Bell (from 24 May 2019). 
The Remuneration Committee met three times during the 
year to consider the remuneration of the Group’s Executive 
Directors and the granting of options under the Aminex PLC 
Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”). Options were granted 
in February, June and November 2019 to Directors and staff 
and, subsequent to the year-end, in February 2020. Details 
of Directors’ remuneration and options held is set out in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.
Nominations Committee
During the year, the Nominations Committee comprised John 
Bell (Chair), Tom Mackay, Sultan Al-Ghaithi (until 4 September 
2019) and Linda Beal (from 24 May 2019). The Nominations 
Committee met once during the year to consider the 
nomination by Eclipse Investments LLC of Robert Ambrose 
as a Non-Executive Director in place of Sultan Al-Ghaithi. 
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Internal control
The Directors are responsible for the Group’s system of 
internal controls, the setting of appropriate policies on those 
controls, the regular assurance that the system is functioning 
effectively and that it is effective in managing business risk.
The system of internal control is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. 
The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the Group’s internal 
control procedures, reviews the internal controls processes 
and risk management procedures and reports its conclusions 
and recommendations to the Board.
The Directors consider that the frequency of Board meetings 
and the information provided to the Board in relation to 
Group operations assists the identification, evaluation and 
management of significant risks relevant to its operations on 
a continual basis.
Preparation and issue of financial reports to shareholders and 
the markets, including the consolidated financial statements, 
is overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Group’s 
financial reporting process is controlled using documented 
procedures. The process is supported by a Group finance 
team based in the UK and finance personnel in Tanzania who 
have responsibility and accountability to provide information in 
keeping with agreed policies. Aminex’s processes support the 
integrity and quality of data by arrangements for segregation 
of duties. Each reporting entity’s financial information is 
subject to scrutiny at reporting entity and Group level by the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The half-
year and annual consolidated reports are also reviewed by the 
Audit and Risk Committee in advance of being presented to 
the Board for its review and approval. 
Other key policies and procedures include preparation of 
annual budgets for approval by the Board; ongoing review 
of expenditure and cashflow versus approved budget; 
establishment of appropriate cashflow management and 
treasury policies for the management of liquidity, currency 
and credit risk on financial assets and liabilities; delegation 
of authorities and bank mandates; regular management, 
committee and Board meetings to review operational and 
financial activities; recruitment of appropriately qualified 
and experienced staff to key financial and management 
positions; Management Risk Committee, risk management 
procedures and risk register to assist with the identification 
and management of risk.  

Management review risks and update the risk register in regular 
Management Risk Committee meetings and the Audit and 
Risk Committee review the risk register at least twice annually. 
The principal risks and uncertainties are set out below.
The Audit and Risk Committee also ensures that appropriate 
procedures, resources and controls are in place to comply 
with the UKLA Listing Rules, Market Abuse Regulation, Ireland 
and UK companies’ legislation and monitors compliance 
thereof.  There are anti-bribery and corruption, whistleblowing 
and environmental policies, a Code of Business Conduct and 
share dealing policy which are considered appropriate for the 
Company.
Following the monitoring and review of the internal control 
process and the risk management procedures, the Board 
considers that the system of internal control operated 
appropriately during the year and up to the date of signing the 
Annual Report.
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Group’s strategic objectives for its principal activities, 
being the production and development of and the exploration 
for oil and gas reserves, are only achievable if certain risks 
are managed effectively. The Board has overall accountability 
for determining the type and level of risk it is prepared to 
take. The Board has been assisted by the Management 
Risk Committee, which seeks to identify risks for Audit and 
Risk Committee and Board consideration and the Audit and 
Risk Committee which monitors risks, the responsibility for 
those risks and how they are managed. The following are 
considered to be the key risks facing the Group that may 
affect the Group’s business, although there are other risks 
which the Group currently deems to be less material that may 
impact the Group’s performance.
Strategic Risks
Development of assets to production – The Group may 
fail to expand through the exploration and development of 
its licences for which it acts as operator with joint venture 
partners. The failure to fund Aminex’s commitments or of joint 
venture partners to pay their working interests may impact 
on Aminex’s strategy. As noted above, Aminex has entered 
into a Farm-Out agreement to accelerate the development 
of and production from the Ruvuma PSA acreage for which 
shareholder approval was obtained at an extraordinary 
general meeting held on 4 January 2019, but which remains 
subject to Government approval.
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Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The table below sets out the attendance record of each Director at scheduled Board and Committee meetings during 2019.

	 Board (Main)	 Audit and 	 Remuneration	 Nominations
		  Risk Committee	 Committee	 Committee
Number of meetings	 8	 5	 3	 1
	 Meetings attended	 Meetings attended 	 Meetings attended	 Meetings attended
Sultan Al-Ghaithi¹	 5	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a
Robert Ambrose²	 2	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a
Linda Beal	 8	 5	 2	 1
John Bell3 	 7	 3	 2	 1
Jay Bhattacherjee4	 3	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a
Ola Fjeld 	 7	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a
Tom Mackay5	 8	 2	 2	 1
Keith Phair6	 1	 n/a	 1	 n/a
Max Williams7	 7	 n/a	 n/a 	 n/a

Key: n/a  Not applicable (where a Director was not a member of the Committee) 
1) Retired 4 September 2019, 2) Appointed 5 September 2019, 3) Recused from one meeting due to conflict of interest, 4) Retired 23 May 2019,
5) Appointed CEO 24 May 2019, 6) Retired 4 February 2019, 7) Retired 31 October 2019

During 2019, certain Directors who were not committee members attended meetings of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration 
Committees by invitation. These details have not been included in the table above.
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Mitigation – Aminex seeks to develop its assets to derive 
production and the growth of cash generative business 
streams such that it can meet its other commitments with 
internally-generated funds. The Board considers that the 
focus of Aminex’s activities on development projects, 
with exploration potential, will provide value creation for 
shareholders rather than an exploration-led strategy. The 
Group identifies joint venture partners who are capable of 
contributing to operations. Pending completion of the Farm-
Out, Aminex has maintained a majority interest in each of its 
licences which offers greater upside potential to shareholders 
or the possibility of further farm-out opportunities to assist 
with funding. Aminex has a reasonable expectation that 
Government approval required for the Farm-Out will be 
received by the long stop date of 30 June 2020.
Financing risk – Difficult global market conditions and the 
volatility in commodity prices due more recently to COVID-19 
and the oil price drop may impact the Group’s operations and 
in particular the ability to raise equity or debt finance to meet 
its licence commitments and develop its assets or to allow 
the Group to enter into transactions on its assets.  The Group 
will need to raise funding or find a partner to meet its licence 
commitments for the Nyuni Area PSA. The Group has applied 
for the Second Extension Period of three years together with 
a request for an amendment to the existing work programme 
obligation for the licence area and a new proposal for this 
further extension period.  
Mitigation – The Group reviews global conditions and 
manages its exposure to risk through minimising capital 
expenditure on high risk assets and will seek to develop 
fixed price gas projects. Aminex entered into the Farm-Out 
to access the financial and technical resources of APT and 
therefore to enable the earlier development of its Ruvuma 
asset. The Company raised approximately US$2.40 million 
before expenses in February 2019 through a placement of 
new ordinary shares in the capital of Aminex at a price of Stg 
1.45p per share and actively engages with potential funders 
and partners.  Aminex monitors costs closely and will seek 
to take advantage of the low-cost environment for capital 
commitments where possible. Cost mitigations have been 
implemented in the year and subsequent to the year end to 
reduce ongoing G&A expenses. 
Operational Risks
Maintaining licence interests – The Group may be unable 
to meet or agree amendments to its work programme 
commitments which may give rise either to minimum work 
obligations needing to be paid or the implementation of default 
procedures against the Group as operator which may lead 
to a licence being rescinded or financial penalties. In respect 
to the Nyuni Area PSA, the Group received notification from 
the Tanzanian authorities that Nyuni Area Licence period was 
to end in October 2019, earlier than expected by the Group, 
which led to impairment of the Nyuni asset in 2018. In the 
case of the Ruvuma PSA, Aminex has been granted a one 
year extension to the Mtwara Licence in April 2020. The 
grant of new licences or extensions to new licences are at 
the discretion of the Tanzanian authorities. The TPDC holds 
security over up to 15% of profit share for the Kiliwani North 
Development Licence in the event that part or all of the work 
commitments under the terms of the Ruvuma PSA relating to 
either the Mtwara or Lindi Licences are not fulfilled. 
Mitigation – Aminex is committed to fulfilling its obligations 
and seeks extensions to licence periods and deferrals of or 
amendments to production sharing terms through negotiation 
with the TPDC in order to ensure that commitments are met 
even if not in the original timeframe expected. The Company 

was granted the extension to the Mtwara Licence over the 
Ntorya location in April 2020. Aminex intends to meet its 
commitments, with each exploration well drilled on the 
Ruvuma PSA reducing the TPDC’s security over the Kiliwani 
North Development Licence.  ARA has been supporting 
the Group in discussions with the Tanzanian authorities 
on the Ruvuma PSA. The Group has applied for a Second 
Extension Period for the Nyuni Area PSA with reduced work 
commitments, which has been supported by both the TPDC 
and PURA and is awaiting Ministerial approval.
Exploration risk – Exploration and development activities 
may be delayed or adversely affected by factors including in 
particular: climatic and oceanographic conditions; equipment 
failure; performance of suppliers and exposure to rapid cost 
increases; unknown geological conditions resulting in dry or 
uneconomic wells or risk of blowout; remoteness of location.
Mitigation – Aminex mitigates exploration risk by reducing the 
risk of drilling failure through conducting appropriate studies 
including the acquisition, processing and interpretation of 
seismic data. For drilling operations, the Group contracts 
with international and local service providers with substantial 
industry experience and safety procedures according to 
Aminex’s own high standards. 
Production risks – Operational activities may be delayed or 
adversely affected by factors including: blowouts; reservoir 
performance; unusual or unexpected geological conditions; 
performance of joint venture partners on non-operated and 
operated properties; seepages or leaks resulting in substantial 
environmental pollution; increased operational costs; 
uncertainty of oil and gas resource estimates; production, 
marketing and transportation conditions; actions of host 
governments or other regulatory authorities.  The Company is 
awaiting final approval to carry out remedial work on Kiliwani 
North-1 that may involve down-hole operational risks and 
which may not guarantee additional production. Although 
approval is expected there is no firm timeline on when it will 
be granted.
Mitigation – Although not currently in a production phase, 
Aminex develops, implements and maintains procedures in 
order to limit the risk of operational failures on production 
assets. In the past, through its gas sales agreement, Aminex 
had an agreed mechanism to enable reservoirs to be 
produced optimally while seeking to meet the requirements 
of the purchaser and thereby maximising resources. The 
Company can take several possible actions for remediation in 
the near future to maximise recoverable resources.
Compliance Risks
Political risks – Aminex may be subject to political, 
economic, regulatory, legal, and other uncertainties (including 
but not limited to terrorism, military repression, war or other 
unrest). There are risks of nationalisation or expropriation of 
property, changes in and interpretation of national laws and 
energy policies which could lead to unanticipated payment 
demands. The Tanzanian government passed three laws 
in July 2017, affecting the mining and energy sectors - the 
Natural Wealth and Resources (Permanent Sovereignty) Act; 
the Written Laws (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act; and the 
Natural Wealth and Resources Contracts (Review and Re-
Negotiation of Unconscionable Terms). This new legislation 
includes the right of the Tanzanian authorities to renegotiate 
‘unconscionable terms’ in agreements. New laws were 
passed in December 2019 relating to cost recoverability. 
The Tanzanian authorities are currently reviewing a number 
of PSAs. Tanzanian government elections will take place in 
October 2020.
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Mitigation – Aminex monitors international and national 
political risk in relation to its interests, liaising closely with 
governmental and other key stakeholders in Tanzania. The 
Company has reviewed and continues to monitor the new 
legislation and the enforcement of such legislation. Based on 
the Board’s current understanding of this new legislation and 
given the existing terms and conditions of our PSAs, including 
economic stabilisation provisions in certain of our PSAs, 
it is unclear if there will be any material impact on Aminex’s 
operations in Tanzania. Aminex is actively seeking to spread 
asset and regional risk in order to diversify its portfolio and 
to reduce exposure to one business or region via farm-outs.
Health, safety, security and environmental – The main 
health, safety and security risks for the Group generally occur 
during drilling operations and from production operations, 
although it is recognised that such risks can arise even during 
a non-operational phase.
Mitigation – The Group develops, implements and maintains 
effective health and safety procedures, including management 
of environmental issues and security, to ensure robust 
safeguards for well control and drilling operations are in place. 
The Group has appropriate medical and other insurances in 
place to protect against health, safety and security issues. 
Legal compliance – The Group could suffer penalties 
or damage to reputation through failure to comply with 
legislation or other regulations, in particular those over bribery 
and corruption, and these risks may increase when operating 
in certain regions of the world.
Mitigation – Aminex manages risk of legal compliance failure 
through the implementation and monitoring of high standards to 
minimise the risk of corrupt or anti-competitive behaviour. The 
Company has adopted an updated anti-bribery and corruption 
policy and all staff will have relevant training during 2020.
Financial Risks
Credit risk – All of the Group’s revenues arising from the sale 
of natural gas to date has been to one customer, the TPDC, 
which is the gas aggregator and operator of the National Gas 
Pipeline in Tanzania. Sales of natural gas and the credit terms 
relating to the sales are governed by a gas sales agreement. 
The recoverability and timing of receipts are therefore 
dependent on one customer. As at 31 December 2019, the 
Kiliwani North partners in jointly controlled operations were 
owed US$7.8 million in respect of gas sales and interest on 
overdue invoices. Delays in receipt of these receivables have 
arisen largely in relation to various requests for payment made 
by the TPDC which the Company has advised the TPDC it 
does not accept and for which the parties are in discussion 
(see Note 24). 
Mitigation – The credit risk arising from future sales to 
the TPDC can be mitigated by a letter of credit which is 
required under the gas sales agreement once a commercial 
operations date has been declared. No such declaration has 
been made in relation to Kiliwani North-1. Aminex has been 
regularly engaging with the TPDC  to obtain payment of the 
outstanding payments. 
Cost recovery risk – Under its PSAs the Group is entitled to 
recover certain costs incurred during its operations, as part 
of its economic return on its investment. There is a risk that 
not all prior costs will be recognised as recoverable by the 
relevant Tanzanian authorities. This may be due to a different 
application of laws by the authorities than that applied by the 
operator or changes in the law and practice since the date 
that costs were incurred.  If the Tanzanian authorities do not 
accept the Group’s position on prior costs this will impact the 
economic return on the assets and hence the profitability of 
the Group.

Mitigation – The Group continues to liaise and attempt to 
influence the relevant authorities to apply the correct laws and 
practice. The Group maintains clear and correct procedures 
for the entering into and filing of contracts. 
Currency risk – Although the reporting currency is the US 
dollar, which is the currency most commonly used in the pricing 
of petroleum commodities and for significant exploration and 
production costs, a significant proportion of the Group’s other 
expenditure (in particular central administrative costs) is made 
in local currencies (as are the Company’s equity fundings), 
and fluctuations in exchange rates may significantly impact 
the results of the Group and the results between periods, thus 
creating currency exposure. 
Mitigation – The Group has a policy of minimising exposure 
to foreign currency rates by holding the majority of the Group’s 
funds in US dollars. 
Impact on the Group of COVID-19
The global social and economic impact of COVID-19 has 
been significant. Uncertainty remains as to the long-term 
implications of the pandemic as we continue to closely monitor 
governmental guidance to the crisis in our various locations. 
The oil price has been hit particularly hard, with Brent falling 
dramatically in the first quarter of 2020 reaching a mid-
April low of under $20 per barrel, initially as a result of the 
production level dispute between Russia and Saudi Arabia 
and subsequently from the fall in global demand as a result of 
the international restrictions on movement. With the Group’s 
business focus on gas exploration and evaluation and 
fixed-price sales contracts, it is shielded against the current 
fluctuations in the global oil price. 
The first quarter of 2020 has seen the material drop in global 
equities as a result of the pandemic coupled with the drop in 
oil price impacting the sector, which the Group has not been 
immune to despite not being an oil producer. The Directors 
recognise that the current macro-economic environment 
may result in limited or more expensive sources of funding. 
Continued progress has been made towards closing the 
Farm-Out transaction which, upon completion, will secure 
further funds for the Group. Although our Farm-Out partner 
is also likely to be impacted by current events, the Group 
remains confident in closing the transaction and its ability to 
fund its obligations under the Farm-Out. 
The Group has reported previously on measures it has taken 
since 2019 to significantly reduce G&A costs. Additional steps 
continue to be made to further reduce costs and enable the 
Group to best position itself, to manage the potential longer-
term impacts of the pandemic, whilst it focuses in the near-
term on fiscal, financial and regulatory matters. 
It is likely that if the restriction on movement continues for 
a significant period, there may be a delay in the Group’s 
operations in Tanzania as access to sites, personnel and 
equipment may not be possible. The Group will consequently 
carefully review any capital asset investment decisions and 
take further action to reduce costs if necessary.  
In these unprecedented times, clearly the priority for the 
Group remains the health and wellbeing of our employees and 
wider stakeholders. 
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Going concern basis
The financial statements of the Group are prepared on a going 
concern basis.  
The Directors have given careful consideration to the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern through review of cash 
flow forecasts prepared by management for the period to 30 
June 2021, review of the key assumptions on which these 
are based and sensitivity analysis. The Directors have taken 
into account the Farm-Out, which is an assignment of a 50% 
interest in the Ruvuma PSA to APT, for which shareholder 
approval was obtained at an extraordinary general meeting 
held on 4 January 2019 and which has a long stop date of 
30 June 2020. While the conditions precedent within the 
control of Aminex and APT have been satisfied, the Farm-Out 
remains subject to certain government approvals. Under the 
terms of the Farm-Out Agreement, on completion the Group 
will receive US$5 million in cash consideration plus payment 
for interim costs incurred on the Ruvuma PSA since 15 March 
2018, the effective date of the Farm-Out. On 12 November 
2019, Aminex and APT signed a funding agreement whereby 
APT has agreed to provide a US$3 million advance in 
instalments to the Company, prior to the Completion of the 
Farm-Out (the “Advance”). US$2 million of the Advance has 
been drawn down as at 30 April 2020. The US$5 million cash 
consideration will settle the advance funding immediately on 
Completion. The capital gains tax (“CGT”) payable on the 
Farm-Out amounts to US$2.2 million and the Company is in 
advanced negotiations with ARA for a US$2 million short-term 
loan to pay this tax and has a signed non-binding heads of 
terms. The CGT payment is a prerequisite to the Ministry of 
Energy approval of the Farm-Out. On completion of the Farm-
Out, the Advance and the short-term loan will be immediately 
repaid to ARA out of the Farm-Out cash consideration. 
Trade receivables of US$7.8 million, of which Aminex’s net 
share is US$3.2 million, have not been taken into account in 
the cash flow forecast due to the claims for certain amounts 
by the TPDC, set out in Note 24 to the financial statements. 
Although this trade receivable is due, the TPDC continue to 
delay payment until a resolution is reached in respect of the 
claims and the Directors consider it prudent not to take this 
receivable amount into consideration of the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. As disclosed in Note 24, the 
Group received a tax assessment from the TRA of US$2.2 
million in relation to a prior period audit related to 2013 to 
2015 which is excluded from the cash forecast as any cash 
outflow during the going concern period is considered 
remote. If the tax assessment finding went against the Group 
it is likely additional funding would be required to settle any 
potential liability. 
The Group implemented cost cuts during 2019 to reduce 
its G&A expenditure and is currently in the process of 
implementing further cost reduction measures to preserve 
cash in response to depressed market conditions due to 
COVID-19 and the oil price fall. 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
will receive the short-term loan from ARA to pay the CGT on 
the Farm-Out and be able to complete the Farm-Out with 
APT and repay the Advance and short-term funding out of 
the consideration. Based on this expectation, the Directors 
concluded that the Group would have sufficient resources to 
continue as a going concern and meet its obligations as and 
when they fall due for a period of not less than 12 months from 
the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements 
and consequently the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. 

However, there is no certainty that the Group will obtain 
the short-term loan to settle the US$2.2 million CGT or that 
the Farm-Out with APT will complete as it remains subject 
to Tanzania government approval. If the Farm-Out does not 
complete, the Group will need to seek additional funding. 
In addition, development of the Group’s other assets in 
Tanzania will require the sourcing of additional funding. This 
includes the Nyuni Area PSA where the Group has applied 
for the licence to be extended on a revised work programme, 
as disclosed in Note 24. The Kiliwani North Development 
Licence has no work programme commitments. The impact 
of COVID-19 in Tanzania is uncertain and, depending on 
the measures taken to combat the pandemic locally, could 
adversely impact the completion of the Farm-Out. There is 
also significant uncertainty as regards the ability of Aminex 
to raise funds in the current market conditions due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the depressed oil price. These may 
result in the Company having to raise funds at whatever terms 
are available at the time. 
These matters indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If the Farm-Out does not 
complete, and the Group cannot raise additional funding to 
meet licence commitments or potential tax assessment, or the 
Group is unable to renegotiate or defer commitments on its 
Licence interests, the Group will be unable to realise its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments 
that would be necessary if this basis were inappropriate.  
 
On behalf of the Board,
Linda Beal

Director 
30 April 2020

Corporate Governance continued
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
In preparing this Report, the Remuneration Committee has followed the provisions of the QCA Code published in April 2018, 
unless otherwise stated.

Following a review of its remuneration policy by an independent external consultancy in 2017, and subsequent recommendation 
by the Remuneration Committee, it was resolved that the Executive Directors’ remuneration package should have a combination 
of the following components:

•	 Base Salary;
•	 Annual Performance Bonus Award; and 
•	 Award of Options under the Aminex PLC Share Option Scheme.
Base Salary should be benchmarked against comparable companies in the Company’s peer group. Any Annual Bonus Award 
is to be set against key business performance indicators to be set at the beginning of each year and the Committee will 
continue to consider the award of options under the Aminex PLC Share Option Scheme.

When determining the total remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Committee takes into account the remuneration 
practices adopted in the general market. The Committee also commissioned an updated benchmarking study during 2019 
from an external consultancy.
Remuneration of Directors
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees were as follows:
 	 Fees
		  2019	  2018
		  US$’000	 US$’000
Sultan Al-Ghaithi¹	 30	 40
Robert Ambrose¹	 15	 -
Linda Beal	 44	 -
John Bell	 73	 47
Ola Fjeld¹	 45	 40
Brian Hall²	 -	 167
Tom Mackay³	 17	 47
Keith Phair	 -	 68
	  	 	
Total	 224	 409
	 	
1 Fees are paid to Eclipse Investments LLC
2 Includes termination benefits
3 Tom Mackay was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 24 May 2019 
	
The remuneration of the Executive Directors was as follows:
	 	  	  		   	
	 Basic Salary	 Bonus	  Benefits in kind 	 Sub total 	 Pension	 Total
	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Jay Bhattacherjee¹	 297	 387	 -	 -	 1	 3	 298	 390	 6	 13	 304	 403
Tom Mackay	 140	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 140	 0	 -	 -	 140	 -
Max Williams¹	 303	 287	 -	 -	 5	 6	 308	 293	 11	 13	 319	 306	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Total	 740	 674	 -	 -	 6	 9	 746	 683	 17	 26	 763	 709		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
1 Includes termination benefits
The exchange rate used for the translation of base remuneration in Pound sterling into US dollars is 1.2765.

There were no bonuses awarded to the Executive Directors in 2019. Salaries are reviewed annually with effect from 1 January. 
Benefits in kind comprise life insurance and health insurance.  As at 31 December 2019, there was one Executive Director 
(2018: two) and four Non-Executive Directors (2018: five). There was an average number of two Executive Directors and four 
Non-Executive Directors holding office during the year.
Share options
Certain Directors participate in the Aminex PLC Share Option Scheme and are granted options over the Company’s Ordinary 
Shares at prevailing market prices at the time of the grant. Options are exercisable not later than ten years after the date of 
grant, with the majority of options granted being limited to exercise within three to five years of date of grant. The Scheme was 
established in 1980 and subsequently extended with shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meetings held in 1996, 
1999, 2004, 2009 and 2014. The Scheme will expire in May 2020 and then no further options will be granted under the Scheme.  
The options that have been granted, and set out below, will continue to have effect until expiry or exercise of such options. 
The Scheme does not comply in all respects with current best practice of the QCA Code. As stated elsewhere in this report, 
certain of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors hold options over the Ordinary Shares of the Company. The Board 
considers that it is in the Group’s best interests to attract and retain high calibre directors. With limited cash resources, the 
Board has previously granted options to Non-Executive Directors, and after due and careful consideration of, and taking 
into account remuneration packages and services provided, options have been granted to Linda Beal and John Bell. 
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The Directors who held office at 31 December 2019 had the following beneficial interests in options over the Company’s 
Ordinary Shares:

	 Options held 	 Options granted/	 Options held			 
	 at 1 January	 (lapsed) during	 at 31 December	 Exercise	 Period
	 2019	 the year	 2019	 price	 of exercise 
Name	 Number	 Number	 Number	 Sterling	 From	 To

Linda Beal	 -	 4,000,000	 4,000,000	 Stg0.86p	 Jun-19	 Jun-24
		  11,000,000	 11,000,000	 Stg1.40p	 Nov-19	 Nov-26 
John Bell	 2,000,000	 -	 2,000,000	 Stg3.08p	 Jan-18	 Jan-20
	 -	 6,411,000	 6,411,000	 Stg1.56p	 Feb-19	 Feb-29
	 -	 8,000,000	 8,000,000	 Stg0.86p	 Jun-19	 Jun-24
	 -	 17,000,000	 17,000,000	 Stg1.40p	 Nov-19	 Nov-26

Tom Mackay	 6,000,000	 (6,000,000)	 -	 Stg1.34p	 May-16	 May-19
	 -	 5,000,000	 5,000,000	 Stg0.86p	 Jun-19	 Jun-24
		  20,000,000	 20,000,000	 Stg1.40p	 Nov-19	 Nov-26
	 	 	
	 8,000,000	 65,411,000	 73,411,000	 	 	
Robert Ambrose and Ola Fjeld have no beneficial interest in any options. Keith Phair, at the date of his retirement, had an interest 
in 6,200,000 options at prices ranging from Stg1.34p to Stg8.50p and with periods of exercise ending no later than January 
2020. Jay Bhattacherjee, at the date of his retirement, had an interest in 8,000,000 options at an exercise price of Stg3.08p to 
be exercised no later than January 2021.  Max Williams, at the date of his retirement, had an interest in 8,000,000 options at 
prices ranging from Stg3.08p to Stg8.50p and with periods of exercise ending no later than January 2021.  Brian Cassidy, the 
Company Secretary, has an interest in 20,000,000 options with an exercise price ranging from Stg1.40p to Stg3.08p.

No options were exercised and 71,000,000 options lapsed during the year. Options were granted during the year to Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors and key staff for retention and incentivisation. No options were granted during the year at 
below market value. Since the year end, 8,000,000 options have been granted at Stg1.02p to John Bell in lieu of remuneration.  

Non-Executive Directors
Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board. Each Non-Executive Director has a letter of appointment 
and either party may terminate the agreement with notice of three months or less, except in the case of the Chairman, John Bell, 
who is entitled to six months’ notice. Under his letter of appointment, John Bell is entitled to either (i) annual fees of £100,000; 
or (ii) annual fees of a reduced amount and a further grant of options over ordinary Shares in the Company.  

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Annual
Report and the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company Financial Statements, in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company Financial Statements for each financial year. Under 
that law, the Directors are required to prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union and applicable laws including Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. The Directors have elected to prepare the 
Company Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the 
Companies Acts 2014.
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company and of the Group and Company’s profit or 
loss for that year. In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
•	 state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and as regards the 

Company, as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014; and  
•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the 

Company will continue in business 

The Directors are also required by the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007 and the Transparency Rules of 
the Central Bank of Ireland to include a management report containing a fair review of the business and a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company, and which enable them to ensure that the Financial 
Statements of the Company comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014. The Directors are also responsible for 
taking all reasonable steps to ensure such records are kept by the subsidiary companies which enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements of the Group comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report which complies 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Group’s and Company’s website www.aminex-plc.com. Legislation in Ireland concerning the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Responsibility statement as required by the Transparency Directive
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on page 11  of this Annual Report, confirm that, to the best of each 
person’s knowledge and belief:
• 	 The Group Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and the Company 

financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position of the 
Group and Company at 31 December 2019 and of the profit or loss of the Group for the year then ended;  

•	 The Directors’ Report contained in the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face; and  

• 	 The Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, provides the information necessary to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and strategy and is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary 
for the shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy

Relevant audit information
The Directors believe that they have taken all steps necessary to make themselves aware of the relevant audit information and 
have established that the Group’s statutory auditors are aware of that information. In so far as the Directors are aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the Group’s statutory auditors are unaware.

On behalf of the Board

Robert Ambrose
Director			 
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Aminex Plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 
December 2019, which comprise the Group income statement, the Group statement of comprehensive income, the Group and 
the Company balance sheets, the Group and Company statement of changes in equity, the Group and Company statement 
of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 1. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014.
In our opinion: 
•	 the Group financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 31 

December 2019 and of its loss for the year then ended;
•	 the Company statement of financial position gives a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the 

Company as at 31 December 2019;
•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;
•	 the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 

as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014; and
•	 the Group financial statements and Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group and Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial 
statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities issued by the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority (“IAASA”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to note 1 to the financial statements, which indicates that the Group will need to raise short term funding and 
the COVID -19 pandemic may have an effect on the ability of the Group to raise the funds.  As stated in note 1, these events 
or conditions, along with other matters as set out in note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group and Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
Given the conditions and uncertainties noted above we considered going concern to be a key audit matter.
We performed the following procedures in respect of this key audit matter:
•	 We discussed the potential impact of Covid-19 with management and the Audit Committee, including their assessment of 

potential risks and uncertainties associated with areas such as the Group’s operations, ability to secure funding and the 
potential impact on the farm out and recovery of the Tanzania Petroleum Development Corporation (“TPDC”) receivables 
that are relevant to the Group’s business model and operations.  We formed our own assessment of risks and uncertainties 
based on our understanding of the business and oil and gas sector. 

•	 We obtained management’s reverse stress testing analysis which was performed to determine the point at which liquidity 
breaks and considered whether such scenarios, including inability to secure anticipated funding, failure to complete the farm 
out and delays in receipt of TPDC receivables were possible. 

•	 We critically assessed management’s base case cash flow forecasts and the underlying key assumptions which have 
been approved by the Board. In doing so, we considered factors such as historical operating expenditure.  We evaluated 
commitments under the Production Sharing Agreements and licences, reviewed board minutes, market announcements 
and correspondence with the TPDC and PURA for indications of additional cash requirements.

•	 We considered management’s judgement that they had reasonable expectation of securing funding through a short term 
loan to pay the capital gains tax and the completion of the farm out. 

•	 We reviewed and considered the adequacy of the disclosure within the financial statements relating to the Directors’ 
assessment of the going concern basis of preparation.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aminex PLC
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aminex PLC continued

Key Audit Matter

As detailed in note 10, the carrying value of Exploration 
and Evaluation Assets (“E&E assets”) amounted to 
US$49.0 million at 31 December 2019. 
Management are required to assess each year whether 
there are any potential impairment triggers under IFRS 
6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 
which would indicate that the carrying value of E&E 
assets may not be recoverable. 
As disclosed in note 10, management identified an 
indicator of impairment in respect of the Lindi exploration 
costs under the Ruvuma production sharing agreement 
(“PSA”) as a result of new regulations issued in December 
2019 in respect to the upstream petroleum industry. 
Management carried out an impairment test and an 
impairment of US$10.4 million was recognised in the 
year ended 31 December 2019 in respect of the Lindi 
exploration costs.
Following impairment indicator assessments in respect 
of the remaining Mtwara and Kiliwani South E&E assets 
management concluded that no further impairments 
were required.   
Following assessment of the previously impaired Nyuni 
Area PSA management concluded that no reversal of 
previous impairments was required.
As disclosed in note 1 and 10, the impairment review 
of the carrying value of E&E assets requires significant 
judgement by management. Given the materiality of the 
assets in the context of the Group’s balance sheet and 
the judgement involved in making this assessment we 
considered this to be a key audit matter.

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit

•	 We critically reviewed Management’s impairment review and 
performed our own assessment of impairment indicators 
in accordance with IFRS 6 in order to determine whether 
their assessment was complete and in accordance with the 
requirements of the accounting standard.

•	 We met with operational management and reviewed board 
minutes and press releases to assess the exploration activity 
undertaken in the year, the results of exploration activity and 
the future plans for each of the licence areas.

•	 We gained an understanding of the strategy the directors are 
pursuing in each licence area given the delays experienced 
in securing licence approvals and have reviewed the farm-
out agreement the company has entered into for the Mtwara 
licence to confirm the terms of the farm-out and that, if 
completed, it would support management’s expectation of 
continued exploration.

•	 We reviewed the external competent persons reports in 
respect of Mtwara and Kiliwani South in order to assess 
whether there were any potential impairment triggers which 
had not previously been identified. We made an assessment 
of the third party expert by considering, amongst other 
things, the scope of their work, their independence and their 
expertise.

•	 We reviewed the Group’s budget and planned works 
programme to determine if substantive expenditure is 
planned in each licence area to identify whether there were 
circumstances whereby no further substantive expenditure 
was planned, which would be an indicator of impairment

•	 We obtained the Mtwara licence extension documents to 
confirm that the licence has been extended, which is a 
condition of the farm-out.

•	 We considered management’s impairment review and 
conclusion that it was appropriate to impair the Lindi 
exploration costs.  In doing so, we reviewed the legislation 
issued in December 2019 and the terms of the Ruvuma PSA 
and discussed the judgement with the Audit Committee.

•	 In respect of the Nyuni Area PSA we made inquiries of 
management and reviewed correspondence with the 
regulatory authorities to evaluate whether the conditions 
that triggered the original impairment had reversed.  

•	 We evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in 
respect of the impairment assessments.

Carrying value of Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources 
in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty 
related to going concern section these matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key observations
Based on the procedures performed we found management’s assessment and disclosures in the financial statement to be 
appropriate. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aminex PLC continued

Key Audit Matter 

As detailed in note 11, the carrying value of the Group’s 
Production assets amounted to US$1.6 million and 
represents capitalised development expenditure on its 
Kiliwani North-1 gas producing well (“KN-1”).
Management are required to assess at least annually, 
whether there is any indication that the Group’s producing 
assets may be impaired. Management are required to 
perform a detailed assessment if there are indicators of 
potential impairment. 
Management identified an impairment indicator, as 
a result of the continued absence of production and 
performed an impairment test.  As a result, management 
recorded an impairment of US$0.8million in 2019.
The preparation of the impairment models requires 
Management to make critical judgements and estimates 
including in particular the level of gas reserves, methods 
and rates of production and whether necessary approvals 
to undertake remedial works will be granted and the 
timing of such approval. 
Given that significant judgement and estimation is required 
in determining the carrying value, this is considered to be 
a key audit matter.

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit

•	 We evaluated Management’s impairment model and 
challenged the significant inputs, assumptions and 
judgements. In doing so, we compared the estimated gas 
reserves to the external competent person’s report and 
extraction rates to consultant reports and agreed gas prices 
to contract.  

•	 We considered the scope and methodology of the works 
undertaken by the third party experts and assessed their 
competence and independence.

•	 We considered management’s assumptions regarding if and 
when the necessary approvals to undertake remedial works 
will be granted and obtained an understanding of the work 
required.  In doing so, we discussed the requirements and 
status with the Group’s in-house technical expert, discussed 
the judgement with the Audit Committee including the 
potential for continued delays and performed sensitivities.

•	 We performed sensitivity analysis over key assumptions 
including the discount rate and timing of remedial work to 
assess whether the impairment charge was sensitive to 
these assumptions. 

•	 We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures contained 
within the financial statements.

Carrying value of Property, Plant and Equipment (Producing assets)

Key observations
Based on the procedures performed we found management’s assessment and disclosures in the financial statement to 
be appropriate.

As detailed in note 15, the Group has significant 
receivables due from TPDC of US$7.8 million as at 31 
December 2019, the recovery of which continues to be 
delayed due to the ongoing discussions with TPDC in 
respect of the TPDC’s claims for US$5.97 million. There 
has been no resolution to date on this matter.
Management are required to make an assessment of 
expected credit loss provisions related to the TPDC 
balance in accordance with IFRS 9. Management 
performed an assessment and recognised an expected 
credit loss provision of US$1.27 million as detailed in note 
1 and 15.
Management are also required to assess the claims by 
TPDC and determine whether liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements are complete and whether contingent 
liabilities require disclosure. As detailed in notes 1 and 24, 
Management have accrued for the liabilities it considers 
appropriate and disclosed a contingent liability for the 
remaining balances. 
The assessment of the expected credit loss provision 
and evaluation of the completeness of liabilities and 
disclosures represented a key audit matter given the 
significant judgement and estimation required in the 
assessment.

In respect of the TPDC receivables:
•	 We reviewed correspondence with the TPDC to confirm that 

the underlying gas sales receivable is valid and considered 
whether there were indicators of a dispute.  We recalculated 
the additional interest accrued in the period based on the 
terms of the gas sales agreement and reviewed legal opinions 
regarding the validity of the interest.

•	 We reviewed the expected credit loss calculation prepared 
by management against the requirements of the relevant 
accounting standard and assessed the methodology 
adopted. We performed sensitivity analysis and considered 
the appropriateness of the different scenarios considered, 
recovery outcomes and timing of receipts.  In doing so, we 
made inquiries of management, considered the Group’s public 
announcements, legal advice obtained and correspondence 
with TPDC.

•	 We assessed the appropriateness of the credit adjusted 
discount rate applied to the cash flows based on market 
data. 

•	 We reviewed the disclosures in the financial statements 
against the requirements of the relevant accounting 
framework and considered whether they appropriately reflect 
the key judgements.

In respect of the TPDC claims:
•	 We reviewed the TPDC claim documents confirming the 

balance, made inquiries of management and reviewed 
correspondence for any indications of material developments 
such as additional claims or acceptance of previously 
disputed claims. 

Recoverability of TPDC receivables and completeness of TPDC payables

Key audit matters continued
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Key observations
Based on the procedures performed we found management’s assessment of the recoverability of the TPDC receivables 
and TPDC claims, the associated judgements applied and the disclosures in the financial statements to be acceptable.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aminex PLC continued

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. 
We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic 
decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. Importantly, misstatements below these 
levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account the nature of identified misstatements, and the 
particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.  
This is the first year in which we have acted as auditors.

Group materiality FY 2019	 Basis for materiality 
US$450,000	 0.75% of total assets 

We consider total assets to be one of the principal considerations for stakeholders of the Group in assessing the financial 
performance of the Group.
Whilst materiality for the financial statements as a whole was US$450,000, the significant components of the group were 
audited to a lower materiality of US$320,000 to US$210,000.
Materiality for the Parent Company was set at US$320,000 and was restricted to approximately 70% of Group materiality. 
Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level and is set at an amount 
which reduces to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements 
exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance materiality was set at US$315,000 for the financial 
statements as a whole, and US$224,000 for the Parent Company which represents 70% of the above materiality levels.The 
level of performance materiality applied was set after having considered a number of factors including the expected total value 
of known and likely misstatements, the level of transactions in the year and consideration of the effect of this being our first 
year as auditors to the Group.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the committee all audit differences in excess of US$9,000, as 
well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the 
audit committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
An overview of the scope of our audit report
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, as well as assessing the risks of 
material misstatement in the financial statements at Group level. 
Whilst Aminex Plc is a Company registered in Ireland and listed on the London Stock Exchange in the UK, the Group’s 
principal operations are located in Tanzania. In approaching the audit, we considered how the Group is organised and 
managed. We assessed there to be three significant components being Aminex Plc, Aminex Petroleum Services Limited and 
Ndovu Resources Limited. All of these were subject to a full scope audit and the audits were conducted by the Group audit 
team, which included partners and staff from BDO UK who were part of the Group audit team.
The remaining components of the Group were considered non-significant and were subject to analytical review procedures 
by the Group audit team.
How the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
We considered the laws and regulations of Ireland, the UK and Tanzania to be of significance in the context of the Group audit. As 
part of our audit we performed procedures to evaluate the extent of compliance with the relevant local and regulatory frameworks. 
Our procedures included, but were not limited to agreement of the financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting 
documentation, performing substantive testing on accounts balances which were considered to be at a greater risk of susceptibility 
to fraud, reviewing correspondence with the Tanzanian tax authorities, reviewing the terms of exploration and production licences 
and reviewing correspondence with regulators in so far as the correspondence related to the Financial Statements. There are 
inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is 
from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.    

Key Audit Matter How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit 

In respect of the TPDC claims: continued
•	 We reviewed management’s assessment against the external 

legal opinion received in 2018 and held discussions with 
the Group’s internal legal counsel to identify any potential 
developments that would alter management’s assessment. 

•	 We evaluated the completeness of liabilities in the financial 
statements against the TPDC claim documents, supporting 
documents and requirements under the PSA. 

•	 We reviewed and assessed the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures provided within the financial 
statements in notes 1 and 24.  

Key audit matters continued
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aminex PLC continued

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:
•	 in our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements; and
•	 in our opinion, the directors’ report is have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited and the Company statement of financial position is in agreement with the accounting records.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report.
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions 
required by sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set on page 29, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the parent Company’s ability 
to continue as going concerns, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA’s website at: http://
www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsiblities_for_audit.pdf  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Other matters which we are required to address
We were appointed by the Audit Committee to audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 
subsequent financial periods.
The non-audit services prohibited by IAASA’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the group and we remain independent of 
the group in conducting our audit. 
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Teresa Morahan 
for and on behalf of 
BDO, Dublin, Statutory Audit Firm
AI223876
30 April 2020
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Group Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019
	 		  2019	 	 2018
 	 Notes		  US$’000		  US$’000 
Continuing operations 
Revenue 	 2		           357		  617
Cost of sales			           (806)		  (2,017)
			   		  	

Gross loss			           (449)		  (1,400)
Administrative expenses			        (2,411)		  (3.327)
Expected credit losses of trade receivables 	 15		  (582)		  (309)
Impairment against property, plant and equipment assets 	 11		  (809)		  -
Impairment against exploration and evaluation assets	 10		      (10,928)		  (43,474)
	 		  		  	

Loss from operating activities			        (15,179)	    	  (48,510)
Finance income	 6		  30 		  65
Finance costs	 7		            (82)		  (64)
			   		
Loss before tax	 5		       (15,231)		  (48,509)
Income tax expense	 8	 	 -		  -             	
			   		
Loss for the financial year	
attributable to equity holders of the Company			   (15,231)		  (48,509)
	 		   		

Basic and diluted loss per Ordinary Share (in US cents)	 9		  (0.41)		  (1.33) 	
	 	 	  		

Group Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2019

		  	 2019	 	 2018
 			   US$’000		  US$’000
Loss for the financial year	 	 	    (15,231)		  (48,509)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:	 	 	
Currency translation differences	 	 	 (162)		  124
			   		  	
Total comprehensive income for the financial year		
attributable to the equity holders of the Company			   (15,393)		  (48,385)	
	 	 	  		
 
On behalf of the Board

Robert Ambrose		 John Bell
Director			   Director			   30 April 2020
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Group and Company Balance Sheets
at 31 December 2019
					   
	 Group		  Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
 	 Notes	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets	 10	 48,967	 58,534	 -	 -
Property, plant and equipment	 11	 1,959	 2,393	 -	 -
Investments in subsidiary undertakings	 13	 -	 -	 5,646	 6,591
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings	 14	 -	 -	 65,354	 71,420
		   	 	 	
Total non-current assets		  50,926	 60,927	 71,000	 78,011			  	 	 	
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables	 15	 7,869	 7,506 	 17	 21
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings	 14	 -	 -	 573	 3,950
Cash and cash equivalents	 16	 694	 1,860 	 214	 483
		   	 	 	
Total current assets		  8,563	 9,366	 804	 4,454		   	 	 	
Total assets	 	 59,489	 70,293	 71,804	 82,465		   	 	 	
Equity					   
Issued capital	 21	 69,206	 69,062	 69,206	 69,062
Share premium		  124,481	 122,267	 124,481	 122,267
Other undenominated capital		  234	 234	 234	 234
Share option reserve		  2,264	 2,710	 2,264	 2,710
Foreign currency translation reserve		  (2,180)	 (2,018)	 -	 -
Retained earnings		  (147,234)	 (132,649)	 (125,770)	 (112,477)
		   	 	 	
Total equity		  46,771	 59,606	 70,415	 81,796		   	 	 	
Liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities	 18	 174	 -	 -	 -
Decommissioning provision 	 19	 764	 700 	 -	 -
Other long-term liabilities		  65	 - 	 -	 -
	 	  	 	 	
Total non-current liabilities		  1,003	 700	 -	 -	
	 	  	 	 	
Current liabilities	
Trade and other payables	 17	 11,510	 9,987	 1,389	 669
Short-term lease liabilities	 18	 205	 -	 -	 -		   	 	 	
Total current liabilities		     11,715	 9,987	 1,389	 669
	 	  	 	 	

Total liabilities		  12,718	 10,687	 1,389	 669
	 	  	 	 	
Total equity and liabilities		  59,489	 70,293	 71,804	 82,465	
		   	 	 	

Reclassifications have been made in respect of the 2018 comparative figures for trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. Refer to Note 1 for details.

On behalf of the Board

Robert Ambrose		 John Bell
Director			   Director			   30 April 2020
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019
				   Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
					     Foreign			 
			   Other unde-	 Share	 currency
	 Share	 Share 	 nominated	 option	 translation	 Retained	
	 capital	 premium	 capital	 reserve	 reserve	 earnings	 Total
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

At 1 January 2018 	 69,062	 122,267	 234	 2,540	 (2,142)	 (84,551)	 107,410
Transactions with shareholders of the 
Company recognised directly in equity	
Share-based payment charge	 -	 -	 -	 581	 -	 -	 581
Share option reserve transfer	 -	 -	 -	 (411)	 -	 411	 -
Comprehensive income:							     
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 124  	 -	 124
Loss for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (48,509)	 (48,509)		  	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2018	 69,062	 122,267	 234	 2,710	 (2,018)	 (132,649)	  59,606
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 16 
(Note 1)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5	 5 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2019 as restated	 69,062	 122,267	 234	 2,710	 (2,018)	 (132,644)	  59,611

Transactions with shareholders of the
Company recognised directly in equity	

Shares issued	 144	 2,214	 -	 -	 -	 (174)	 2,184
Share-based payment charge	 -	 -	 -	       369	 -	 -	 369
Share option reserve transfer		  		       (815)		          815	 -

Comprehensive income:							     
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (162)	 -	 (162)
Loss for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	     (15,231)	 (15,231)	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2019	 69,206	 124,481	 234	 2,264	     (2,180)	   (147,234)    	 46,771
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019
	 Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
				    Other un	 Share		
		  Share	 Share	  denominated	 option	 Retained
		  capital	 premium	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	 Total
		  US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

At 1 January 2018	 69,062	 122,267	 234	 2,540	 (80,617)	 113,486
Transactions with shareholders of the
Company recognised directly in equity
Share-based payment charge	 -	 -	 -	 581	 -	 581
Share option reserve transfer	 -	 -	 -	 (411)	 411	 -

Comprehensive income:							     
Loss for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (32,271)	 (32,271)	
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 1 January 2019	 69,062	 122,267	 234	 2,710	 (112,477)	 81,796
Transactions with shareholders of the
Company recognised directly in equity 	

Shares issued	 144	 2,214	 -	 -	 (174)	 2,184
Share-based payment charge	 -	 -	 -	 369	 -	 369
Share option reserve transfer	 -	 -	 -	 (815)	 815	 -

Comprehensive income:
Loss for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (13,934)	 (13,934)

	 	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2019	 69,206	 124,481	 234	 2,264	 (125,770)	 70,415	 	 	 	 	 	 	



Aminex PLC annual report 2019
38

Group and Company Statements of Cashflows
for the year ended 31 December 2019

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
 	 Notes	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
	 				  
Loss for the financial year	 	 (15,231)	 (48,509)	 (13,934)	 (32,271)
Depreciation and depletion	 11	 240	 58	 -	 -
Equity-settled share-based payments	 4	 369	 581	 229	 24
Finance income	 6	 (30)	 (65)	 (4)	 (8)
Finance costs 	 7	 82	 64	 -	 27
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets	 10	 10,928	 43,474	 -	 -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 	 11	 809	 -	 -	 -
Expected credit loss charge	 15	 582	 309	 -	 -
Loss on disposal of fixed asset	 	 -	 2	 -	 -
Impairment provision against amounts due from  
subsidiary undertakings	 14	 -	 -	 12,286	 31,351
Impairment provision against 
investments in subsidiary undertakings	 13	 -	 -	 1,086	 -
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables		  (1,125)	 257	 4	 3
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables		  680	 1,365	 (271)	 560
		  	 	 	
Net cash outflows from operating activities		  (2,696)	 (2,464)	 (604)	 (314)
		   	 	 	
Investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment		  (4)	 (26)	 -	 -
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation assets		  (1,448)	 (1,941)	 -	 -
Increase in amounts due from subsidiary undertakings		  -	 -	 (2,843)	 (2,366)
Advances on farm out 		  1,000	 -	 1,000	 -
Interest received		  4	 8	 4	 8	
		  	 	 	
Net cash outflows from investing activities		  (448)	 (1,959)	 (1,839)	 (2,358)	
		  	 	 	
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital		  2,358	 -	 2,358	 -
Payment of transaction costs on issue of share capital		  (174)	 -	 (174)	 -
Payment of lease liabilities 		  (232)	 -	 -	 -
		  	 	 	
Net cash inflows from financing activities		  1,952	 -	 2,184	 -			   	 	 	

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		  (1,192)	  (4,423)	 (259)	 (2,672)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 	 16	 1,860	 6,226	 483	 3,182
Foreign exchange gain / (loss)	 	 26	 57	 (10)	 (27)		   	 	 	
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December	 16	 694	 1,860	 214	 483			   	  	  	
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Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1 Statement of Accounting Policies
Aminex PLC (the “Company”) is a company domiciled and incorporated in Ireland. The principal activities of the Group are 
the exploration, appraisal, development and production of oil and gas assets, reserves and resources. The Group operates 
through subsidiary undertakings, details of which are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements. The Group’s principal 
area of activity is in Tanzania. The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 consolidate the individual 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The registered office address is 
Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Business Park, Dublin 18, D18 R9C7, Ireland. 
Basis of preparation
The Group and Company financial statements (together the “Financial Statements”) have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (EU). 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated and company financial statements are set out 
below. The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
The consolidated and company financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is also the Group’s functional currency. 
Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. The 
areas where significant judgements and estimates have been made in preparing the financial statements and their effect are 
disclosed below.
The consolidated and company financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
Going concern
The financial statements of the Group are prepared on a going concern basis.  
The Directors have given careful consideration to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern through review of cash 
flow forecasts prepared by management for the period to 30 June 2021, review of the key assumptions on which these 
are based and sensitivity analysis. The Directors have taken into account the Farm-Out, which is an assignment of a 50% 
interest in the Ruvuma PSA to APT, for which shareholder approval was obtained at an extraordinary general meeting held 
on 4 January 2019 and which has a long stop date of 30 June 2020. While the conditions precedent within the control of 
Aminex and APT have been satisfied, the Farm-Out remains subject to certain government approvals. Under the terms of the 
Farm-Out Agreement, on completion the Group will receive US$5 million in cash consideration plus payment for interim costs 
incurred on the Ruvuma PSA since 15 March 2018, the effective date of the Farm-Out. On 12 November 2019, Aminex and 
APT signed a funding agreement whereby APT has agreed to provide a US$3 million advance in instalments to the Company, 
prior to the Completion of the Farm-Out (the “Advance”). US$2 million of the Advance has been drawn down as at 30 April 
2020. The US$5 million cash consideration will settle the advance funding immediately on Completion. The capital gains tax 
(“CGT”) payable on the Farm-Out amounts to US$2.2 million and the Company is in advanced negotiations with ARA for a 
US$2 million short-term loan to pay this tax and has a signed non-binding heads of terms. The CGT payment is a prerequisite 
to the Ministry of Energy approval of the Farm-Out. On completion of the Farm-Out, the Advance and the short-term loan will 
be immediately repaid to ARA out of the Farm-Out cash consideration. 
Trade receivables of US$7.8 million, of which Aminex’s net share is US$3.2 million, have not been taken into account in the cash 
flow forecast due to the claims for certain amounts by the TPDC, set out in Note 24 to the financial statements. Although this trade 
receivable is due, the TPDC continue to delay payment until a resolution is reached in respect of the claims and the Directors 
consider it prudent not to take this receivable amount into consideration of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. As 
disclosed in Note 24, the Group received a tax assessment from the TRA of US$2.2 million in relation to a prior period audit related to 
2013 to 2015 which is excluded from the cash forecast as any cash outflow during the going concern period is considered remote. 
If the tax assessment finding went against the Group it is likely additional funding would be required to settle any potential liability. 
The Group implemented cost cuts during 2019 to reduce its G&A expenditure and is currently in the process of implementing 
further cost reduction measures to preserve cash in response to depressed market conditions due to COVID-19 and the oil 
price fall. 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will receive the short-term loan from ARA to pay the CGT on 
the Farm-Out and be able to complete the Farm-Out with APT and repay the Advance and short-term funding out of the 
consideration. Based on this expectation, the Directors concluded that the Group would have sufficient resources to continue 
as a going concern and meet its obligations as and when they fall due for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of 
approval of the consolidated financial statements and consequently the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis. 
However, there is no certainty that the Group will obtain the short-term loan to settle the US$2.2 million CGT or that the Farm-Out 
with APT will complete as it remains subject to Tanzania government approval. If the Farm-Out does not complete, the Group 
will need to seek additional funding. In addition, development of the Group’s other assets in Tanzania will require the sourcing of 
additional funding. This includes the Nyuni Area PSA where the Group has applied for the licence to be extended on a revised 
work programme, as disclosed in Note 24. The Kiliwani North Development Licence has no work programme commitments. 
The impact of COVID-19 in Tanzania is uncertain and, depending on the measures taken to combat the pandemic locally, could 
adversely impact the completion of the Farm-Out. There is also significant uncertainty as regards the ability of Aminex to raise 
funds in the current market conditions due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the depressed oil price. These may result in the 
Company having to raise funds at whatever terms are available at the time. 
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Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Going concern  continued
These matters indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If the Farm-Out does not complete, and the Group cannot raise additional funding to meet licence 
commitments or potential tax assessment, or the Group is unable to renegotiate or defer commitments on its Licence interests, 
the Group will be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that would be necessary 
if this basis were inappropriate. 
Statement of compliance 
The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with IFRS and their 
interpretations as adopted by the EU (“EU IFRS”). The individual financial statements of the Company (“Company financial 
statements”) have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with EU IFRS and as applied in accordance 
with the Companies Acts 2014 which permits a company that publishes its Company and Group financial statements together 
to take advantage of the exemption in Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014 from presenting to its members its company 
income statement and related notes that form part of the approved Company financial statements.   
Change in accounting policies 
i) New accounting standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2019 
The following new and revised standards and interpretations, all of which are effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019, have been adopted in the current financial year. 
•	 Amendments to IAS 28 Sale of Long-Term Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures.
•	 IFRS 16 Leases.
•	 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.
•	 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle.
•	 Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement.
•	 Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation.
The most significant change in accounting policy arises from the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, and this is described in detail below. 
The Group has adopted IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments which is effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019. The interpretation is applied to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. The adoption of this 
interpretation has not had a material impact on the financial statements of the Group.
The other new standards effective from 1 January 2019, as listed above, do not have a material effect on the Group’s financial 
statements.
ii) Standards not affecting the reported results or the financial position 
Other new and amended standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that 
have been applied for the first time in these annual financial statements have not had a significant impact on the Group as they are 
either not relevant to the Group’s activities or require accounting which is consistent with the Group’s current accounting policies.  
iii) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective 
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that are 
effective in future accounting periods and which the group has decided not to adopt early. The most significant of these are as 
follows, which are all effective for the period beginning 1 January 2020: 
•	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

(Amendment – Definition of Material)
•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendment – Definition of Business) 
•	 Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
Aminex is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments. None of these are expected to 
have a significant effect on the Group.
IFRS 16: Leases  
IFRS 16 has been adopted by applying the modified retrospective approach from 1 January 2019; consequently, the 
comparatives for the 2018 reporting period have not been restated, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in 
IFRS 16. The reclassifications and the transitional adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are recognised on the date of 
initial application (1 January 2019). 
IFRS 16 introduces a single on-balance sheet lease accounting model for leases. The Group, as lessee, has recognised 
lease liabilities in relation to leases previously identified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17: “Leases” and IFRIC 4 
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. These lease liabilities were measured at 1 January 2019 at the present 
value of the remaining lease payments payable after that date. The associated right-of-use assets have been recognised as at 
1 January 2019 on a retrospective basis as if IFRS 16 had always been applied. The Group has applied the practical expedient 
permitted by the standard for contracts entered into before the transition date, the Group has relied on its assessment made 
when applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Contracts have not been reassessed to determine if a contract is, or contains, a lease at 
the date of initial application. 

1 Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

IFRS 16: Leases  continued 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases which have low value, or short-term 
leases with a duration of 12 months or less. The payments associated with such leases are charged directly to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
In addition, the Group will no longer recognise provisions for operating leases that it assesses to be onerous. Instead, the 
Group will include the payments due under the lease in its lease liability.  
Transition
		  Adjustment on
	 31 December 2018	 adoption of IFRS 16	 1 January 2019	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Property, plant and equipment 	 2,393	 604	 2,997
Trade and other receivables 	 8,043	 (70)	 7,973
Trade and other payables 	 (10,524)	 (122)	 (10,646)
Long-term liabilities 	 -	 (407)	 (407)
	 	 	
Total equity 		  5	
A reconciliation of the operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 to the total lease liabilities recognised 
upon initial application of IFRS 16 is presented below:
				    US$’000
Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 	 	 	 	 689
Effect of discounting at weighted average incremental borrowing rate of 4.6%	 	 	 (65)
Adjustment for prepayments of lease liabilities 				    (42)
Adjustment for short-term leases  				    (5)				  
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019				    577				  
Short-term lease liability 				    232
Long-term lease liability 				    345				  
				    577				  
Accounting policy for leases 
The Group enters into leases in respect of leases of various office properties. Lease liabilities are measured at the present 
value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term. Lease payments are discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate (being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar 
value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions), unless the rate implicit in the lease is available.  The 
Group currently uses the incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for all of its leases. For the purposes of measuring the 
lease liability, lease payments comprise fixed payments and variable lease payments based on an index or rate. 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease payments 
made prior to lease commencement, initial direct costs incurred and the estimated cost of restoration or decommissioning; less 
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term. 
Lease repayments made are allocated to capital repayment and interest so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining lease liability balance. 
Right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and equipment. Lease liabilities are presented under non-current 
liabilities unless due within 12 months of the reporting date, in which case they are included under trade and other payables in 
current liabilities.  In the cash flow statement, lease repayments (both the principal and interest portion) are presented within 
cash used in operating activities. 
When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee 
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to 
make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly 
revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate 
remains unchanged. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the 
revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.
Leases of low-value items (such as office equipment) and short-term leases (where the lease term is 12 months or less, which 
include the rental of drilling rigs) are expensed on a straight-line basis to the income statement. 
The Group does not have any activities as a lessor. 
Previous accounting policy for leases 
Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and 
recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference between actual lease payments and 
the expense recognised.
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Reclassification of expected credit loss  
During the year, the Group revisited its accounting policy in respect of its expected credit loss calculation. The expected 
credit loss is now calculated on the gross trade receivables balance, where previously it was recognised on the Group’s share 
of trade receivables net of any amounts due to partners in joint operations. The change in accounting policy results in the 
reclassification of an expected credit loss previously held in liabilities. The total expected credit loss is now recognised in trade 
and other receivables rather than trade and other payables and prior year comparatives have been reclassified accordingly for 
consistency. The accruals recognised in 2018 to be reclassified amounts to US$537,000. The reclassification has no impact on 
the Group or Company’s comparative period loss before tax or net assets.
Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Aminex PLC and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred out of the Group. Control exists when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Financial statements 
of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company.
The statutory individual financial statements of subsidiary companies have been prepared under the accounting policies 
applicable in their country of incorporation but adjustments have been made to the results and financial position of such 
companies to bring their accounting policies into line with those of the Group for consolidation purposes.
All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same manner as unrealised gains except to the extent that there is 
evidence of impairment. 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Such power, generally but not exclusively, accompanies a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting 
rights. Non-current investments in subsidiaries of the Company are shown at cost less provision for impairment. 
Joint operations 
Joint operations are those activities over which the Group exercises joint control with other participants, established by 
contractual agreement. The Group recognises, in respect of its interests in joint operations, the assets that it controls, the 
liabilities that it incurs, the expenses that it incurs and the share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods or services 
by the joint operation.
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue 
when performance obligations are satisfied and it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. Details of the Group’s 
sources of revenue from contracts with customers and details on when control passes are detailed in Note 2. 
Employee benefits
(a) Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The Group contributes towards the cost of certain individual employee and Director defined contribution pension plans. Annual 
contributions are based upon a percentage of gross annual salary or as otherwise agreed, managed on an individual basis. 
Pension contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement and are accounted for on an accruals basis 
based on the employee’s related service. 
(b) Share-based payments
The Group operates a share option scheme. For equity-settled share-based payment transactions (i.e. the issuance of share 
options), the Group measures the services received by reference to the value of the option or other financial instrument at fair 
value at the measurement date (which is the grant date) using a recognised valuation methodology for the pricing of financial 
instruments (i.e. the Black Scholes model). 
If the share options granted do not vest until the completion of a specified period of service, the fair value assessed at the 
grant date is recognised in the income statement over the vesting period as the services are rendered by employees with 
a corresponding increase in equity. For options granted with no vesting period the fair value is recognised in the income 
statement at the date of the grant. 
Where share options granted do not vest until performance-related targets, which include targets outside management’s 
control, have been achieved (i.e. a variable vesting period), the fair value assessed at the grant date is recognised in the income 
statement over a vesting period estimated by management based on the most likely outcome of the performance condition 
(IFRS 2.15(b)). 
Share options issued by the Group that are subject to market-based vesting conditions, as defined in IFRS 2, are ignored for 
the purposes of estimating the number of equity shares that will vest; these conditions have already been taken into account 
when fair valuing the shares (November 2019 grant issuance included market conditions – share price related). 
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(b) Share-based payments continued
Non-market vesting conditions are not taken into account when estimating the fair value of share options at the grant date; 
such conditions are taken into account through adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of 
the amount charged to the income statement over the vesting period so that, ultimately, the amount recognised equates to the 
number of equity instruments that actually vest. The expense in the income statement in relation to share options represents 
the product of the total number of options anticipated to vest and the fair value of these options at the date of grant. 
Share options where the performance conditions are service-related and non-market in nature, the cumulative charge to the 
income statement is reversed only where an employee in receipt of share options leaves the Group prior to completion of the 
service period and forfeits the options granted and/or performance conditions are not expected to be satisfied.
The proceeds received by the Group on the exercise of share entitlements are credited to share capital and share premium. 
Where share options are awarded by the Group to employees of subsidiary companies, the value of the share-based payment 
is credited to the Group’s share option reserve and charged through investments in subsidiary undertakings to the income 
statement of the relevant subsidiary company. 
When share options which have not been exercised reach the end of the original contractual life, the value of the share options 
is transferred from the share option reserve to retained earnings. The Group does not operate any cash-settled share-based 
payment schemes or share-based payment transactions with cash alternatives as defined in IFRS 2.
Share capital
Ordinary shares and deferred shares are classified as equity. Proceeds received from the issue of ordinary shares above the 
nominal value is classified as Share Premium. Costs directly attributable to new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from 
retained earnings from June 2015 in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014. Prior to that date costs were 
deducted from Share Premium.
Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, the unwinding of the 
discount on the decommissioning provision and foreign exchange losses. 
Finance income
Finance income comprises interest income, which is recognised in the income statement as it accrues using the effective 
interest rate method and foreign exchange gains. 
Tax
The tax expense in the income statement represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax expense.
Tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or deductible. The liability for current 
tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except those arising from non-
deductible goodwill or on initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
expected to be realised or the liability to be settled based on laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit would be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Earnings per ordinary share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit for the financial period attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial period. 
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the financial period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after adjusting for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares that 
were outstanding during the financial period.
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Foreign currency translation
The presentation currency of the Group and the functional currency of Aminex PLC is the US dollar (“US$”), representing the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated into the functional currency at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. All translation differences are 
taken to the income statement. 
Results and cash flows of non-dollar subsidiary undertakings are translated into US dollars at average exchange rates for the 
year and the related assets and liabilities (including goodwill and fair value adjustments) are translated at the rates of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Adjustments arising on translation of the results of non-dollar subsidiary undertakings at 
average rates, and on the restatement of the opening net assets at closing rates, are dealt with in a separate translation reserve 
within equity, net of differences on related currency borrowings. Proceeds from the issue of share capital are recognised at the 
prevailing exchange rate on the date that the Board of Directors ratifies such issuance; any foreign exchange movement arising 
between the date of issue and the date of receipt of funds is charged or credited to the income statement.
The principal exchange rates used for the translation of results, cash flows and balance sheets into US dollars were as follows:
	 Average	 Year-end
	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
US$1 equals					   
Pound sterling	 0.7834	 0.7491	 0.7570	 0.7831
Australian dollar	 1.4384	 1.3394	 1.4257	 1.4168

On loss of control of a foreign operation, accumulated currency translation differences are recognised in the income statement 
as part of the overall gain or loss on disposal. 
Exploration and evaluation assets
The assessment of what constitutes an individual exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) asset (an E&E asset is the same as a 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for the purposes of impairment testing) is based on technical criteria but normally a production 
sharing agreement (“PSA”) is designated as an individual E&E asset. A PSA will normally equate to a single licence except for 
the Ruvuma PSA (see Note 10). 
E&E expenditure incurred prior to obtaining the legal rights to explore an area is recognised in the income statement as incurred. 
Costs incurred after rights to explore have been obtained, such as geological and geophysical surveys, drilling and commercial 
appraisal costs and other directly attributable costs of exploration and appraisal including technical and administrative costs, 
are capitalised as intangible E&E assets. 
Capitalised E&E costs are not amortised prior to the conclusion of appraisal activities. At completion of appraisal activities, 
if technical feasibility is demonstrated, commercial reserves are discovered and commercial viability is demonstrable, then, 
following development sanction, the carrying value of the relevant E&E asset will be reclassified to property, plant and 
equipment, but only after the carrying value of the E&E asset has been assessed for impairment and, where appropriate, its 
carrying value adjusted. If, after completion of appraisal activities in an area, it is not possible to determine technical feasibility 
and commercial viability, if the legal rights to explore expire or if the Group decides not to continue E&E activities then the costs 
of such unsuccessful E&E are written off to the income statement in the period the relevant events occur. 
Property, plant and equipment – developed and producing oil and gas assets (stated at cost)
Developing and producing oil and gas assets are aggregated generally on a field-by-field basis and represent the cost of 
developing the commercial reserves discovered and bringing them into production, together with the E&E expenditure incurred 
in finding commercial reserves transferred from intangible E&E assets as outlined in the accounting policy above. 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only where it either enhances the economic benefits of the developed and producing 
properties or replaces part of the existing developed and producing properties. The carrying amounts of the part replaced are 
expensed to the income statement. 
Interest on borrowings for development projects is capitalised by field up to the time that the asset commences to produce 
commercial reserves.
Depletion 
The Group depletes capitalised costs calculated at price levels ruling at the balance sheet date on developed and producing 
properties on a unit of production basis, based on proved and probable reserves on a field by field basis. In certain circumstances, 
fields within a single development may be combined for depletion purposes.
Amortisation is calculated by reference to the proportion that production for the period bears to the total of the estimated 
remaining commercial reserves as at the beginning of the period. Changes in reserves quantities and cost estimates are 
recognised prospectively. 

1 Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)



Aminex PLC annual report 2019
45

Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Impairment
E&E assets are assessed at each reporting date for indicators of impairment, with an impairment test being required when 
facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of capitalised E&E expenditure exceeds its recoverable amount and 
sufficient data exists to enable the Group to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability. 
Under IFRS 6, the following indicators are set out to determine whether an E&E asset is required to be tested for impairment: 
a)	 the period for which the entity has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the period or will expire in the 

near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 
b)	 substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is neither budgeted 

nor planned; 
c)	 exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially viable 

quantities of mineral resources and the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area; and 
d)	 sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of 

the E&E asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 
The list is not exhaustive, and management will consider other relevant changes in facts and circumstances that may indicate 
the requirement for an E&E asset impairment test. 
Where an indicator of impairment exists, management will assess the recoverability of the carrying value of the E&E asset 
(equivalent to the CGU). This assessment is based on a range of technical and commercial considerations and confirming that 
sufficient progress is being made to establish development plans and timing. If no future activity is planned, or the value of the 
asset cannot be recovered via successful development or sale, the balance of the E&E expenditure is impaired wholly or in part 
as appropriate.
Impairment reviews on developed and producing properties are carried out on each cash-generating unit identified in 
accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The Group’s cash-generating units are those assets which generate largely 
independent cash inflows and are normally, but not always, single development areas or fields.
Where there has been a charge for impairment in an earlier period that charge will be reversed in a later period where there has 
been a change in circumstances to the extent that the discounted future net cash flows are higher than the net book value at the 
time. In reversing impairment losses, the carrying amount of the asset will be increased to the lower of its original carrying value 
or the carrying value that would have been determined (net of depletion) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.
Decommissioning costs
A liability is recognised once there is an obligation for the decommissioning of oil and gas wells. Decommissioning cost 
estimates are measured based on current requirements, technology and price levels, which is inflated to estimate the future 
cost at the expected abandonment date; the present value is calculated using amounts discounted over the useful economic 
life of the assets. This amount is included within the related exploration and evaluation or developed and producing assets by 
field and the liability is included in provisions. Such cost is depleted over the life of the field on a unit of production basis and 
charged to the income statement. The unwinding of the discount is reflected as a finance cost in the income statement over the 
remaining life of the well. Changes in estimates are recognised prospectively, with corresponding adjustments to the provision 
and the associated asset. The effects of changes resulting from revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate 
of the provision are reflected on a prospective basis, generally by adjustment to the carrying amount of the related exploration 
and evaluation or property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment – other
Other property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the original cost of other property, plant and equipment less its estimated residual value 
over their expected useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The estimated useful lives applied in determining the charge to depreciation are as follows:
Leasehold property	 remaining life of lease
Plant and equipment	 3-5 years
Fixtures and fittings	 3-5 years
The useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually.
On disposal of other property, plant and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and impairments are 
removed from the financial statements and the net amount less any proceeds is taken to the income statement. 
The carrying amounts of other property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash 
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 
Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the replaced item can 
be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period 
in which they are incurred.
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, current accounts with banks and cash held by the Group in current accounts 
with banks on behalf of joint venture partners.
Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Up to the date of this balance sheet, the Group had not utilised derivative financial 
instruments. 
There are no material financial assets and liabilities for which differences between carrying amounts and fair values are required 
to be disclosed. The classification of financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 is disclosed in Notes 15, 16, 17 and 20. 
(a) Financial assets 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, normally being the transaction price, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial 
assets is determined by the contractual cash flows and where applicable the business model for managing the financial 
assets. The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire or the financial asset 
is transferred to a third party. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Where a financial instrument is classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss it is initially recognised at fair 
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is reviewed and any gain or loss arising is recognised in the income statement. 
Changes in the net present value of the financial asset arising from discounting are included in other gains and losses. 
(ii) Financial assets at amortised cost 
Financial assets are classified as measured at amortised cost when they are held in a business model the objective of which 
is to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. Such 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method if the time value of money is significant. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired and when interest is recognised using 
the effective interest rate method. This category of financial assets includes trade and other receivables and loans provided to 
subsidiary undertakings of the Company. 
(b) Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities are generally stated at amortised costs using the effective interest rate method. 
(c) Impairment of financial assets 
From 1 January 2018, the expected credit loss model is applied for recognition and measurement of impairments in financial 
assets measured at amortised cost. The loss allowance for the financial asset is measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
expected credit losses. If the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss 
allowance for the financial asset is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. Changes in loss 
allowances are recognised in profit and loss. For trade receivables, a simplified impairment approach is applied recognising 
expected lifetime losses from initial recognition.
Critical accounting judgements 
The Group assesses critical accounting judgements annually. The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations, that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements. 
Carrying value of intangible exploration and evaluation assets (Note 10):  
The amounts for intangible exploration and evaluation assets represent active exploration projects. These amounts will be 
written off to the income statement as exploration costs unless commercial reserves are established, or the determination 
process is not completed and there are no indications of impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The 
process of determining whether there is an indicator for impairment or impairment reversal and the subsequent calculation 
requires critical judgement.
The key areas in which management has applied judgement are as follows: the Group’s intention to proceed with a future work 
programme for a prospect or licence; the likelihood of licence renewal or extension; the review of new legislation or regulations 
that may impact the economic terms of the Group’s PSAs: the assessment of whether sufficient data exists to indicate that, 
although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset 
is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale and the success of a well result or geological or 
geophysical survey. 
The most material area to which this judgement was applied during 2019 was the assessment and identification of impairment 
indicators, in accordance with IFRS 6, related to the Ruvuma PSA and Kiliwani South CGUs. Following the impairment 
assessment, specifically in relation to the publication of new petroleum regulations in Tanzania, management concluded that 
there were impairment indicators on the Ruvuma PSA CGU which resulted in the impairment of the Lindi exploration and 
evaluation costs of US$10.4 million, discussed in detail in Note 10. 
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Carrying value of intangible exploration and evaluation assets (Note 10): continued
In respect to the Nyuni Area PSA CGU, management concluded in 2018 that an impairment trigger event had occurred 
and resulted in the asset being fully impaired. Expenditure on the Nyuni Area PSA E&E asset during 2019 was capitalised 
and immediately impaired from the exploration and evaluation assets to the income statement as exploration and evaluation 
expenditure in line with the Group’s policy. If the Group secures a second extension period over the Nyuni Area PSA the result 
of future exploration and appraisal work will require judgement of whether there is any indication of a reversal in impairment of 
the asset. 
Carrying value of property plant and equipment assets (Note 11): 
During oil and gas operations production from a well is subject to a rate of decline as the reservoir is depleted and the 
pressure naturally decreases. There are various mechanical options available to the business to remedy such decline and 
to increase production from an existing well. Management’s critical judgements in deciding whether they can remediate a 
decline in production relate to: whether the technology and technical expertise is available at its operating locations to remedy 
the production decline, whether the chosen remedial action will be successful and whether it will be economical to perform 
the remediation work. If management decides, after reviewing all available options, that there is no economical method for 
remediating a well, an asset would potentially be impaired. 
During 2019, as there was no production from the Kiliwani North-1 well, management assessed the asset for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36. Management concluded that although there is a clear remediation plan in place that can potentially 
recover further volumes from the Kiliwani North-1 well, following the delays getting approval from the Tanzania authorities to 
progress the remediation plan management revised some of its recovery scenarios available to the Group and consequently 
a partial impairment was recognised on the asset. Details of the impairment are disclosed in Note 11. The results of future 
remediation work may be different to current management judgements and will likely result in a further impairment or impairment 
reversal to the Kiliwani North CGU which would impact the Group’s financial statements.
Recoverability of trade receivable (Note 15) 
The Group uses a forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of financial assets in accordance 
with IFRS 9, including short-term trade receivables. The standard requires the Company to book an allowance for ECLs for its 
financial assets. Management calculate a net present value of outstanding receivables discounted by the discount rate that 
reflects counterparty credit risk, for a range of possible scenarios including delays and no payment with a probability assigned 
to each. The assumptions of scenarios, probability weighting and discount rate require critical judgement. 
The Group’s trade receivables are due from one customer, the TPDC, which owes the Group trade receivables amounting 
to US$7.80 million, of which Aminex’s net share amounts to US$3.23 million (see Note 15). The Company evaluates the 
collectability of its receivables on the basis of past events, current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions, 
as well as management’s assessment of the customer’s willingness and ability to pay. Critical judgements also relate to 
confirmation that gas production has been invoiced and interest for late payment charged in accordance with the Kiliwani North 
Gas Sales Agreement and that the TPDC has an obligation to pay the amounts due. 
Recoverability of amounts due from subsidiary undertakings (Note 14):  
During the period, following the impairment to the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets of US$10.9 million and the 
impairment against the Kiliwani North property, plant and equipment CGU of US$0.81 million there was considered to be 
an increased credit risk. Therefore, in line with the requirements of IFRS 9, the Company calculated an expected credit loss 
equivalent to the lifetime expected credit losses. 
Arriving at the expected credit loss allowance involved considering different scenarios for the recovery of the intercompany loan 
receivables, the possible credit losses that could arise and the probabilities for these scenarios. The following was considered: 
the success of the Farm-Out, value of the potential reserves, project risks, the ability to achieve certain production levels. 
Third party valuation reports were used to support valuations where available. Significant judgement is required in determining 
the probability of the different scenarios. The Company applies no discounting to the expected credit loss calculation as the 
effective interest rate is considered to be 0% as the loans are interest free. 
Following the review, the loans due from subsidiaries were considered unlikely to be repaid in full and a partial impairment was 
recognised (see Note 14).
Recognition of contingent liabilities (Note 24): 
During the year, the Tanzania Revenue Authority (“TRA”) were in the process of finalising an audit of taxation years 2013 to 
2015 with an assessment issued to the Group in February 2020 covering non income taxes including VAT, withholding tax and 
employment taxes. In 2018, the Group received notification from the TPDC requesting payment of certain amounts (see Note 
24). Judgement is required to determine whether these amounts should be provided for or disclosed as contingent liabilities. 
Critical judgements relate to the application of certain criteria in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets” that include: whether the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, whether there is a 
probable outflow of economic resources, and whether that outflow can be measured reliably. 
Going concern: 
Refer to page 39 and 40.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below.
Carrying value of property, plant and equipment (Note 11):
Management performs impairment reviews on the Group’s property, plant and equipment assets at least twice annually with 
reference to indicators in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. Estimation of the asset value of oil and gas assets is calculated from a 
number of inputs that require varying degrees of estimation. Principally oil and gas assets are valued by estimating the future 
cash flows based on a combination of reserves and resources, costs of appraisal, development and production, production 
profile and future sales price and discounting those cash flows at an appropriate discount rate. 
The estimation of the recoverable amount of the Kiliwani North CGU includes key assumptions related to production 
profiles, commercial reserves, discount rates, and related cost profiles. In addition, the recoverable amount includes the 
key assessment of approval of work programmes from the Tanzanian authorities, the timing of which is outside the control 
of management. Lack of progress on approvals can result in significant delays in value realisation and consequently a lower 
asset value. Such assumptions may change from time to time due to changes in local legislation or regulation, market forces 
or more data being available. 
During 2019, key changes to accounting estimates related to production volumes, production timings and discount rate. 
Discount rate is assessed by the Group using various inputs from market data, external advisers and internal calculations. A 
discount rate of 15% (2018: 10%) was used for impairment testing of the Kiliwani North CGU, reflecting the specific degree 
of risk associated with the well. Production volume and timing estimates were adjusted due to delays in receiving approvals 
for the remediation programme from the Tanzanian authorities which had previously been forecast to take place during 2019. 
Management reflected the potential for future delays in seeking approvals to remediate the Kiliwani North-1 well in the current 
forecast. These changes to accounting estimates resulted in an impairment charge recognised on the Kiliwani North CGU (see 
Note 11). Timing, cost and results of the remediation work on the Kiliwani North-1 well may give rise to alternative estimates 
which could impact the Group’s financial statements. 
Commercial reserves estimates used in the calculation of depletion, depreciation and amortisation, and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment (Note 11):
Proven and probable reserves are estimates of the amount of oil and gas that can be economically extracted from the Group’s 
oil and gas assets. The Group estimates its reserves using standard recognised evaluation techniques. The estimate is annually 
reviewed by independent consultants. A significant reduction in reserve estimates would indicate an impairment trigger for the 
related developed and producing assets which could materially impact the financial statements of the Group. 
Decommissioning estimates (Note 19): 
There is uncertainty around the cost of decommissioning as cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including 
changes to the relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new technology or experience at other assets. The expected 
timing, work scope and amount and currency mix of expenditure required may also change. Therefore, significant estimates 
and assumptions are made in determining the provision for decommissioning.
The estimated decommissioning costs are reviewed annually by an internal expert. Provision for environmental clean-up and 
remediation costs is based on current legal and contractual requirements, technology and management’s estimate of costs 
with reference to current price levels. 
Uncertain tax and regulatory positions (Note 24):  
The Group is subject to various tax and regulatory audits from time to time in the ordinary course of business, which may give 
rise to assessments and the potential for items considered to be available for cost recovery to be disallowed in the jurisdictions 
in which the Group operates. In order to assess whether these amounts should be provided for in the Financial Statements 
management has assessed these matters in the context of the laws and operating agreements of the countries in which it 
operates. Management has applied judgement in assessing the likely outcome of these matters and has estimated the financial 
impact based on external tax and legal advice, recent precedents in the relevant jurisdiction and prior experience of such audits. 
During 2019, the Tanzania Revenue Authority (“TRA”) concluded their audit work for taxation years 2013 to 2015, resulting in a tax 
assessment received in February 2020. Due to the interpretation of tax law in-country by the TRA significant uncertainty remains 
and the results of any submitted objections or appeals process in relation to the tax assessment can influence the estimation of 
any future liability. This uncertainty often remains until the conclusion of this process. Details of the assessment are disclosed in 
Note 24. 

1 Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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2 Segmental Information
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.
The Group considers that its operating segments consist of (i) Producing Oil and Gas Properties, (ii) Exploration Activities and (iii) 
Oilfield Services. These segments are those that are reviewed regularly by the Chief Executive Officer (Chief Operating Decision 
Maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete 
financial information is available. However, the Group further analyses these by region for information purposes. Segment results 
include items directly attributable to the segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated 
Aminex Group items comprise mainly head office expenses, cash balances and certain other items.
The Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers. The timing of revenue streams depends on the following for 
products and services:
Producing oil and gas assets
The Group satisfies its performance obligation by transferring a nominated volume of gas to its customer. The title to gas 
transfers to a customer when the customer takes physical possession of the gas at the contracted delivery point. The gas needs 
to meet certain agreed specifications. The Group generates all its revenue under this segment from the TPDC, the operator of 
the Songo Songo Island Gas Processing Plant, under a gas sales agreement.  
Oilfield services
Revenue for services is recognised as services are rendered to the customer. All services rendered by the Group relate to Joint 
operations to which the Group is a party and the terms of the services provided are subject to service contracts. 
The IFRS 8 operating segments as follows (i) Producing Oil and Gas Properties, (ii) Exploration Activities and (iii) Oilfield Services 
are the disaggregation of revenue from customers as required by IFRS 15.  
Operating segment results - 2019  
	 Tanzania	 Tanzania	 UK	 Unallocated
	 Producing oil 	 Exploration	 Oilfield	 Corporate
	 and gas properties	 activities	 services	 Aminex Group	 Total
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Revenue	 -	 -	 357	 -	 357
Cost of sales	 (449)	 -	 (357)	 -	 (806)
Depletion	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 	 	 	 	
Gross loss	 (449)	 -	 -	 -	 (449)
Depreciation 	 (57)			   (183)	 (240)
Administrative expenses 	 (687)	 -	 (989)	 (1,077)	 (2,753)
Impairment against property, plant and equipment assets	 (809)	 -	 -	 -	 (809)
Impairment against exploration and evaluation assets	 -	 (10,928)	 -	 -	 (10,928)
	 	 	 	 	
Operating loss	 (2,002)	 (10,928)	 (989)	 (1,260)	 (15,179)
Finance costs  	 (53)	 (11)	 -	 (18)	 (82)
Finance income 	 -	 -	 -	 4	 4
Foreign exchange gain  	 -	 -	 -	 26	 26
	 	 	 	 	
Loss before tax	 (2,055)	 (10,939)	 (989)	 (1,248)	 (15,231)
Taxation 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 	 	 	 	
Loss after tax	 (2,055)	 (10,939)	 (989)	 (1,248)	 (15,231)	 	 	 	 	
Segment assets	 5,973	 49,239	 -	 4,277	 59,489
Segment liabilities 	 (5,000)	 (2,749)	 -	 (4,969)	 (12,718)
Capital expenditure additions 	 -	 1,361	 -	 6	 1,367	 	 	 	 	
Other material non-cash items	
Share based payments (Note 4)	 -	 -	 -	 (369)	 (369)
Unwinding of discount on decommissioning
provision (Note 19)	 (53)	 (11)	 -	 -	 (64)	 	 	 	 	
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2 Segmental Information (continued)
Operating segment results - 2018  	 Tanzania	 Tanzania	 UK	 Unallocated
	 Producing oil 	 Exploration	 Oilfield	 Corporate
	 and gas properties	 activities	 services	 Aminex Group	 Total
	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Revenue	 47	 -	 570	 -	 617
Cost of sales	 (1,411)	 -	 (570)	 -	 (1,981)
Depletion	 (36)	 -	 -	 -	 (36)
	 	 	 	 	
Gross profit	 (1,400)	 -	 -	 -	 (1,400)
Depreciation 	 -	 -	 -	 (22)	 (22)
Administrative expenses 	 (835)	 -	 (1,294)	 (1,498)	 (3,627)
Impairment against exploration and evaluation assets	 -	 (43,474)	 -	 -	 (43,474)
Other gains	 -	 -	 -	 13	 13
	 	 	 	 	
Operating loss 	 (2,235)	 (43,474)	 (1,294)	 (1,507)	 (48,510)
Finance costs  	 (20)	 (44)	 -	 -	 (64)
Finance income 	 -	 -	 -	 8	 8
Foreign exchange gain 	 -	 -	 -	 57	 57
	 	 	 	 	
Profit loss before tax	 (2,255)	 (43,518)	 (1,294)	 (1,442)	 (48,509)
Taxation 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 	 	 	 	
Profit loss after tax	 (2,255)	 (43,518)	 (1,294)	 (1,442)	 (48,509)	
	 	 	 	 	

Segment assets	 8,015	 59,186	 -	 3,092	 70,293
Segment liabilities 	 (5,472)	 (2,714)	 -	 (2,501)	 (10,687)
Capital expenditure additions 	 -	 2,421	 -	 26	 2,447
	 	 	 	 	
Other material non-cash items 
Share based payments (Note 4)	 -	 -	 -	 (581)	 (581)
Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (Note19)	 (20)	 (44)	 -	 -	 (64)
	 	 	 	 	
Total non-current assets and liabilities by geographical region are set out in Notes 10, 11, 18 and 19 to the financial statements.  

3 Employment
Employment costs charged against the Group operating loss are analysed as follows:
		  2019	 2018	
 		  US$’000	 US$’000
Salaries and wages		  1,939	 2,301
Social security costs		  244	 25
Other pension costs		  69	 72
Redundancy		  17	 -
Share based payment charge		  369	 581		  	
	 2,638	 2,979
Employment costs capitalised (Note 10)	 (840)	 (958)	 	
Employment costs charged against the Group operating loss	 1,798	 2,021	
	 	
A proportion of the Group’s employment costs charged against the Group operating loss are recharged to partners in Joint 
operations by the Group acting as operator, a proportion is allocated to the Group’s cost of sales with the remainder classified 
under administrative expenses.  
The Group’s average number of employees, including Executive Directors, during the year was:	 2019	 2018	
 	 US$’000	 US$’000	
Europe	 9	 9
Tanzania	 7	 8		 	
	 16	 17		 	
Employment costs charged against the Company operating loss are analysed as follows:
	 2019	 2018	
 	 US$’000	 US$’000	
Share based payment charge	 229	 24		 	
The Company incurs no other employment costs and has no employees.
Directors’ emoluments (which are included in administrative expenses) and interests are shown in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 27 to 28.
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4 Share based payments
Aminex PLC operates a Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”). Under the terms of the Scheme, certain Directors and employees 
of Aminex PLC and its subsidiary companies are entitled to subscribe for Ordinary Shares in Aminex PLC at the market value 
on the date of the granting of the options, subject to a maximum aggregate of 10% of the issued Ordinary Share capital of 
Aminex PLC.
Options are granted at market price, in accordance with the Scheme rules, with reference to the average closing price for 
the fourteen days prior to the grant of options. Options granted before and during 2010 will expire at a date no later than 10 
years after their grant date. These options generally vest if employees remain in service for 3 years from the date of grant and 
Directors’ options vest immediately. No options were granted between 2011 and 2015. Options granted in 2016 and 2018 vest 
immediately and will expire at a date no later than 3 years after their grant date. Of the options granted in 2019, those issued in 
February and June vest immediately, and the options granted in November 2019 vest in tranches subject to the achievement 
of certain market and non-market performance conditions. The options granted in 2019 will expire at a date either 5 years, 7 
years or 10 years after their date of grant, as detailed below. 
The fair value of the grant date is measured using a recognised valuation methodology for the pricing of financial instruments 
i.e. the Black-Scholes method.
The following expenses have been recognised in the income statement arising on share-based payments and included within 
administrative expenses:
	 2019	 2018	
 	 US$’000	 US$’000	
Share based payment charge	 369	 581	 		 	

The fair value of options granted for Directors and staff in the period were calculated using the following inputs into the Black-
Scholes method (previously the fair value of options were estimated using the binomial option-pricing model):
Date of grant	 11 November 2019	           20 June 2019	 14 February 2019
Contractual life	                7 years	 5 years	 10 years
Exercise price	    Stg 1.40 pence	 Stg 0.86 pence	 Stg 1.56 pence
Number of options granted (immediate vesting)	          92,000,000	 17,000,000	 6,411,000
Expected volatility	                     77%	 75%	 94%
Vesting conditions	           Market and non-market	 Immediate	 Immediate
Fair value per option	    Stg 0.64 pence	 Stg 0.38 pence	 Stg 0.76 pence
Expected dividend	                          -	 -	 -
Risk-free rate	                0.001%	 0.001%	 0.0001%

	 Number	 Average
	 of options	 exercise price

Outstanding at 1 January 2018	 137,750,000	 Stg2.18p
Granted	 42,000,000	 Stg3.08p
Expired	 (1,500,000)	 Stg22.0p
	 	
Outstanding at 1 January 2019	 178,250,000	 Stg2.46p
Granted	 115,411,000	 Stg1.33p
Expired	 (111,400,000)	 Stg1.35p
	 	
Outstanding at 31 December 2019	 182,261,000	 Stg2.42p
	 	
Exercisable at 31 December 2018	 178,250,000	 Stg2.46p
	 	
Exercisable at 31 December 2019	 113,261,000	 Stg3.04p
	 	
On 31 December 2019, there were options over 113,261,000 (2018: 178,250,000) Ordinary Shares outstanding which are 
exercisable at prices ranging from Stg0.86 pence to Stg9.0 pence per share and which expire at various dates up to 2029. The 
weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding is 4.46 years (2018: 0.85 years). The average share price 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was Stg1.13pence/€0.01005 (2018: Stg2.27pence/€0.02607).
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5 Loss before tax 
The loss before tax has been arrived at after charging / (crediting) the following items:   
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000 
Depletion of producing asset	 -	 36
Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment	 240	 22
Auditor’s remuneration – Group audit (i)	 82	 97
Auditor’s remuneration – overseas	 42	 51
Auditor’s remuneration – interim review	 -	 21
Auditor’s remuneration – tax advisory services	 -	 49
Auditor’s remuneration – non-audit services	 -	 97
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 	 -	 2
Receipt of US production payments 	 -	 (15)	 	

(i) Audit comprises audit work performed by BDO Ireland and member firm on the consolidated financial statements. In 2019, 
US$13,000 (2018: US$7,000) of audit fees related to the audit of the Company. The auditor to the Group and Company in 2018 
was KPMG Ireland.	

6 Finance income	
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000 
Deposit interest income	 4	 8
Foreign exchange gain	 26	 57	
	 	
	 30	 65	 	

7 Finance costs	
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (see Note 19)	 64	 64
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 18)	 18	 -	 	
	 82	 64		 	
8 Income tax expense
The components of the income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000Current tax expense:
Current year	 -	 -		 	
Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences	 -	 -
	 	
Total income tax expense for the Group	 -	 -	 	
A reconciliation of the expected tax benefit computed by applying the standard Irish tax rate to the loss before tax to the actual 
benefit is as follows:	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000
Loss before tax	 (15,231)	 (48,509) 		 	
Irish standard tax rate	 12.5%	 12.5%
Taxes at the Irish standard rate	 (1,904)	 (6,064)
Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdiction	 (232)	 (616)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 1,617	 5,249
Losses utilised / (carried forward)  	 519	 1,431	 	
	 -	 -	 	

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes predominantly relate to impairment charge taken during the year on exploration and 
evaluation assets of US$10.9 million (2018: US$43.5 million) and the impairment against property, plant and equipment assets 
of US$809,000 (2018: US$nil).  



Aminex PLC annual report 2019
53

Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

8 Income tax expense (continued)

The following deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the balance sheet as it is currently considered uncertain that 
the assets will be realised in the future.	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000

Net operating losses	 24,652	 19,473		 	
The gross amount of unused tax losses carried forward with their expiry dates is as follows:
	 Ireland 	 UK	  ROW	 Total 
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	
	 	 	 	
One year	 -	 -	 -	 -
Two years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Three years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Four years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Five years	 -	 -	 -	 -
More than five years	 12,857	 23,737	 63,366	 99,960	 	 	 	
Total	 12,857	 23,737	 63,366	 99,960	 	 	 	
	 Ireland	 UK	  ROW	 Total 
	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000			 	 	 	
One year	 -	 -	 -	 -
Two years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Three years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Four years	 -	 -	 -	 -
Five years	 -	 -	 -	 -
More than five years	 12,537	 21,390	 47,539	 81,466	 	 	 	
Total	 12,537	 21,390	 47,539	 81,466		 	 	 	
These losses can be carried forward indefinitely but may only be offset against taxable gains or taxable profits earned from 
the same trade or trades.

9 Loss per Ordinary Share
The basic loss per Ordinary Share is calculated using a numerator of the loss for the financial year and a denominator of the 
weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue for the financial year. The diluted loss per Ordinary Share is calculated 
using a numerator of the loss for the financial year and a denominator of the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 
outstanding and adjusting for the effect of all potentially dilutive shares, including share options and share warrants, assuming 
that they had been converted.
The calculations for the basic loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
	 2019	 2018

Loss for the financial year (US$’000)	 (15,231)	 (48,509)		 	
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (’000)	   3,757,787	 3,643,458		 	
Basic and diluted loss per Ordinary Share (US cents)	 (0.41)	 (1.33)	 	

There is no difference between the basic loss per Ordinary Share and the diluted loss per Ordinary Share for the years ended 
31 December 2019 and 2018 as all potential Ordinary Shares outstanding are anti-dilutive. There were 182,261,000 (2018: 
178,250,000) share options issued which are anti-dilutive as at 31 December 2019.
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10 Exploration and evaluation assets
Group		 	 Tanzania
	 and Total
	 US$’000Cost	
At 1 January 2018	 104,668
Additions	 1,463
Employment costs capitalised	 958	
At 31 December 2018	 107,089
Additions	 521
Employment costs capitalised	 840	
At 31 December 2019	 108,450	
Provisions for impairment	
At 1 January 2018 	 5,081
Increase in impairment provision	 43,474	
At 31 December 2018	 48,555
Increase in impairment provision	 10,928	
At 31 December 2019	 59,483	
Net book value At 31 December 2019	 48,967	
At 31 December 2018	 58,534	

The Group does not hold any property, plant and equipment within exploration and evaluation assets. 
The additions to exploration and evaluation assets during the period relate mainly to own costs capitalised for geological, geophysical 
and administrative (“GG&A”) work and licence maintenance costs, along with training and licence fees under the respective PSAs.  
The Directors have considered the licence, exploration and appraisal costs incurred in respect of its exploration and evaluation 
assets, which comprise the following three CGUs; the Ruvuma PSA, the Nyuni Area PSA and exploration work on Kiliwani South 
within the Kiliwani North Development Licence. These assets are carried at historical cost except for provisions against the Nyuni 
Area PSA and the Lindi Licence exploration expenditure, cost of seismic acquired over relinquished blocks and obsolete stock. 
In accordance with its accounting policies each CGU is evaluated annually for impairment, with an impairment test required when a 
change in facts and circumstances, in particular with regard to the remaining licence terms, likelihood of renewal, likelihood of further 
expenditures and ongoing acquired data for each area, result in an indication of impairment. The progress during the year of E&E 
assets are more fully described in the Operations Report. 
Tanzania developments   
Production Sharing Agreement Review 
The Tanzanian government passed three new laws in July 2017, affecting the mining and energy sectors - the Natural Wealth 
and Resources (Permanent Sovereignty) Act; the Written Laws (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act; and the Natural Wealth 
and Resources Contracts (Review and Re-Negotiation of Unconscionable Terms). This new legislation includes the right of 
the Tanzanian authorities to renegotiate ‘unconscionable terms’ in agreements. A special advisory committee was formed 
in November 2017 to probe for flaws in the law and policies governing the gas subsector and recommend how the nation 
can benefit from the revenues accruing from the gas subsector. During 2019, this review remained ongoing as the Tanzanian 
authorities continue to review a number of PSAs. Based on the Board’s current understanding of this new legislation and given 
the existing terms and conditions of our PSAs it is unclear whether there will be any material impact on Aminex’s operations in 
Tanzania. Until the results of the PSA review are known there is insufficient data to consider the new laws or the PSA review as 
an indicator of impairment. 
New Upstream Petroleum Regulations 
In December 2019, the Government of Tanzania released new regulations in respect to the upstream petroleum industry. These 
regulations were: 
1.	 Petroleum (Reconnaissance and Tendering) Regulations
2.	 Petroleum (Cost Recovery Accounting) Regulations, and 
3.	 Upstream Petroleum Authority (Annual Levy, Fees and Charges) 
A key change relates to the ringfencing of exploration costs. Section 5(1) of the new Petroleum (Cost Recovery Accounting) 
Regulations states that “Recoverable contract expenses shall be ring fenced based on exploration licence or development 
licence as stipulated in the Act.” The change in regulations is an indication of impairment of Lindi exploration costs under 
the Ruvuma PSA and therefore management conducted an impairment test during the year on the asset that resulted in 
impairment (see below).  
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10 Exploration and evaluation assets (continued)

Ruvuma PSA
The Ruvuma PSA, comprised two exploration licences; Mtwara and Lindi. In July 2018, Aminex announced it had signed a 
binding Farm-Out Agreement to farm-out 50% of the Ruvuma PSA to The Zubair Corporation LLC (“Zubair”), a related party of 
the Group. In return for a 50% interest in the Ruvuma PSA, Zubair will pay cash consideration of US$5.0 million plus payment 
for interim costs incurred on the Ruvuma PSA since 15 March 2018, the effective date of the Farm-Out, and a net US$35.0 
million carry for Aminex’s 25% interest on the development programme, expected to be through to production. The Farm-Out 
remains subject to approval by the Tanzanian authorities. In April 2020, the Group received a one year extension to the Mtwara 
Licence, details of which are included in Note 28, satisfying one of the remaining conditions precedent to the Farm-Out. An 
associate of Zubair, ARA Petroleum Tanzania Limited, will become operator under the Ruvuma PSA and is required to drill the 
Chikumbi-1 well, acquire at least 200 km2 of 3D seismic over the Ntorya Prospect and implement an early production system 
(or proceed directly to a full production system as may be required). The purpose of the Farm-Out is to accelerate development 
of and production from the Ntorya field. The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Farm-Out will be completed no later 
than the long stop date of 30 June 2020.  
The Lindi licence expired in January 2017. Ordinarily, the expiry of an exploration licence would be an indicator of impairment, 
however, the Ruvuma PSA states that there is no ringfencing of exploration costs between licences and therefore the cost pool 
for the Lindi Licence is recoverable from the Mtwara Licence under the Ruvuma PSA. During 2019, the Tanzanian Government 
published regulations that stated exploration costs would be ring fenced by Licence and the Directors have taken the view that, 
although the Ruvuma PSA contains an economic stabalisation clause, this change has created uncertainty of recoverability of 
the Lindi exploration costs. Consequently, the carrying cost of the Lindi Licence, which amounts to US$10.4 million, has been 
impaired. 
The Directors are satisfied that following the impairment assessment of the Ruvuma PSA there are no indicators of impairment 
following the granting of the Mtwara Licence extension and the identified Ntorya asset development programme, supported 
by the Farm-Out that provides the necessary funding for the development of the asset. The Directors recognise that future 
realisation of the Ruvuma PSA assets is dependent on the completion of the Farm-Out and further successful exploration, 
appraisal and development activities and the subsequent economic production of hydrocarbon reserves. 
Nyuni Area PSA
Aminex fully provided for the Nyuni Area PSA exploration asset in 2018 following confirmation from the Tanzania authorities 
that the Nyuni Licence period ended in October 2019, coupled with the communication from the Tanzania Ministry of Energy 
to withhold all work on the licence, pending a review of the Nyuni Area PSA. The Company was unable to progress the work 
programme and, therefore, the Directors concluded that the carrying cost of the Nyuni asset should be fully impaired. The 
status of the Nyuni asset remained the same at 31 December 2019 and the Directors maintain their position. Expenditure 
during the year is capitalised and then immediately impaired to the income statement as impairment against exploration and 
evaluation assets. 
Kiliwani South
Kiliwani South, located within the Kiliwani North Development Licence acreage, has been identified as a potential lead. In 
February 2019, the Group raised approximately US$2.4 million gross to provide funding for the reprocessing of some of the 
existing 2D seismic in the area and to prepare a 3D seismic programme over the Kiliwani North Development Licence area in 
order to advance the potential drilling of a Kiliwani South location and assessing the remaining potential in the Kiliwani North 
structure (inclusive of the Kiliwani North-1 well). During the year, Aminex conducted the reprocessing of select 2D seismic 
data. Remapping of the reprocessed data in combination with a fresh look at the regional data has identified multiple structural 
and stratigraphic leads across the licence which are ideally located in shallow waters and in close proximity to existing offtake 
infrastructure, meaning that a discovery could be rapidly monetized with relatively low-cost drilling and tie-backs. 
The Directors are satisfied that, following an assessment of the Kiliwani South asset, with the work planned on the Licence 
there are no indicators of impairment. 
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11 Property, plant and equipment
Group	 Producing 	  
	 assets - 	 Right of use	 Other		
	 Tanzania	 assets	 assets	 Total	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Cost		�� 
At 1 January 2018	 8,205	 -	 82	 8,287
Additions in the year	 -	 -	 26	 26
Disposed of during the year	 -	 -	 (34)	 (34)
Exchange rate adjustment	 -	 -	 (6)	 (6)		 	 	 		
At 31 December 2018	 8,205	 -	 68	 8,273
Adoption of IFRS 16 - right of use asset	 -	 851	 -	 851
Additions in the year	 -	 -	 6	 6
Disposed of during the year	 -	 -	 -	 -
Exchange rate adjustment	 -	  24	 (8)	 16	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2019	 8,205	 875	 66	 9,146	 	 	 	  	
Depreciation
At 1 January 2018	 5,803	 -	 55	 5,858
Charge for the year	 36	 -	 22	 58
Disposed of during the year	 -	 -	 (32)	 (32)
Exchange rate adjustment	 -	 -	 (4)	 (4)	 	 	 		
At 31 December 2018	 5,839	 -	 41	 5,880
Adoption of IFRS 16 - right of use asset	 -	 247	 -	 247
Charge for the year	 -	 227	 13	 240
Disposed of during the year	 -	 -	 -	 -
Impairment	 809	 -	 -	 809
Exchange rate adjustment	 -	 11	 -	 11	 	 	 	  
At 31 December 2019	 6,648	 485	 54	 7,187	 	 	 	  	
Net book value
At 31 December 2019	 1,557	 390	 12	 1,959	 	 	 	  	
At 31 December 2018 	 2,366	 -	 27	 2,393	 	 	 	
Development property - Tanzania  
Following the award of the Kiliwani North Development Licence by the Tanzanian Government in April 2011, the carrying cost 
relating to the development licence was reclassified as a development asset under property, plant and equipment, in line with 
accounting standards and the Group’s accounting policies. Production from the Kiliwani North-1 well commenced on 4 April 
2016 and depletion is calculated with reference to the remaining reserves of 1.94 BCF, which were ascribed to the field as at 1 
January 2018 in an independent reserves and resources report prepared by RPS in February 2018. The report also identified 
a contingent resource of 30.8 BCF in addition to the reserves. The well has produced approximately 6.4 BCF of gas to date. 
Production from the Kiliwani North-1 well in 2018 was intermittent and there was no commercial production from the well in 
2019. Following a successful well intervention to open the sub-surface safety valve carried out in December 2018, Aminex has 
experienced delays through the rest of 2019 in awaiting final approval to carry out a remedial work programme. The programme 
is intended to establish fluid levels in the wellbore, reservoir pressure and to unload fluid using foam treatment technology. The 
intention of this operation, if successful, is to re-establish gas production from the well. 
In accordance with IAS 36, the Group conducted an impairment test as at 31 December 2019 on a value-in-use basis. The 
cash-generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing is the Kiliwani North-1 well. A financial model of the forecast 
discounted cash flow is employed for the value-in-use calculation of the well. 
Key assumptions that represent the key sensitivities in the value-in-use calculation include discount rate, production volumes, 
timing of the commencement of gas production, remediation work on the gas well being successful and the cost of remediation 
work. Following a review of the key assumptions used in the impairment test as a result of the delays experienced throughout 
2019 changes in estimates were applied to the inputs to the value-in-use forecast in respect of timing and volume of production, 
including sensitivities reflecting potential extended delays of 1 or 2 years in conducting remediation work, lower-end estimates 
of reserves recoveries of 0.8 BCF (2018: 1.4 BCF) and an increased discount rate of 15% (2018: 10%) reflecting the specific 
degree of risk associated with the well. A 5% increase in the discount rate would result in an increase in impairment of 
US$68,000 and a further year’s delay in production would increase the impairment by US$154,000.
These changes in accounting estimates resulted in a partial impairment of $809,000 against the Kiliwani North CGU. 
Once the remediation work on the Kiliwani North-1 well, discussed above, is complete, it is expected that the results will further 
reduce the key estimation uncertainties currently used in the impairment test, particularly around the remaining volume and 
timing of gas production. This will provide a clearer understanding of the likelihood for producing the remaining reserves and 
potential resources assigned to the well and therefore impact on the sensitivity of inputs used for future impairment tests. 
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11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Right of use assets   
All right of use assets relate to leases the Group has entered into in respect of various office properties. All leases are accounted 
for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:
•	 Leases of low value assets; and 
•	 Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.
IFRS 16 was adopted 1 January 2019 without restatement of comparative figures. For an explanation of the transitional 
requirements that were applied as at 1 January 2019, see Note 1. See Note 18 for disclosures around the Group’s lease liabilities. 
Right of use assets of US$361,000 (2018: US$nil) relate to an office lease located in the UK and US$29,000 (2018: US$nil) 
located in Tanzania. All other assets are located in the UK. 

12 Interests in joint operations 
Exploration, evaluation, appraisal and development activities are conducted through joint arrangements governed by joint 
operating agreements and production sharing agreements. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have 
joint control to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Significant joint operations of the 
Group are those with the most significant contributions to the Group’s net profit or net assets. The Group’s interest in the joint 
operations results are listed in the table below: 			   Group interest 
Significant joint operations 	 Country of operation	 Principal activity 	 2019	 2018
Ruvuma PSA (1)	 Tanzania 	 Exploration and evaluation	 75%	 75%
Nyuni Area PSA (2)	 Tanzania 	 Exploration and evaluation	 100%	 100%
Kiliwani North Development Licence (1)	 Tanzania 	 Development and production	 63.83%	 63.83%
(1) While the Group holds a greater than 50 per cent interest in these joint operations, all participants in these joint operations approve the operating and capital 
budgets and therefore the Group has joint control over the relevant activities of these arrangements. 
(2) This contractual arrangement is controlled by the Group and does not meet the definition of joint operations. However, as it is formed by a contractual 
arrangement and is not an entity, the Group recognises its share of assets and liabilities arising from this arrangement.

13 Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Company			   US$’000
At 1 January 2018	 	 	 5,207
Additions			   1,384			 
At 31 December 2018	 	 	 6,591
Additions			   141			 
At 31 December 2019			   6,732			 

Provisions for impairment 			 
At 1 January 2018	 	 	 -
Increase in provision			   -			 
At 31 December 2018	 	 	 -
Increase in provision			   1,086			 
At 31 December 2019			   1,086			 
Net book value		
At 31 December 2019	 		  5,646
			 
At 31 December 2018	 	 	 6,591			 

The Company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings increased by US$141,000 (2018: US$1,384,000). 2018 includes a 
reclassification of share based payment charges of US$827,000 relating to options granted in 2016 and 2017 which were 
previously treated as a receivable due from subsidiary undertakings. The Company reviewed the recoverability scenarios of 
each investment in subsidiaries and recognised a provision of USD$1.09 million (2018: US$nil). After taking into account the 
provision shown above, the Directors believe the carrying value of these loans to be fully recoverable.  
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13 Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Subsidiary undertakings 
As at 31 December 2019 the Company had the following subsidiary undertakings, in which the Company directly or indirectly 
held ordinary shares:	 Proportion held by	 Proportion held by	 Country of
	 Company	 Subsidiary	 Incorporation
Oil and Gas Exploration, Development and Production
Aminex Petroleum Services Limited (1)	 100%	 -	 UK
Amossco Holdings Limited (1) 	 -	 100%	 UK
Amossco Limited (1)	 -	 100%	 UK
Amossco ODS Limited (1)	 -	 100%	 UK
Halyard Offshore Limited (1)	 -	 100%	 UK
Tanzoil N.L. (2)	 100%	 -	 Australia
Ndovu Resources Limited (3)	 -	 100%	 Tanzania
Osceola Hydrocarbons PLC (4)	 100%	 -	 Ireland
Osceola Oil and Gas Limited (5)	 -	 100%	 UK
Registered offices
1. 	Kings Buildings, 16 Smith Square, London SW1P 3JJ.
2.	 6 Ling Court Atwell, WA 6164, Australia.
3.	 Plot 431 Mahando Street, Msasani Peninsular, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
4.	 Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Business Park, Dublin 18, D18 R9C7, Ireland
5.	 The Soloist Building, 1 Lanyon Place, Belfast BT1 3LP, Northern Ireland

14 Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
Company		  US$’000
Cost
At 1 January 2018	 	 139,540
Advances to subsidiary undertakings		  2,366
Reversal of equity-settled share-based payments	 	 (827)		
At 1 January 2019		  141,079
Advances to subsidiary undertakings		  2,843		
At 31 December 2019		  143,922		
Provisions for impairment		
At 1 January 2018	 	 34,358
Increase in provision		  31,351		
At 1 January 2019		  65,709
Increase in provision		  12,286	 	
At 31 December 2019		  77,995		
Net book value
At 31 December 2019		   65,927		
At 31 December 2018	 	 75,370		
		  2019	 2018	
		  US$’000	 US$’000
Included in non-current assets		  65,354	 71,420
Included in current assets		  573	 3,950		  	
At 31 December		  65,927	 75,370		  	
Included in current assets are loans provided to subsidiary undertakings which are interest free and repayable on demand. 
Included in non-current assets is US$65.4 million (2018: US$71.4 million) which represents loans provided to subsidiary 
undertakings which are interest free and repayable on demand. The Directors do not expect to call for repayment of these loans 
in the foreseeable future. The loans are expected to be repaid by future revenues generated from the Group’s assets in Tanzania. 
During the period, following the impairment to the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets of US$10.9 million and the impairment 
against the Kiliwani North property, plant and equipment CGU of US$809,000 there was considered to be an increased credit 
risk. Therefore, in line with the requirements of IFRS 9, the Company calculated an expected credit loss equivalent to the lifetime 
expected credit losses. The Company reviewed the recoverability scenarios of each loan to subsidiaries. The following scenarios 
and their probabilities were considered for the recovery of the intercompany loan receivables: the success of the Farm-Out, value 
of the potential reserves, project risks, the ability to achieve certain production levels. Third party valuation reports were used to 
support valuations where available. This resulted in an increase in the provision of US$12.3 million (2018: US$31.4 million) against 
these loans, which were considered to be unlikely to be repaid in full. The Company applies no discounting to the expected credit 
loss calculation as the effective interest rate is considered to be 0% as the loans are interest free. After taking into account the 
provisions shown above, the Directors believe the carrying value of these loans to be fully recoverable.
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15 Trade and other receivables
	 Group	 Company
	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Current
Trade receivables	 7,951	 7,488	 -	 -
Amounts due from partners in Joint operations	 788	 269	 -	 -
VAT recoverable	 66	 5	 -	 -
Other receivables	 227	 144	 -	 -
Prepayments 	 99	 137	 17	 21	 	 	 	
	 9,131	 8,043	 17	 21	 	 	 	
Expected credit loss	 (1,262)	 (537)	 -	 -	 	 	 	
	 7,869	 7,506	 17	 21	 	 	 	
Trade receivables are interest bearing and are on terms of 30 days. Trade and other receivables amounted to US$7.87 million 
at the period end (31 December 2018: US$7.51 million). The increase largely relates to an increase in amounts owing from 
the Group’s partners in joint operations. Included in trade and other receivables is an amount of US$7.80 million due from the 
TPDC for gas sales from Kiliwani North and related late payment interest. Aminex’s net share of the receivable is US$3.23 million 
(31 December 2018: US$3.04 million). On 11 April 2018, the Company received formal notification from the TPDC requesting 
payment of certain amounts totalling US$5.97 million for liabilities arising on revenues from gas sales, of which Aminex’s share is 
estimated to be US$2.73 million. Of the amount claimed, Aminex has already accrued for the liabilities it considers appropriate 
based on its own calculations of amounts due as at 31 December 2019. Aminex has advised the TPDC that it does not accept 
the balance of the claims, which include computational inaccuracies. The TPDC has delayed settling its trade receivable balance 
while discussions continue. In accordance with IFRS 9, Aminex calculated an expected credit loss (“ECL”) based on its exposure 
to credit risk on its trade receivables at the end of the period and recognised an impairment on trade receivables of US$1.26 
million (2018: US$537,000), with a charge to the income statement of US$582,000 (2018: US$390,000), reflecting Aminex’s 
share after adjusting for the share related to partners in joint operations of US$143,000, resulting in a total increase in the 
expected credit loss balance for the period of US$725,000. The comparative ECL balance has been reclassified from trade and 
other payables. Further details of the reclassification have been provided in Note 1. The ECL is calculated on the full amount of 
US$7.80 million due to the Group for gas sales and late payment interest; any actual credit loss would be reduced by the liability 
due to the Group’s joint venture partners in respect of amounts due.

16 Cash and cash equivalents
	 Group	 Company
	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents	 694	 1,860	 214	 483	 	 	 	
Included in cash and cash equivalents is an amount of US$165,000 (2018: US$515,000) held on behalf of partners in 
Joint operations.

17 Trade and other payables	 Group	 Company
	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Current
Trade payables	 1,064	 1,042	 11	 274
Amounts due to partners in Joint operations	 1,999	 1,999	 -	 -
Withholding tax payable	 851	 593	 -	 -
VAT payable and excise duty	 1,707	 1,713	 -	 -
Capital gains tax payable	 327	 327	 -	 -
Other payables	 2,344	 983	 1,000	 -
Accruals	 3,218	 3,330	 378	 395	 	 	 	
	 11,510	 9,987	 1,389	 669		 	 	 	
Included in other payables for the Group and Company is US$1.0 million in relation to the Advance Funding Agreement 
(“Advance”) entered into between the Group and ARA Petroleum LLC, a related party of the Group (see Note 27), on 12 
November 2019. The Advance provides a US$3.0 million advance in instalments to the Company, ahead of Completion of the 
Farm-Out. The Advance will be offset against the first tranche of the cash consideration payable to Aminex on Completion of 
the Farm-Out. If Completion has not occurred by 30 June 2020, the Advance will convert to an interest-bearing secured loan 
at an interest rate of three month USD LIBOR plus 3.5%, repayable by 30 June 2021.
Amounts due to partners in Joint operations, VAT payable and other payables include amounts arising on gas sales and are 
payable on receipt of gas revenues from the TPDC. Certain comparative period payables have been reclassified to trade and 
other receivables. Details of the reclassification are provided in Note 1.
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair value.
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18 Lease liabilities
Group		  US$’000

At 1 January 2019	 577
Interest expense 	 18
Lease payments 	 (232)
Foreign exchange movements 	 16	
At 31 December 2019		  379			
	 31 December	 1 January
	 2019	 2019
	 US$’000	 US$’000

Current	 205	 232
Non-current	 174	 345	 	
Total lease liability 	 379	 577		 	
The Group leases a number of properties in the jurisdictions from which it operates. All lease liabilities relate to leases for various 
office properties the Group has entered into. Total non-current lease liabilities of US$174,000 (2018: US$nil) relate to corporate 
office space leased in the UK. The Group incurred low value lease payments during the year of US$27,000 (2018: US$27,000).  

19 Decommissioning provision
Group		  US$’000
At 1 January 2018	 636
Discount unwound in the year (see Note 7)	 64	
At 1 January 2019	 700
Discount unwound in the year (see Note 7)	 64	
At 31 December 2019		  764			
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000

Non-current	 764	 700	 	
Total decommissioning provision	 764	 700		 	
Decommissioning costs are expected to be incurred over the remaining lives of the wells, which are estimated to end between 
2021 and 2042. The provision for decommissioning is reviewed annually and at 31 December 2018 and 2019 relates to 
wells in Tanzania. The provision has been calculated assuming industry established oilfield decommissioning techniques and 
technology at current prices which are inflated to future costs at a rate of 3.6% per annum and discounted at 9.2% per annum, 
reflecting the associated risk profile.  

20 Financial instruments and risk management
General objectives, policies and procedures 
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and, whilst 
retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the 
effective implementation of the objectives and policies to executive management. The Board receives regular reports at Board 
meetings through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives 
and policies it sets. 
The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the 
Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below. 
Group
The Group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:
-	 Liquidity and interest rate risk 
-	 Commodity price risk 
-	 Foreign currency risk 
-	 Credit risk  
In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note 
describes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. 
Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements. 
The Group may from time to time enter into derivative transactions to minimise its exposure to interest rate fluctuations, foreign 
currency exchange rates and movements in oil and gas prices. There were no derivatives held at 31 December 2019 or 31 
December 2018. 
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20 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in 
this note.
The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, comprise: 
-	 Trade and other receivables 
-	 Cash and cash equivalents 
-	 Trade and other payables 
-	 Lease liabilities 
Policies for managing these risks are summarised as follows: 
a) Liquidity/interest rate risk
The Group closely monitors and manages its liquidity risk using both short and long-term cash flow projections. Cash forecasts 
are regularly produced, and sensitivities run for different scenarios including, but not limited to, changes in asset production 
profiles and cost schedules. The Group finances its operations through a mixture of shareholders’ funds, loans and borrowings 
and working capital. Board approval is required for all new borrowing facilities. 
b) Commodity risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in gas commodity prices. The Group monitors and 
manages this risk where considered appropriate through the use of fixed price gas sales contracts. 
The requirement for hedging instruments is kept under ongoing review. During the year, the Group did not enter into any 
hedging transactions.
c) Foreign currency risk
The Group reports in US dollars, which is the currency of a large proportion of its trading income. 
The Group conducts and manages its business predominantly in US dollars, the operating currency of the industry in which it 
participates. The Group also routinely purchases on the spot market the currencies of the countries in which it operates. From 
time to time certain transactions are undertaken denominated in other currencies. The risk is managed wherever possible by 
holding currency in US Dollars and other internationally recognised fungible currencies, converted into less stable currencies 
as and when the need arises.  
d) Credit risk
Credit risk to customers and to jointly operated activities arises on the outstanding receivables and outstanding cash calls due, 
as well as cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and outstanding production payments.
The carrying value of the Group’s various financial assets, as presented within the fair value table set out on below, represents 
the Group’s maximum credit risk exposure.
Fair value
The accounting classification for each class of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, together with their associated 
fair values, is set out below. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

		  Loans and		  Total
		  receivables at	 Liabilities at	 carrying	 Fair
		  amortised cost	 amortised cost	 amount	 value	
		  2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	
		  US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Other financial assets and financial liabilities
Current trade and other receivables		  8,966	 -	 8,966	 7,704
Cash and cash equivalents		  694	 -	 694	 -
Trade payables		  -	 (1,064)	 (1,064)	 -
Amounts due to partners in Joint operations		  -	 (1,999)	 (1,999)	 -
Other payables and accruals 		  -	 (4,674)	 (4,674)	 -		  	 	 	 	
	 	 Loans and		  Total
		  receivables at	 Liabilities at	 carrying	 Fair
		  amortised cost	 amortised cost	 amount	 value	
	 	 2018	 2018 	 2018	 2018
			   * restated	 * restated	 * restated	
		  US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Other financial assets and financial liabilities
Current trade and other receivables		  7,906	 -	 7,906	 7,369
Cash and cash equivalents	 	 1,860	 -	 1,860	 -
Trade payables		  -	 (1,042)	 (1,042)	 -
Amounts due to partners in Joint operations		  -	 (1,999)	 (1,999)	 -
Other payables and accruals 		  -	 (3,575)	 (3,575)	 -		  	 	 	 	
* The restated amounts relate to the inclusion in 2018 of amounts accrued
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20 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Estimation of fair values
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:	
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable either directly 
or indirectly; or
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that are not based on observable market data.
Set out below are the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities 
set out in the table above.
Amounts due from/(to) partners in joint operations
The amounts receivable from/payable to partners in jointly controlled operations are expected to be settled within less than six 
months and so the carrying value is deemed to reflect fair value.
Trade and other receivables/payables
For the receivables and payables with a remaining maturity of less than six months or demand balances, the contractual 
amount payable less impairment provisions, where necessary, is deemed to reflect fair value. For long term receivables greater 
than one year the contractual amount has been discounted to reflect fair value using a level 2 technique.
Cash and cash equivalents including short-term deposits
For short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents, all of which have a remaining maturity of less than three months, the 
nominal value is deemed to reflect the fair value.
Risk exposures
The Group’s operations expose it to various financial risks that include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Group has a 
risk management programme in place which seeks to limit the impact of these risks on the financial performance of the Group 
and it is the Group’s policy to manage these risks in a non-speculative manner.
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, and the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing the risk. 
Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each customer. For trade receivables, credit 
checks are performed on new customers and appropriate payment terms are agreed with customers. There is a concentration 
of credit risk by dependence on the TPDC for revenues from gas sales. Trade receivables are monitored by review of the aged 
debtor reports.
The maximum gross exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables arising from the Group as operator at the balance 
sheet date by geographic region was as follows: 
	 2019	 2018	
	 US$’000	 US$’000

Tanzania	 7,802	 7,408
	 	
In accordance with IFRS 9, Aminex calculated its expected credit loss based on its exposure to credit risk on its trade receivables 
at the end of the period and recognised an impairment on trade receivables of US$582,000 (2018: US$309,000). The ECL is 
calculated using a net present value of outstanding receivables discounted by the discount rate that reflects counterparty credit 
risk, for a range of possible scenarios including delays and no payment with a probability assigned to each. The Group’s trade 
receivables are due from one customer, the TPDC, which owes the Group trade receivables amounting to US$7.80 million, of 
which Aminex’s net share amounts to US$3.23 million (see Note 15). 
The Group’s net exposure is reduced by related amounts due to its partners in Joint operations (see Note 17). 
Amounts due from partners in joint operations
The Group assesses the creditworthiness of potential parties before entering into agreements with them and continues to 
monitor their creditworthiness. The aggregate of the amount due from partners in Joint operations is considered to be current 
and receivable with no provisions required.
Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits are invested mainly through the Group’s bankers and short-term deposits are treasury 
deposits of less than one month.
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20 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by monitoring rolling forecasts of expected cash flows against actual cash flows. The following are the contractual 
maturities of the financial liabilities including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:
	 Carrying	 Contractual	 6	 6-12	 1-2	 2-5	 More than
	 amount	 cashflows	 months	 months	 years	 years	 5 years
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Trade payables	 1,064	 1,064	 1,064	 -	 -	 -	 -
Amounts due to partners in  
Joint operations	 1,999	 1,999	 1,999	 -	 -	 -	 -
Other payables	 1,456	 1,456	 456	 -	 1,000	 -	 -
Accruals	 3,218	 3,218	 3,218	 -	 -	 -	 -
Lease liabilities 	 379	 435	 112	 111	 196	 16		 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 8,116	 8,172	 6,849	 111	 1,196	 16	 -	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Carrying	 Contractual	 6	 6-12	 1-2	 2-5	 More than
	 amount	 cashflows	 months	 months	 years	 years	 5 years
	 restated*	 restated*	 restated*
	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Trade payables	 1,042	 1,042	 1,042	 -	 -	 -	 -
Amounts due to partners in	
jointly controlled operations	 1,999	 1,999	 1,999	 -	 -	 -	 -
Other payables	 245	 245	 245	 -	 -	 -	 -
Accruals 	 3,330	 3,330	 3,330	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 6,616	 6,616	 6,616	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 	 	 	 	 	
* The restated amounts relate to the inclusion in 2018 of amounts accrued

Amounts due to partners in Joint operations are only payable on receipt of amounts for trade receivables (Note 15).  

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices and indices which will affect the Group’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The Group has four principal types of market risk being commodity prices, equity price risk, 
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Commodity price risk. The requirement for hedging instruments is kept under ongoing review. During the year, the Group 
did not enter into any commodity hedging transactions. General oil and gas commodity strategies are commented on in the 
Operations Report.

Foreign currency risk. The Group reports in US dollars, which is the currency of a large proportion of its trading income. The 
risk is managed wherever possible by matching foreign currency income and expenditures.

Interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. 
The Group’s exposure to transactional foreign currency risk, for amounts included in trade and other receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents and trade and other payables (as shown on the balance sheet), is as follows:

	 Sterling	 Euro	 US dollars	 Sterling	 Euro	  US dollars
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2018	 2018	 2018	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Cash and cash equivalents	 103	 15	 135	 403	 2	 36
Trade payables	 116	 10	 2	 153	 121	 -	 	 	 	 	 	
	 219	 25	 137	 556	 123	 36		 	 	 	 	 	
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20 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
A 15% strengthening or weakening in the value of sterling and the euro against the US dollar, based on the outstanding financial 
assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019 (2018: 15%), would have the following impact on the income statement. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
			   15% increase	 15% decrease	 15% increase	 15% decrease	
			   2019	 2019	 2018	 2018	
			   US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents			   38	 (38)	 66	 (66)
Trade payables			   (19)	 19	 (41)	 41	 		  	 	 	
	 		  19	 (19)	 25	 (25)
Tax impact			   -	 -	 -	 -		 		  	 	 	
After tax	 		  19	 (19)	 25	 (25)		 		  	 	 	
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of shareholders’ funds, loans and borrowings and working capital. Board 
approval is required for all new borrowing facilities. The Group had no loans outstanding at the year end. There are no bank 
borrowings or overdraft facilities at year end. The Group’s liquid resources were held in a mixture of current accounts and short-
term deposits at the year end.
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments at 31 December 2019 was as follows:
	 Fixed rate	 Floating rate	 Total	 Fixed rate	 Floating rate	 Total
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2018	 2018	 2018	
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 694	 694	 -	 1,860	 1,860	 	 	 	 	 	
Cash flow sensitivity analysis
An increase of 100 basis points or decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have had the following 
effect on the income statement. This analysis assumes all other variables, in particular foreign currency, remain constant. 
			   100 bps increase	 25 bps decrease	 100 bps increase	 25 bps decrease	
			   profit	 profit	 profit	 profit	
			   2019	 2019	 2018	 2018
			   US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents			   7	 (2)	 19	 (5)
Tax impact			   -	 -	 -	 -			   	 	 	
After tax			   7	 (2)	 19	 (5)			   	 	 	
The Group has no interest bearing loans outstanding at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. As there are no variable rate 
loans, there is no potential impact to profit and loss from a change in interest rates.	
Company
The Company’s approach to the management of financial risk is as set out under the Group disclosures above. 
The accounting classification for each class of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities, together with their fair 
values, is as follows:
	 Loans and	 Liabilities at	 Total carrying	 Fair
	 receivables	 amortised cost	 amount	 value
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2019
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Other financial assets and financial liabilities
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings	 65,927	 -	 65,927	 -
Cash and cash equivalents	 214	 -	 214	 -
Trade and other payables	 -	 (1,011)	 (1,011)	 -
Accruals 	 -	 (378)	 (378)	 -	 	 	 	 		 		
	 Cash Loans and	 Liabilities at	 Total carrying	 Fair
	 receivables	 amortised cost	 amount	 value
	 2018	 2018	 2018	 2018
	 restated*	 restated*	 restated*	 restated*
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Other financial assets and financial liabilities
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings	 75,370	 -	 75,370	 -
Cash and cash equivalents	 483	 -	 483	 -
Trade and other payables	 -	 (274)	 (274)	 -
Accruals	 -	 (395)	 (395)	 -	 	 	 	 	
* The restated amounts relate to the inclusion in 2018 of amounts accrued
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20 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Estimation of fair values
Amounts due from subsidiary companies
The amounts due from subsidiary companies are technically repayable on demand and so the carrying value is deemed to reflect 
fair value.
The estimation of other fair values is the same, where appropriate, as for the Group as set out above.
Risk exposures
The Company’s operations expose it to the risks as set out for the Group above.
This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Unless stated, the policy and process for measuring risk 
in the Company is the same as outlined for the Group above.
Credit risk
The carrying value of financial assets, net of impairment provisions, represents the Company’s maximum exposure at the balance 
sheet date.
At the balance sheet date, there was deemed to be an increase in credit risk related to the loans due from subsidiary undertakings 
due to the value of the Group’s exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment assets being impaired during the 
year. The loans are expected to be recovered from future revenues generated by the Group’s assets in Tanzania. Consequently, a 
lifetime expected credit loss was calculated and their carrying value of the loans due from subsidiary undertakings written down 
by US$12.3 million (2018: US$31.4 million) (See Note 14). Arriving at the expected credit loss allowance involved considering 
different scenarios for the recovery of the intercompany loan receivables, the possible credit losses that could arise and the 
probabilities for these scenarios. The following was considered: the success of the Farm-Out, value of the potential reserves, 
project risks, the ability to achieve certain production levels. Third party valuation reports were used to support valuations where 
available. Details of the impairment to the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets are discussed in Note 10 and the impairment 
against the Group’s property, plant and equipment are discussed in Note 11. 
The Directors are satisfied that no further impairment is considered to have occurred. 
Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk for the Company is similar to that for the Group as set out above. Contractual cash flows on trade payables, 
borrowings amounting to US$11,000 (2018: US$274,000) fall due within six months of the balance sheet date. Repayment of the 
funding provided under the ARA Advance is due upon the earlier of completion of the Farm-Out and 30 June 2021. 
The Directors have given careful consideration to the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern (see 
Note 1).
Market risk
The market risk for the Company is similar to that for the Group as set out above. 
The Company’s exposure to transactional foreign currency risk is as follows:
	 2019	 2019	 2018	 2018
	 Sterling	 Euro	 Sterling	 Euro
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Trade and other payables payables	 116	 10	 153	 121		 	 	 		
Sensitivity analysis
A 15% strengthening or weakening in the value of sterling or the euro against the US dollar (2018: 15%), based on the outstanding 
financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019, would have no material impact on the income statement in the current or 
prior years. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
The interest rate risk of the Company is similar to that of the Group as set out above. The interest rate profile of the Company’s 
interest-bearing financial instruments at 31 December 2019 was as follows:
	 Fixed rate	 Floating rate	 Total	 Fixed rate	 Floating rate	 Total
	 2019	 2019	 2019	 2018	 2018	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 118	 118	 -	 404	 404 	 	 	 	 	 	
Cash flow sensitivity analysis
An increase of 100 basis points or decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have had the following 
effect on the income statement. This analysis assumes all other variables, in particular foreign currency, remain constant. 
	 		  100 bps 	 25 bps 	 100 bps	 25 bps
			   increase	 decrease	 increase	 decrease
			   profit	 profit	 profit	 profit
		  	 2019	 2019	 2018	 2018
			   US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Cash and cash equivalents	 		  2	 (1)	 4	 (1)	
Tax impact	 		  -	 -	 -	 -		 		  	 	 	
After tax			   2	 (1)	 4	 (1)		 		  	 	 	
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21 Issued capital	 		  	
Authorised 	 Number	 €

Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each:	 5,000,000,000	 5,000,000
Deferred shares of €0.059 each:	 1,000,000,000	 59,000,000		  	
At 1 January and 31 December 2019		  6,000,000,000	 64,000,000	 	 	

Allotted, called up and fully paid	 Number 	 €	 US$
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each:	 3,643,458,062	 3,643,457	 4,526,722
Deferred shares of €0.059 each:	 818,658,421	 48,300,847	 64,535,665	 	 	
At 31 December 2018	 4,462,116,483	 51,944,304	 69,062,387	 	 	

Allotted, called up and fully paid	 Number 	 €	 US$
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each:	 3,770,684,643	 3,770,685	 4,670,378
Deferred shares of €0.059 each:	 818,658,421	 48,300,847	 64,535,665	 	 	
At 31 December 2019	 4,589,343,064	 52,071,532	 69,206,043	 	 	

Comprised of:
Ordinary Shares of €0.001	 3,770,684,643
Deferred shares of €0.059	 818,658,421		 	
	 4,589,343,064		 	

No voting rights are attached to the deferred shares.

22 Share option reserve
The share option reserve represents the fair value of share options issued to Directors and employees. 
During 2019, the Company awarded 115,411,000 options to Directors and staff (2018: 42,000,000 awarded to Directors and 
staff). The fair value of options granted in the period was US$739,000 (2018: US$581,000), of which US$369,000 was expensed 
in 2019 (2018: US$581,000). During the period 111,400,000 options expired (2018: 1,500,000) with a fair value of US$815,000 
(2018: US$411,000). Further details regarding the issuance, lapse and expiry of share options are set out in Note 4.

23 Loss for the financial year
The Company Financial Statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with EU IFRS and as 
applied in accordance with the Companies Act, 2014, which permit a company that publishes its company and group financial 
statements together, to take advantage of the exemption in Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014 from presenting to its 
members its Company income statement and related notes that form part of the approved Company financial statements. 
Of the consolidated loss after taxation, a loss of US$13.9 million (2018: US$32.3 million) is dealt with in the Company income 
statement of Aminex PLC.
		
24 Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities
Commitments exploration activity
In accordance with the relevant PSAs, Aminex has a commitment to contribute its share of the following outstanding work 
programmes:
(a)	 Following the grant of the first extension to the Nyuni Area PSA, Tanzania, the terms of the licence require the acquisition 

of 700 kilometres of 3D seismic over the deep-water sector of the licence, and the drilling of four wells, on the continental 
shelf or in the deep-water, by October 2019.  In accordance with the terms of the Nyuni Area PSA, Aminex has applied in 
July 2019 for the licence to be extended into the Second Extension Period of three years with a request for an amendment 
to the work programme obligations for the licence area.  The proposal is supported by the TPDC, which has submitted the 
proposal as licence holder to the Ministry of Energy. 

(b) The Ruvuma PSA, Tanzania, originally comprised two licences. The Mtwara Licence was extended in April 2020 for a 
period of one-year, see further details in Note 28. Two wells are required to be drilled, one of which is expected to be the 
Chikumbi-1 location. The Lindi Licence expired in January 2017 and although the Company has previously sought an 
extension to the Lindi Licence, for which there remains a two-well commitment, it is unlikely it will pursue such extension. 



Aminex PLC annual report 2019
67

Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

24 Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities (continued)
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
(a) 	Under the terms of the Addendum to the Ruvuma PSA, Ndovu Resources Limited, a subsidiary company of Aminex PLC, 

has provided security to the TPDC for up to 15% of the profit share of the Kiliwani North Development Licence to guarantee 
the amended four-well drilling commitment under the Ruvuma PSA. For each well drilled the security interest will be reduced 
by 3% for the first well and 4% thereafter.

(b)	The Company guarantees certain liabilities and commitments of subsidiary companies from time to time, including the 
commitments of Ndovu Resources Limited under the Nyuni Area PSA.  These are considered to be insurance arrangements 
and are accounted for as such i.e. they are treated as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the 
Company will be required to make payment under the guarantee in which case a liability is recognised.

(c)	 On 11 April 2018, Ndovu Resources Limited received formal notification from the TPDC of certain claims amounting to 
US$5.97 million against the Kiliwani North Development Licence with regard to unpaid royalties and amounts due under 
profit share arrangements which it proposes to offset against the trade receivable balance owing by the TPDC to Aminex 
(see Note 15). Of the amount claimed, Aminex has already accrued for the liabilities it considers appropriate based on its own 
calculations of amounts due as at 31 December 2019. Aminex has advised the TPDC that it does not accept the balance 
of the claims, which include computational inaccuracies. The Group has received legal advice in country that supports its 
position and this has been provided to the TPDC. No further provision has been made in the financial statements for the 
additional amounts claimed as the Directors believe the claims are without merit and are satisfied that the US$7.80 million 
included in trade receivables as owing from the TPDC is recoverable. 

(d) 	As part of the US$3 million advance funding arrangement (“Advance”) entered into with ARA Petroleum LLC in November 
2019, the Company agreed to grant a pledge over its shareholding in its wholly owned subsidiary, Tanzoil NL, as security in 
the event the Farm-Out has not completed by 30 June 2020 and such advance funding converts to an interest-bearing loan.

Tanzanian Tax Assessment 
On 28 February 2020 (see Note 28), following the conclusion of the TRA audit of Ndovu Resources Limited (“NRL”), the Group’s 
Tanzanian wholly owned subsidiary, for taxation years 2013 to 2015, the TRA issued a tax assessment in respect of these 
taxation years. The following matters were raised in the assessments: 
		  Principal	 Interest 	 Total
		  US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Area	
Withholding tax	 Withholding tax on payments made to non-residents	 242	 182	 424 
 	 for services performed outside of Tanzania
VAT 	 Output VAT on imported services	 191	 156	 347
Withholding tax	 Withholding tax on deemed interest	 797	 664	 1,461		  	 	
		  1,230	 1,002	 2,232		  	 	
NRL considers these claims without technical merit in tax law and, with the assistance of an in-country tax advisor, has 
submitted an objection to the TRA findings. At this stage it is unclear whether NRL will be successful in its objections and 
therefore the amount or timing of potential cash outflow remains uncertain. Provision has been made for amounts NRL has 
ceded or where management determine the likelihood of success through the objection or appeals process is unlikely. 

25 Pension arrangements
The Group contributes towards the cost of certain individual employee and Director defined contribution pension plans. Annual 
contributions are based upon a percentage of gross annual salary. Pension contributions, which are charged to the Group 
income statement as incurred, amounted to US$69,000 for 2019 (2018: US$72,000).

26 Analysis of net funds
	 At 1 January		  At 31 December
	 2019	 Cash flow	 2019
Group	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000
Cash at bank	 1,860	 (1,166)	 694	 	 	
Total	 1,860	 (1,166)	 694	 	 	
	 At 1 January		  At 31 December
	 2018	 Cash flow	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000	 US$’000

Cash at bank	 6,226	 (4,366)	 1,860	 	 	
Total	 6,226	 (4,366)	 1,860	 	 	
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27 Related party transactions
The Company entered into the following transactions with its subsidiary companies: 	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000
Balances at 31 December		
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings	 65,927	 75,370 	 	
Details of loans advanced to subsidiary undertakings during the year are set out in Note 14.
Remuneration of key management personnel 
The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below. Information about 
the remuneration of each Director is shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.
	 2019	 2018
	 US$’000	 US$’000
Short-term benefits	 970	 1,092
Pension contributions	 17	 26
Share-based payments 	 229	 24		 	
	 1,216	 1,142 	 	
Directors’ remuneration of US$90,000 (2018: US$80,000) is payable to Eclipse Investments LLC, a significant shareholder in 
Aminex PLC. The amount outstanding in respect of the Directors fees at 31 December 2019 was US$116,000. 
During the course of the year, the Group entered into the following related party transactions: fees for Interim Chief Executive 
Officer services to Aminex PLC amounting to US$157,000 (2018: US$47,000) which were paid to Upstream Solutions Limited, 
a company connected with Tom Mackay. Fees amounting to US$2,000 (2018:US$nil) which were paid to Auxxilia Limited a 
company connected with Linda Beal, by Simpson Booth a recruitment agency to the Company. 
The Group provided oilfield support services to ARA Petroleum LLC which, through its associated company, Eclipse 
Investments LLC, is a significant shareholder in Aminex PLC. The amount due from ARA Petroleum LLC at 31 December 2019 
was US$121,000 (2018: US$nil). 
On 11 July 2018, Ndovu Resources Limited, a subsidiary company, entered into a related party transaction through a farm-out 
agreement with The Zubair Corporation LLC which, through its associated company, Eclipse Investments LLC, is a significant 
shareholder in Aminex PLC. The effective date of the transaction was 15 March 2018. On 4 January 2019, the Company 
announced that shareholders approved the Farm-Out of a 50% interest in the Ruvuma PSA to The Zubair Corporation LLC 
at an extraordinary general meeting. Subsequent to the Farm-Out agreement being signed, The Zubair Corporation LLC has 
assigned its interest in the agreement to ARA Petroleum Tanzania Limited. The transaction remains subject to completion, 
including receipt of various approvals. 
On 7 February 2019, the Company raised US$2.36 million before expenses in a placing through the issue of 127,226,781 new 
ordinary shares at a price of Stg 1.45p per share.  Eclipse Investments LLC, a substantial shareholder and a related party, 
subscribed for 26,525,198 new ordinary shares in the placing. Key management personnel subscribed for 4,137,928 new 
ordinary shares in the placing. 
On 12 November 2019, the Company entered into a Funding Agreement with ARA Petroleum LLC, a related party of the Group, 
to provide a US$3.0 million advance in instalments to the Company, ahead of Completion of the Farm-Out (“Advance”), which 
provides the Company with financial flexibility pending Completion. The Advance will be offset against the first tranche of the cash 
consideration payable to Aminex on Completion of the Farm-Out. The second tranche of the cash consideration of US$2 million, 
which was initially due to the Company 180 days after Completion, will now be payable to the Company upon Completion. The 
long stop date for Completion of the Farm-Out has been extended to 30 June 2020.  If Completion has not occurred by 30 June 
2020, the Advance will convert to an interest-bearing secured loan, repayable by 30 June 2021. During 2019, US$1.0 million of 
the advance had been received with US$1.0 million recognised as a current liability at 31 December 2019. 
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28 Post balance sheet events
On 4 February 2020, the Company granted 8,000,000 options over Ordinary Shares to John Bell, in lieu of remuneration. The 
exercise price is Stg1.02p with the exercise period not exceeding five years from date of grant. The share-based payment 
charge arising from the grant will be charged to the income statement in the year ending 31 December 2020.
On 3 March 2020, Ndovu Resources Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, received a tax assessment from the TRA 
in relation to a tax audit conducted by the TRA covering the period from 2013 to 2015 (see Note 24). 
Since 31 December 2019, the Group has received a further US$1.0 million under the Advance from ARA Petroleum LLC, a 
related party of the Group (see Note 27). 
On 24 April 2020, Ndovu Resources Limited received a one year extension to the Mtwara Exploration Licence in respect to the 
Ntorya location. The extension is effective from 17 April 2020. This satisfies one of the conditions precedent of the Farm-Out. 
During the one year extension period the Group is commited to undertake acquiring 200 km2 of 3D seismic (minimum expenditure 
of US$7 million), drill the Chikumbi-1 exploration well (minimum expenditure of US$15 million), complete the negotiation of the 
Gas Terms for the Ruvuma PSA with the TPDC and, using the data gathered from the Chikumbi-1 and seismic acquisition, 
prepare and submit an application for a Development Licence for the Ntorya Location area. It is acknowledged by the Group 
that the full work programme is unlikely to be completed during this one year extension period and therefore the Group will 
apply for an additional extension(s) as necessary and as permissible under the current legislation. Also in relation to the 
completion of the Farm-Out, the TRA have issued the CGT assessment on the Farm-Out of US$2.2 million to be paid prior to 
government approval.
On 27 April 2020, Robert Ambrose was appointed interim Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tom Mackay resigned as 
interim Chief Executive Officer and as a Director of Aminex. 
The global impact of the COVID-19 virus is a non-adjusting event after the financial year end. To date, the Company has 
experienced no adverse material impact on its operations as a result of the COVID-19 virus. Further information has been 
provided in the Directors’ Report and Principal Risks and Uncertainties.  

29 Approval of financial statements
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2020.



Aminex PLC annual report 2019
70

Registrars	 Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited	
	 3100 Lake Drive 
	 City West Business Campus, Dublin 24 
	 Telephone number for Irish shareholders: 	 01 247 5697
	 Telephone number for UK shareholders: 	 00353 1 247 5697
	 Telephone number for other shareholders:	 00353 1 216 3100
	 Fax: 	 00353 1 216 3150
	 e-mail: 	 web.queries@computershare.ie

Telephone sharedealing	 Computershare provides a telephone sharedealing  
	 service for Irish and UK registered shareholders.	
	 For more information please call:
	 Telephone number for Irish shareholders:	 01 447 5435
	 Telephone number for UK shareholders:	 0870 702 0107

Auditor	 BDO, Statutory Auditors 	 Dublin
Bankers	 Bank of Ireland	 Dublin
Solicitors	 Byrne Wallace	 Dublin
Adviser 	 Davy Stockbrokers Limited	 Dublin

Registrars and Advisers

Glossary of terms used 
PSA:	 Production Sharing Agreement
CPR:	 Competent Persons Report 
MCF:	 Thousands of cubic feet of natural gas
BCF:	 Billions of cubic feet of natural gas
TCF:	 Trillions of cubic feet of natural gas
TPDC:	 Tanzania Petroleum Development Corporation 
MMcfd:	 Millions of standard cubic feet per day of natural gas
Pmean:	 The average (mean) probability of occurrence
GIIP:	 Gas initially in place
Contingent Resources:	 Discovered sub-commercial resources
Prospective Resources:	 Undiscovered resources mapped with seismic

Senior Personnel 
Aaron LeBlanc Chief Operating Officer
Aaron LeBlanc is a Geoscientist with over 18 years in oil and gas 
exploration, development and operations. He has worked in Western 
Canada, the Former Soviet Union, Europe, North Africa, East Africa, 
the Middle East and South-east Asia. His early career was spent 
with Devon Energy Corporation where he was an integral member 
of the Iron River oilfield development which saw production increase 
from 3,000 to 30,000 BBLS/d. Prior to joining Aminex he was Vice-
President Exploration at Serinus Energy Inc and was a key member of 
the team that grew their Ukrainian gas production 10-fold through an 
aggressive drilling programme. As COO at Aminex he is responsible 
for operations in Tanzania and elsewhere when applicable.  

Brian Cassidy General Counsel and Company Secretary
Brian Cassidy is a Solicitor qualified in England and Scotland. He has 
over 20 years’ experience in the oil and gas industry, during which 
time he was based in the UK, Azerbaijan, Singapore, Hong Kong, 
China and South Korea. Before moving in-house, he held senior roles 
with Ledingham Chalmers LLP, McGrigors LLP and Clifford Chance 
LLP. Prior to joining Aminex PLC, he was Head of Legal and Company 
Secretary at Bowleven plc.

John Arthur Chief Financial Officer 
John Arthur joined Aminex as Group Financial Controller in June 2018, 
and in November 2019 was promoted to the role of Chief Financial 
Officer. John is a qualified Chartered Certified Accountant with over 
15 years’ experience working in the oil and gas sector in a number of 
jurisdictions including Africa, Russia and Europe. John has extensive 
experience in Africa, specifically sub-Saharan Africa through previous 
senior held financial roles with Seven Energy where he worked from 
2010 to 2018. John holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and 
Accounting from the University of Plymouth. 

Thierry Murcia Country Manager, Tanzania
Thierry Murcia has spent his career in commercial management and 
administration, primarily in Western Australia. Prior to joining Aminex 
and relocating to Tanzania, he worked for Caltex in various commercial 
and administrative capacities. Prior to Caltex he was an executive 
with BP Australia. Thierry Murcia holds an MBA from The University 
of Western Australia. He is currently resident in Dar es Salaam 
where he has day-to-day responsibilities for all Aminex’s activities in 
Tanzania. Thierry was the Honorary Consul for Australia in Tanzania 
and continues to be active with relevant Tanzanian affairs.
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Aminex PLC
Paramount Court
Corrig Road
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Dublin 18
D18 R9C7
Ireland

Group Support and Services
Aminex Petroleum Services Limited
Kings Buildings
16 Smith Square
London 
SW1P 3JJ
UK

Tanzanian Operations:
Ndovu Resources Limited
PO Box 105589, Mahando Road
Msasani Peninsular
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania


